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Like the tree of life, which is deeply 
rooted and lives on thanks to its mutual 
co-existence with the elements of its 
ecosystem, the nuclear industry has withstood the test of time. It lives 
on thanks to the plethora of technological spin-offs it continues to deliver to 
the world.

The production, manufacturing and processing stages of many of the products 
and industrial devices we take for granted today are either directly or indirectly 
connected with nuclear technology. From the microchips in almost all electronic 
gadgets, including the machine that adjusted the dimensions and quality of this 
book, to the preparation of the electronic processor in the GPS that helps you find 
your way, the global nuclear industry has found ways to enhance technologies 
and develop new ones in a safe and responsible manner.

Whether through solutions, products and services for the mining, 
agriculture and electronic industry sectors or nuclear 
medicines for the medical sector, the tiny atom plays 
a crucial role in our daily lives. Even the battery in 
your cell phone, the fuel tank in your car and some 
of your perishable foods are prepared using nuclear 
techniques or products from nuclear technology.

So, the next time you flick a light switch, make a cell 
phone call, change a channel on your satellite TV, prepare breakfast or set your 
destination on your GPS, remember that “we’re in your world” – and the tiny atom 
holds solutions that have yet to be fully explored and harnessed.
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Through this Integrated Annual Report, the South African Nuclear Energy Corporation (Necsa) seeks to reflect that it operates 
in an integrated and sustainable manner both in terms of its financial and non-financial strategy. The King Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa 2009 (King III) was used as the benchmark to compile the Report and reference is made to King III 
to demonstrate the integrated application of its principles.

Sustainability-related information has been presented in line with the guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI G3) and in 
this regard Necsa intends to make a self-declaration of its application level in the near future.
 
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (GAAP), the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 as amended, and the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), 
No. 1 of 1999.

Scope and Boundaries of the Report
The Report covers the operations and, where possible, the impact of the Necsa Group for the financial year beginning 01 April 2012 
and ended 31 March 2013. The report extends to Necsa's subsidiaries (NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd and Pelchem SOC Ltd) but 
does not extend in any substantial detail to their subsidiary companies.

While Necsa is structured operationally according to the divisions reflected in its Company Structure (see page 71), these divisions 
seldom operate in isolation. At leadership level, the company therefore reports according to the clusters within which it operates, 
while the unique operations of the divisions are reported separately under divisional reports.

Assurance Statement 
The Audit Committee has evaluated the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 and has concluded that 
these comply in all material respects with the requirements of South African Generally Accepted Accounting Standards (SA GAAP) 
which, in turn, is consistent in all material respects with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Committee has 
reviewed the Auditor-General’s Management letter and Management’s response thereto, as well as any significant adjustments 
resulting from the audit, and has recommended the approval of the Annual Financial Statements to the Board.

Director’s Responsibility
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to ensure the integrity of the 2012/13 Integrated Annual Report. The Directors 
believe that the report addresses all material issues and fairly presents the integrated performance and impact of Necsa. 

Enquiries
Any enquiries regarding this report and its contents can be directed via e-mail to the office of the Acting Chief Financial Officer: 
mbali.mfeka@necsa.co.za

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 2013 3
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The Company

Name and Registration Number
The South African Nuclear Energy Corporation, trading as Necsa, is a State-Owned Company (SOC), with registration number 
2000/003735/06.

Nature of Business and Principal Activities 
The South African Nuclear Energy Corporation SOC Limited is responsible for managing certain institutional obligations defined 
in the Nuclear Energy Act, No. 46 of 1999.

Holding Company: Department of Energy
Country of Incorporation and Domicile: South Africa

Registered Office and Business Address:
Elias Motsoaledi Street (Church Street West Extension)
Pelindaba 
Madibeng District
North West Province
2025

Postal Address:
PO Box 582
Pretoria
0001

Telephone Number/s:  +27 12 305 4911
Fax Number:  +27 12 305 3111
E-mail Address: webmaster@necsa.co.za
Website Address:  www.necsa.co.za
External Auditors:  Auditor-General of South Africa
Bankers: Nedbank Limited
Company/Board Secretary: Mr AC Mabunda

Origins
The Company's history dates back to 1948 when the Atomic Energy Board was established to regulate the uranium industry and to 
supply supporting research and development. In 1955 a three-person mission from South Africa was appointed to investigate the 
industrial uses of atomic energy in Europe. They went on to represent South Africa at the first United Nations Conference on the 
Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy. Despite several name changes over the years and with a few exclusions, the principle mandate 
of the Company has differed only slightly since its inception.

Mandate
The Company derives its mandate from the Nuclear Energy Act, No. 46 of 1999. In terms of Section 13 of this Act, Necsa is 
mandated to: 

• Undertake and promote research and development (R&D) in the field of nuclear energy and radiation sciences and 
technology and, subject to the Safeguards Agreement, to make these generally available;

• Process source material, special nuclear material and restricted material and to reprocess and enrich source and nuclear 
material; and

• Co-operate with any person or institution in matters falling within these functions, subject to the approval of the Minister.

Vision
To pursue nuclear technology excellence for sustainable social and economic development.

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 2013 5



02 Profile (continued)

Mission
To develop, utilise and manage nuclear technology for national and regional socio-economic development through:

• Applied Research and Development (R&D);
• Commercial application of nuclear and associated technology;
• Fulfilling the state’s nuclear obligations;
• Contributing to the development of skills in science and technology;
• Total commitment to health, safety and care for the environment;
• Developing and empowering our own human resource base; and
• Satisfying stakeholder expectations.

Values
• Foundational Values – Integrity, Respect, Accountability;
• Business Values – Excellence, Innovation, Stakeholder orientation; and
• People Values – Trust, People orientation.

Necsa's Business
Inherent in its mandated activities is the responsibility for the operation and utilisation of the SAFARI-1 research reactor for 
radioisotope production and research activities. In addition, the Company is responsible for the management and operation of the 
Vaalputs National Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility in the Northern Cape on behalf of the National Radioactive Waste Disposal 
Institute (NRWDI).

Necsa engages in commercial business mainly through its wholly-owned commercial subsidiaries NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd 
(NTP), which is responsible for a range of radiation-based products and services for healthcare, life sciences and industry, and 
Pelchem SOC Ltd (Pelchem), which supplies fluorine and fluorine-based products. These main subsidiaries, together with their 
subsidiaries, supply local and foreign markets, earning valuable foreign exchange for South Africa.

In addition, the Company is responsible for promoting the public understanding of nuclear science and technology and facilitates 
regular communication with the public and its stakeholders as reflected in the following section.

Stakeholder Matrix
The following diagram depicts Necsa’s business in terms of its broad stakeholder base, showing how the organisation communicates 
with its stakeholders, the organisational offering, and the outcome in line with its mandate.

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 20136



BBBEE analyst 

Analysis and evaluation

Identification of variables to 
adjust

Improvement of BBBEE status 
for the Group

Business partners

• MOUs
• Meetings
• Conferences
• Colloquia

• Business ventures
• Joint ventures
• Partnerships

• Growth opportunities
• Product diversification

• Employees 
• Unions 
• Tenants

• Intranet
• Engagement with HR 

Division
• Colloquia
• Intercom
• Newsletter

• Important announcements
• Emergency alerts
• Union meetings
• Leadership forums
• Staff information sessions

Informed staff and tenants

• Shareholder
• Government and politicians
• Foreign governments

• Portfolio committee on 
Energy

• Board of Directors
• DST, the dti
• National Treasury
• Bilaterals with other countries

Deeper understanding of 
developments and socio-
economic challenges

Defined method of 
implementing mandate

Necsa Group

World class products at 
competitive prices

• Nuclear medicine
• Radiation services

• Improved relations
• Improved perceptions

• Transparency
• Positive engagement
• Public understanding

Skills development

Customer preference for 
Necsa products and services

• Emergency planning
• Public concerns
• Community services

• Reputation control
• Change of perceptions
• Information transfer
• Demystification of common 

nuclear myths 

• Education 
• Research 
• Experiential training 
• Artisan training

• Marketing campaigns
• Internet
• Word of mouth
• Site visits
• Non-proliferation proof in 

e.g. LEU/Molybdenum-99

Customers

• Pelindaba Public Safety 
Information Forum

• Necsa Visitor Centre
• Vaalputs Public Safety 

Information Forum

General stakeholders:
• Neighbours
• Interested parties
• NNR
• Government
• Municipalities

• Interviews
• Media releases
• Media monitoring
• Advertising campaigns

Media

• Nuclear Skills Development 
Centre

• Research and Development 
Division

• Academic institutions
• International research 

institutions 
• Government interns
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• Formal disclosures of new innovations, a key component of Necsa’s core research and technology development mandate, 
exceeded the predetermined target by 41%.

• The Necsa Group through the SAFARI-1 research reactor, the Necsa subsidiary NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd played a major 
role in the stabilisation of the global supply situation of medical radioisotopes during shut-downs of reactors in Canada 
and the Netherlands. In the process NTP substantially exceeded its sales and net profit targets under aggressive market 
circumstances.

• A once-off grant of R33.5 million was made available by the Department of Energy to accelerate the programme to 
establish state-of-the-art neutron beam-line research facilities at SAFARI-1 to further bolster execution of Necsa’s core 
research and technology development mandate.

• The Nuclear Technologies in Medicine and the Biosciences Initiative (NTeMBI) project developed a gallium-68 labelled 
positron emission tomography (PET) imaging agent that can distinguish between infection and inflammation, bearing major 
potential for application in the treatment of tuberculosis.

• Approximately 100 young nuclear professionals were supervised and given study support while doing research projects at 
Necsa laboratories or working on Necsa-affiliated projects at universities.

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 2013 9
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Salient Features of 2012/13

Changes from 2012 Nominal % Real %

State Dependence for Operating Costs – Decreased -10% -15%

Group Sales – Increased 6% 0%

Corporation Sales – Decreased -9% -14%

Corporation Sales per capita – Increased 16% 10%

Group Sales per capita – Increased 24% 17%

Group Expenses – Decreased -2% -8%

Company Expenses – Decreased -16% -20%

Group Personnel Costs – Decreased -6% -12%

Company Personnel Costs – Decreased -11% -16%

Group Operating Expenses (Salaries and Allowances excluded) – Decreased -4% -9%

Company Operating Expenses (Salaries and Allowances excluded) – Decreased -22% -27%

Inflation adjustment used in all calculations is 6.0%

Sales

Sales Group – 2013 Sales Company – 2013

5%

95%

Sales – Local Sales – Foreign

30%

70%

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 2013 11



Value-Added Statements as at 31 March 2013

2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

Group R’000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Income Generated

Sales and other income  1,264,054  1,163,240  1,112,621  1,085,881  651,732 

Government grant
Operating activities  393,192  436,144  401,429  362,766  316,362 

LEU fuel conversion  503  87  36  7,202  1,982 

Decommissioning and decontamination  58,907  60,550  67,069  67,049  81,633 

Security  8,171  8,357  8,246  9,468  9,350 

Other grants  35,520  25,114  28,120  25,442  30,421 

Income from investments  46,728  44,785  52,480  54,823  62,336 

 1,807,075  1,738,277  1,670,001  1,612,631  1,153,816 

Income Distributed

Employees  397,771  442,245  431,567  396,552  316,524 

Providers of services, materials and products  798,034  797,179  722,569  753,153  510,205 

Training and development  6,893  11,973  12,516  11,236  7,925 

Government  203,212  203,962  191,164  145,635  141,763 

National facilities  117,933  130,571  110,320  94,899  57,469 

Depreciation  106,142  79,533  72,406  47,435  39,601 

Retained income  171,255  65,403  127,474  162,329  75,647 

Minority interest share of profit  5,835  7,411  1,985  1,392  4,682 

 1,807,075  1,738,277  1,670,001  1,612,631  1,153,816 

2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

Group % % % % %

Income Generated

Sales and other income 70.0% 66.7% 67.3% 56.5% 58.6%

Government grant
Operating activities 21.8% 24.0% 22.5% 27.4% 26.8%

LEU fuel conversion 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 0.2% 0.3%

Decommissioning and decontamination 3.3% 4.0% 4.2% 7.1% 6.5%

Security 0.5% 0.5% 0.6% 0.8% 1.0%

Other grants 2.0% 1.7% 1.6% 2.6% 3.2%

Income from investments 2.6% 3.1% 3.4% 5.4% 3.6%

100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00

Income Distributed

Employees 22.0% 25.9% 24.6% 27.4% 26.7%

Providers of services, materials and products 44.2% 43.3% 46.7% 44.2% 46.0%

Training and development 0.4% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 1.0%

Government 11.2% 11.5% 9.0% 12.3% 9.5%

National facilities 6.5% 6.6% 5.9% 5.0% 8.0%

Depreciation 5.9% 4.3% 2.9% 3.4% 3.5%

Retained income 9.5% 7.6% 10.1% 6.6% 5.1%

Minority interest share of profit 0.3% 0.1% 0.1% 0.4% 0.2%

100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00

04 Salient Features And Value Added (continued)
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Revenue per the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Group – 2013 Company – 2013

Expenses per the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Group – 2013 Company – 2013

Sales and other 
income

Government grant – 
Security

Government grant – 
Operating activities

Other grants

Government grant –  
LEU fuel conversion

Income from investments

Government grant – Decommissioning 
and decontamination

Personnel Operating expenditure Other Depreciation

22%

0%

3%
2%

0%
3%

70%

51%

1%
7%

41%

20%

0%

14%

66%

44%

2%
7%

1%

40%

7%

0%
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The reporting year has been a period of transition 
for Necsa in anticipation of government decisions 
relating to the South African Nuclear Expansion 
Programme. With this Annual Report we would like to 
convey information to the Shareholder and interested 
parties about Necsa’s activities during 2012/13.

High Level Overview of Necsa’s 
Strategy
This report should be viewed against the background 
of the Long-term Strategy for the Necsa Group that 
was adopted in July 2011 by the Necsa Board of 
Directors. The Strategy is intended to ensure the 
Organisation’s continued growth and viability in line 
with its mandate, to generate visible socio-economic 
benefits through its specialised capabilities, and to 
expand its national and global leadership role in 
various fields.

Specifically, the Long-term Strategy states that Necsa’s 
core research and development (R&D) mandate 
will be executed through directed programmes and 
collaborative R&D that will meet the identified current 
and projected future needs of the Necsa Group as 
well as South Africa at large. Implied in this is the 
drive to support the planned South African Nuclear 
Power Expansion Programme, for which Necsa will 
endeavour to purposefully expand its expertise, 
technology base and infrastructure to enhance the 
security of local nuclear fuel supply for South Africa 
and to enter the global market, amongst others. The 
Company aims to assist, initially through its specialised 
manufacturing capabilities, in increasing the local 
content of the planned power reactor fleet.

International Developments
The global nuclear industry dynamics continue to 
reflect dichotomous development with large-scale new 
nuclear power project development and execution 
being witnessed in Asia, but slow growth in the West. 
Despite the aftermath of the events following the 
earthquake and tsunami at the Fukushima Daiichi 
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Nuclear Power Station in March 2011, there are clear indications that the expansion of nuclear power will continue, especially 
in China, India and South Korea. This imperative arises out of a global commitment to curtail greenhouse gas emissions in a bid 
to mitigate climate change impacts, and also the search for security of energy supply through a sustainable mix of economically 
proven technologies. 

The market shrinkage experienced by the international radioisotope market since the supply crisis of 2010 has resulted in reduced 
demand levels and in a strong downward pressure on prices. Comprehensive studies by the High-Level Working Group of the 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Nuclear Energy Agency indicated that decisive interventions by 
governments, producers and users of medical radioisotopes will be required to achieve a sustainable situation for the long-term. 
However, this has not yet led to significant changes in the market dynamics. During the 2012 Seoul Nuclear Security Summit, the 
governments of countries in which the main medical radioisotope producers are situated reconfirmed their commitment to support 
the conversion of production processes to the use of Low Enriched Uranium (LEU). However, in practice this transition has been 
very slow, primarily because there are no real incentives for the market to demand LEU-based isotopes. Continued business and 
diplomatic initiatives are required to accelerate the market uptake of LEU-based 99Mo and iodine-131.

National Developments
South Africa’s foreign policy stance reflects geopolitical developments such as South Africa’s leadership position in Africa, its place 
in the group of most important developing economies and the BRICS (Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa) countries, 
participation in various bi- and multi-lateral agreements and its unambiguous stance on non-proliferation.

The Integrated Resource Plan 2010–2013 (IRP2010) signifies South Africa’s commitment to curb greenhouse gas emissions 
resulting from the country's heavy dependence on fossil fuels, particularly attributable to the electricity generation sector. The 
IRP2010 reflects this commitment by including 9,600 megawatt electric (MWe) nuclear energy and a massive portion of renewables 
in new electricity generation capacity to be added by 2030. 

Cabinet established the National Nuclear Executive Co-ordinating Committee (NNEECC) and the Nuclear Energy Technical 
Committee (NETC) during November 2011 to enable preparations for the roll-out of the nuclear component of the IRP2010. 
Eskom has been designated as the owner-operator of the nuclear power reactors to be acquired and the NNEECC continues to 
emphasise the localisation, job creation and skills development aspirations of this programme. 

Strategic Relationships
The establishment of a network of key strategic relationships in the nuclear technology and related technology domain is of vital 
importance to all global high technology players. In this regard Necsa was fortunate to maintain and expand its relationships 
with key global nuclear organisations. Necsa remained a prominent member of the South African National System of Innovation 
(NSI) and a collaborator with local and international universities, the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) and African 
Regional Co-operative Agreement (AFRA), as well as local and international industries. Necsa has entered into a number of new 
co-operation agreements with international nuclear institutions and is looking forward to the opportunities presented by closer 
co-operation with such partners.

Overall Performance
Satisfactory results were achieved in a very challenging environment during this year of transition. The Necsa Group achieved 68% 
of its predetermined objectives and key performance indicator targets for 2012/13, as per the Shareholder’s Compact with the 
Minister of Energy. Non-achievement of targets was mainly attributable to very difficult market conditions in some of the market 
sectors in which Necsa operates as well as a markedly constrained financial environment.

Group Developments
Necsa's subsidiary, NTP, retained its prominent position in the global radioisotope market while Pelchem experienced a challenging 
year due to recessionary global market conditions.

Necsa Corporate continued to deliver on its mandate and performance targets, as agreed with the Shareholder. Whilst Necsa 
experienced increasing pressure on its financial, human and infrastructure resources due to a combination of rising operating costs, 
a declining government grant (in real terms) and pressure on its non-grant revenue streams, these aspects are being addressed 
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Chairperson's Review (continued)05
through Necsa's risk management processes. Research and innovation outputs have grown well, but the development of new 
business opportunities has proceeded slower than planned. Necsa continued to support the NSI through initiatives such as its 
continued partnership with iThemba LABS and NTeMBI collaborative projects, and has also continued its involvement in strategic 
international collaborative programmes relating to the application of nuclear and radiation science and technology.

Challenges Faced by the Board
A key challenge to be dealt with by the Board is Necsa’s financial sustainability in an environment of fiscal constraints and a 
depressed South African and global economy. At the same time, new legislation, regulations and corporate governance practices 
place growing demands on the Board, Necsa Management and Group business activities. Full compliance with nuclear licences, 
safety standards, other authorisations and permits requires continued vigilance and the availability of suitable resources.

The Year Ahead
During the reporting year Necsa continued with preparations to fulfil its envisaged role in the National Nuclear Power Expansion 
Programme. During the year ahead it is anticipated that further work around key Necsa Group infrastructure projects, including 
the LEU Fuel and Target Plate Manufacturing Facility and SAFARI-2, will be undertaken.

Acknowledgements
I thank my fellow members of the Necsa Board of Directors, the members of the boards of Necsa subsidiaries as well as Necsa 
Management and staff for their commitment to the Necsa Group and its role in national socio-economic development.

Conclusion 
The past year was a year of change and transition with very good technical achievements and less satisfactory financial performance. 
Good progress was made in aligning Necsa with its resource profile and we look forward to a very productive and successful year 
ahead.

Ambassador MJ Seekoe
Chairperson Necsa Board
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I am pleased to report on the Necsa Group’s 
performance and progress during the 2012/13 
financial year. Although Necsa experienced significant 
transitional changes and funding pressures, it 
nevertheless achieved satisfactory results in terms 
of its key mandate performance areas. In reflecting 
on this performance, the following points are salient: 

• New innovation disclosures, a key component 
of Necsa’s response to its core research and 
technology development mandate, exceeded 
the predetermined target by 41%; 

• The SAFARI-1 research reactor exceeded its 
planned operational availability; and

• NTP Radioisotopes, the Necsa Group’s main 
source of commercial revenue, exceeded 
its sales and net profit targets under very 
aggressive and highly competitive market 
circumstances.

Other business entities such as Pelchem were still 
exposed to cyclical market factors and the continued 
effects of the global economic slowdown of the last 
number of years.

Radiation Science and Applications 
Cluster
Necsa’s Radiation Science Programme retained high 
visibility through numerous collaborative projects 
with South African universities, international nuclear 
institutes and the International Atomic Energy Agency 
(IAEA). An important milestone was the review, by an 
external panel of experts, of the current and potential 
role of Necsa’s Radiation Science Department as a 
contributor to research within the National System 
of Innovation (NSI). The review report was highly 
complimentary and offered valuable recommendations 
relating to Necsa’s national nuclear research role as 
well as its position with respect to iThemba LABS. 
The report also drew attention to the under-resourcing 
of radiation science as a valuable national research 
asset. This situation was subsequently partly addressed 
by the awarding of a once-off grant of R33.5 million 
by the Department of Energy (DoE) to accelerate 
the programme to establish state-of-the-art neutron 
beam-line research facilities at SAFARI-1. 
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CEO's Review (continued)06
The Nuclear Technologies in Medicine and the Biosciences Initiative (NTeMBI) continued to facilitate several national collaborative 
projects, with 23 universities, science councils and private companies, relating to the development of new diagnostic and therapeutic 
(radio) pharmaceuticals as well as other bioscience applications of nuclear technology. A highlight of these research activities was 
the development of a gallium-68 labelled positron emission tomography (PET) imaging agent that can distinguish between infection 
and inflammation. This bears great promise as a future tool in the diagnosis and treatment of infectious diseases.

There is growing interest in the use of fluorine-18 labelled fluoroethylcholine for prostate cancer diagnosis. Following the completion 
of clinical trials, the Necsa Radiochemistry Section and NTP started delivering doses to the Steve Biko Academic Hospital. A 
milestone with respect to new therapeutic agents was the first treatment in Africa of patients with neuroendocrine tumours, using 
lutetium-177 (177Lu), produced by NTP.

An 11 megaelectron-Volt (MeV) cyclotron for the production of fluorine-18 labelled fluorodeoxyglucose (F-18-FDG) was installed 
with the assistance of Necsa and is operational at iThemba LABS in the Western Cape. Together with the PET camera, donated 
by NTP to Tygerberg Hospital, this gave new impetus to the clinical use of PET in the Western Cape.

The SAFARI-1 research reactor again performed very well by achieving operational availability of two days more than the target 
of 303 days during 2012/13. This performance was the result of a closely managed and effective maintenance programme, and 
played a key role in NTP’s ability to provide medical radioisotopes to the world market during the shut-down periods of reactors 
in Canada and the Netherlands. 

Nuclear Power Cluster
Necsa continued with initiatives to assess the viability of implementing a sustainable nuclear fuel cycle programme, as directed 
through the Nuclear Energy Policy (NEP), to obtain all the potential economic benefits and ensure security of fuel supply for 
the planned expansion of the nuclear power reactor fleet. Prefeasibility studies continued with potential international partners to 
evaluate options and models for the establishment in South Africa of nuclear fuel facilities.

Necsa continued with discussions with potential vendors of nuclear power plants (NPPs) in order to establish co-operation as 
a precursor to localisation in co-operation with the vendors who may be eventually selected to supply South Africa's new NPPs 
once government has launched the programme. These discussions not only covered localisation, but also access to global supply 
chains, which will be essential to a sustainable nuclear manufacturing industry in the future. In the latter regard Necsa’s Nuclear 
Manufacturing Centre was registered as an approved supplier to a number of international nuclear companies. 

Relationships with local nuclear sector role-players were strengthened to provide effective high-level inputs to government’s planning 
and decision-making processes on the South African Nuclear Expansion Programme.

Good progress was also made in implementing Pelchem’s Growth and Sustainability Strategy, specifically the government-supported 
Ketlaphela Project aimed at the manufacturing of active pharmaceutical ingredients for antiretroviral drugs, as well as projects as 
part of the Fluorochemical Expansion Initiative (FEI).

Necsa Group Commercial Cluster
The NTP Group achieved sales of R937 million for 2012/13, exceeding sales and net profit targets by 6% and 65%, respectively. 
NTP continued to be a highly reliable supplier of radiochemicals to the world market, providing 99Mo back-up supplies on various 
occasions when other producers experienced unscheduled outages. NTP remained the only supplier with the ability to produce 
99Mo at industrial scale using a process entirely based on low enriched uranium. 

NTP’s growth initiatives included the 11 MeV cyclotron for F-18-FDG production in the Western Cape and the refurbished gamma 
irradiation plant at Pelindaba, the latter in partnership with Gamwave. NTP also created various business subsidiaries or increased 
shareholding in existing subsidiaries to enhance the Holding Company’s portfolio and revenue stream.

As a result of intense competition and a prolonged market downturn, Pelchem sales of R178 million were 18% below budget. 
Necsa Company sales of R314.7 million were 28% below budget. Included in this, however, was excellent progress made by the 
Nuclear Manufacturing Centre (NMC) towards increasing sales by 48.9% year-on-year, resulting in R82.5 million, unfortunately 
this was 3.5% below budget.

Necsa as Host of Nuclear Programmes Cluster
As part of the Necsa Site and Infrastructure Refurbishment Programme, a R33 million project was launched in 2010 to replace 
the aged sewage treatment plant. The new plant was commissioned in March 2013.
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Necsa was delegated by the Department of Trade and Industry (the dti) and the Department of International Relations and 
Cooperation (DIRCO) to be the South African focal point for the establishment and operation of a Radionuclide Monitoring Station 
near Cape Town for the Commission for the Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty Organisation (CTBTO).

During the financial year 34 peer reviewed scientific publications were published, while another four were accepted for publication 
(the target was 36).

Although Necsa continued to maintain very high standards in terms of safety, health, security and environmental management, it 
narrowly missed achievement of its Nuclear Compliance Index target which calls for extra vigilance in this area. 

Human Capital Development
Necsa continued to make a significant contribution to nuclear human capacity development in South Africa across the spectrum 
from artisan training to post-doctoral fellowships. In response to the growing demand for artisan training, the Nuclear Skills 
Development (NSD) Centre trained 442 persons against the target of 380 persons. The NSD Centre was accredited by a growing 
number of Sector Education and Training Authorities (SETAs), and in the review period was selected as the preferred training 
provider for master tooling artisans for the National Tooling Initiative Programme.

Capacity building in nuclear science and engineering was maintained at a high level. This included lectures to post-graduate 
students at various universities and the provision of on-going supervision and study support for 66 students doing full time research 
projects in Necsa laboratories as well as 36 post-graduates performing research on Necsa-affiliated projects at universities.

International Collaboration
Necsa staff members continued to participate in a variety of IAEA and AFRA activities, IAEA consultative meetings and expert 
missions. Necsa staff members benefited from the IAEA’s Technical Co-operation Programme through their involvement in training 
courses, scientific visits and workshops.

Active research collaboration and scientific exchange continued with counterpart institutes in countries such as Australia, France, 
Russia, Germany, Italy and the Republic of Korea.

Highlights of Future Plans and Projects
The main focus in the year ahead will be to further align the organisation’s expenditure framework with the available resource 
base and implement projects to enable further growth of the resource base to ensure that Necsa is effectively able to service the 
current and future nuclear research needs of our nation. Necsa will continue to be vigilant of strategic risks facing it (these are 
discussed in detail elsewhere in this report) and institute necessary treatment actions in this regard.

The CEO and Executive Management of Necsa and its subsidiaries reaffirm their commitment to sustainability and to ensuring 
that the Necsa Group’s primary focus going forward is for all businesses and functions to operate sustainably and on the basis of 
sound governance and to achieve their targets on safety, cost optimisation, profit, transformation and the environment.

Necsa Group growth prospects for the near future include the following:

• Government decisions regarding the procurement process of the planned nuclear power reactor fleet;
• Projects towards the establishment of a low enriched uranium fuel and target plate manufacturing plant at Necsa;
• In-principle decision-making regarding a multipurpose reactor to replace SAFARI-1 at the end of its operational life;
• Continued progress with the Ketlaphela Project;
• Further market penetration for new NTP business initiatives relating to F-18-FDG, gamma irradiation and radiography sources;
• Demonstration of the plasma-based waste-to-energy system;
• Demonstration of the uranium recovery process that was proven on laboratory scale; and
• Further expansion of the NTeMBI network and clinical trials of candidate radiopharmaceuticals.

Mr GP Tshelane
Chief Executive Officer: Necsa
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The long term strategy of the Necsa Group provides for the execution of its core research and development mandate through 
directed programmes and collaborative R&D to meet the identified current and projected future needs of the Necsa Group as well 
as South Africa at large. Implied in this is the drive to support the planned South African nuclear power expansion programme, 
for which Necsa will endeavour to purposefully expand its expertise, technology base and infrastructure to enhance the security 
of local nuclear fuel supply for South Africa and entering the global market amongst others. 

In the field of radiation science and applications, the Necsa Group will purposefully maintain and expand its global leadership 
position in the supply of medical radioisotopes through partnerships, expansion of its product portfolio and the eventual replacement 
of the SAFARI-1 research reactor with a suitable multipurpose irradiation facility.

Necsa executes its mandate through three strategic Clusters (groups of activities):

Nuclear Power Cluster
This Cluster refers to Necsa’s nuclear fuel development and production programmes as well as projects to support the South 
African Nuclear Power Programme. The key strategic objectives for this Cluster for the reporting period were as follows:

• To progress with preparations for the development or demonstration of required nuclear fuel cycle processes and 
technologies; and

• To implement Pelchem’s strategy for growth and sustainability, including an increase of sales from R194 million (2011/12 
forecast) to R333 million by 2014/15.

In addition to positioning for opportunities presented by the planned South African Nuclear Energy Expansion Programme, Necsa 
continued to explore opportunities for future partnerships and access to the international nuclear fuel market. 

Radiation Science and Applications Cluster
This Cluster includes radiation sciences research and services as well as products based on the SAFARI-1 reactor and Necsa’s 
other radiation infrastructure and expertise. The key strategic objectives for this Cluster for 2012/13 were:

• To maintain full operational capability of SAFARI-1 and implement the reactor’s Ageing Management Programme;
• To achieve the project targets for the establishment of an Low Enriched Uranium (LEU) fuel and 99Mo target plate 

manufacturing plant;
• To perform a feasibility study on a multipurpose research reactor to replace SAFARI-1 at the end of its operational lifetime; 

and
• To grow NTP Group sales from R856 million (2011/12 forecast) to R1,236 million by 2014/15.

The Radiation Cluster gained a unique competitive advantage as a result of the conversion of both SAFARI-1 fuel and 99Mo target 
plates to LEU. However, due to tight market conditions and the fact that the main competitors continued to supply cheaper High 
Enriched Uranium-based 99Mo, this Necsa/NTP advantage has not yet translated into a stronger market position.

Necsa as Host of Nuclear Programmes Cluster
This Cluster refers to Necsa’s capacity to house nuclear programmes due to its unique integrated SHEQ system, licensed nuclear 
infrastructure and specialised supporting capabilities. The key strategic objectives for this Cluster included:

• To increase Necsa’s research, development and innovation outputs;
• To constantly improve SHEQ management performance;
• To achieve a reduced but sustainable salary bill within existing funding constraints; and
• To maintain infrastructure at a suitable level.

Key Policy Developments and Legislative Changes 
There were no changes to government policies or legislation which directly impacted on Necsa during the reporting period. Some 
developments which have implications for Necsa in the future include the decision-making process on the expansion of nuclear 
power in South Africa, the publication of the Industrial Policy Action Plan (IPAP) for 2013/14 to 2015/16, and the revision of the 
Nuclear Energy Act, No. 46 of 1999, and the National Nuclear Regulator Act, No. 47 of 1999, both of which have commenced.
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Research and Development
The R&D structure, programme and activities are closely aligned with Necsa’s government outcomes and mandate. This mandate, 
as derived from Section 13 of the Nuclear Energy Act, No. 46 of 1999, incorporates the following responsibilities:

• Undertake and promote research and development in the field of nuclear energy and radiation sciences and technology; 
• Expand Necsa’s local and international R&D collaborative network; 
• Grow Necsa’s research, development and innovation outputs;
• Expand Necsa’s core research capacity and capabilities; and
• Support Necsa research facilities and commercial product sustainability.

The R&D Division focuses on two main areas, namely in-house research to support mandated Necsa initiatives and pure and 
applied collaborative research within the National System of Innovation (NSI). Relationships fostered with local universities and 
science councils in this regard have embedded the role of this Division in the NSI.

The close synergy with Necsa’s subsidiaries ensures a complete and unique value chain for the development of nuclear technology 
related to the nuclear fuel cycle as well as radiation products, spin-off services and products for exploitation by subsidiaries and 
the wider science community. 

The R&D structure, illustrated below, allows for demarcated specialised skills development to fulfil the research mandate best.

Key Achievements

Radiation Science and Products
• In response to the 2013 Medium-term Expenditure Framework submission, a once-off sum of R33.5 million has been 

allocated by the Department of Energy for the 2013/14 financial year to assist with the development of R&D facilities at the 
SAFARI-1 reactor. This will allow state of the art facilities to be completed at SAFARI-1, which will enable R&D to grow its 
neutron beam research user base significantly. 

• The Radiation Science Department was reviewed by an external panel of experts to assess its current and potential 
role as a contributor to research within the NSI. While certain of the recommendations of the Review Report have been 
implemented, the Report draws particular attention to the under-resourcing of valuable national assets. The R33.5 million 
allocation mentioned above will assist in this regard.

• The neutron facility upgrade proceeded according to schedule. The neutron radiography test assembly was completed and 
the neutron beam line instrumentation for measuring stress and strain at atomic level in materials, were assembled and 
tested on the instrument floors. 

• Due to the upgrade, only the X-ray and charged particle beam lines were available to researchers from the NSI. On 
average, ten researchers received assistance from Necsa’s beam line scientists per quarter, equating to approximately 
80 tomography scans per quarter. Research assistance and collaboration spans many scientific disciplines such as 
engineering, material science, anthropology, paleoanthropology, anatomy, forensic science, agricultural science and 
geosciences.

Applied Chemistry (AC)

Radiation Science (RS)

Health and Biosciences

Research and Development
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• An opportunity has arisen for Necsa to establish a satellite specimen preparation and holding laboratory on site. This will 

further increase the organisation’s involvement and role in the South African heritage studies community, including academia, 
museums, landowners and local communities within the Cradle of Humankind. Feasibility discussions are under way.

• Six Dedicated Isotope Production Reactor evaluation reports were successfully completed and submitted to NTP. In 
addition valuable technical calculation contributions were made to a SAFARI-2 feasibility study.

• The Necsa/University of Pretoria/Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation (ANSTO) Pilot project, 
using 195mPt-cisplatin in healthy volunteers was completed using 195mPt-cisplatin prepared on site according to good 
manufacturing practice (GMP). The intention is to use this in Phase I and II clinical trials. 

• Fifty patient doses of GMP compliant 18F-fluoroethylcholine were delivered to Steve Biko Academic hospital to complete 
clinical trials using this new prostate cancer imaging agent. Following the success of the trials, the product is ready to be 
transferred to NTP for commercial production.

• The Nuclear Technologies in Medicine and the Biosciences Initiative (NTeMBI) continues to facilitate several national 
collaborative projects where radiochemistry and radiolabelling play key roles in the development of new diagnostic and 
therapeutic pharmaceuticals and radiopharmaceuticals. NTeMBI is also assessing the use of a Sterile Insect Technique to 
control mosquitoes, and hence the spread of malaria, in South African. Key outputs of the NTeMBI collaboration include:
- Twelve active projects with 23 institutions formally participating – including universities, science councils and the 

private sector;
- In vivo pre-clinical trials were carried out under six projects;
- Four human clinical trials involving blood and urine samples were carried out;
- Three Phase 1 human trials involving nuclear medicine imaging are in the planning stages;
- One human clinical trial is under way involving brain imaging;
- The world’s first PET imaging agent which can distinguishing between infection and inflammation was developed;
- A genetic sexing strain was developed for the Anopheles Arabiensis strain which occurs at one of the Sterile Insect 

Technique study sites.

Feasibility Study for a Zirconium Production Facility
The Department of Science and Technology (DST) commissioned Necsa to perform a techno-economic feasibility study for a 
500 t/a zirconium metal commercial plant. The engineering and technology aspects of the study were more than 90% complete 
by the end of March 2013. Special emphasis was placed on waste issues, including the handling of radioactive waste and the 
recycling of fluoride waste streams. The engineering packages highlighted some important aspects which should receive further 
attention. These include: 

• Fluoride sublimation for the removal of hafnium instead of the wasteful and capital intensive chloride-based solvent 
extraction process;

• The recovery and recycling of ammonium bi-fluoride; and
• By-product development for hafnium and silicon compounds.

It was contractually agreed that the feasibility study would be completed by 31 March 2014. However, the schedule was brought 
forward and the new target date for submission of the final report to the DST is 31 October 2013.

NRAD Beam Line Project
The Neutron Radiography (NRAD) facility 
upgrade received priority during the review 
period. The project was in the construction 
phase by the end of the reporting period with the 
shielding boxes manufactured and evaluated 
and the area prepared to accommodate the 
facility. Once this is completed, the installation 
of the boxes at SAFARI-1 will commence.

Snapshot of the NRAD facility at 
SAFARI-1, rigging study >>
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Nuclear Energy Programme
• The programme to develop a South African gas centrifuge technology for uranium enrichment on laboratory scale is continuing.
• The project to recover enriched uranium (EU) from decayed 99Mo process residue continued to produce promising results.

Research in Support of the National System of Innovation
Main research programmes supporting the NSI are:

• Advanced Metals Initiative (AMI); 
• Fluorochemical Expansion Initiative (FEI); 
• Nuclear Technologies in Medicine and the Biosciences Initiative (NTeMBI); 
• Radiation imaging and analysis for heritage studies; 
• Non-destructive testing in mechanical and civil engineering applications (including low cost building materials);
• Solid-state physics such as stress and strain in materials, critical and magnetic phenomena (high temperature superconductivity), 

order and structure in materials, etc.; 
• Environmental and resource optimisation studies (e.g. coal efficiency research); 
• Illicit materials and contraband detection technology; 
• Accelerator science and technology;
• Nuclear physics theory and experiments; 
• Nuclear materials (including nuclear fuel); and
• Nanomaterials in the nuclear and radiation context.

Commercial Activities
The Fluorochemical Expansion Initiative (FEI) project portfolio has met all agreed targets and deadlines for the period under review, 
and the next phase of this initiative will be funded by the Department of Science and Technology (DST). Necsa contributes to the 
lithium battery (Li-battery) project through the synthesis of LiPF6, the electrolyte used in most Li-batteries. Necsa is also active in 
the beneficiation of rare earth elements. The Technology Innovation Agency (TIA) is currently evaluating Necsa’s proposal for the 
establishment of a pilot plant to produce Neodymium Trifluoride (NdF3) and other rare earth fluorides. NdF3 is the main component 
of strong magnets used in electrical cars and wind turbine generators.

Phase 3 of the Advanced Metals Initiative (AMI), was approved by the DST. Necsa is responsible for the New Metals Development 
Network (NMDN) of the Initiative, and significant progress has been made with the plasma synthesis of Zirconium (Zr) metal 
powder. A new oxyfluoride-based separation and purification route, starting from an ore concentrate, has been developed for 
Tantalum (Ta) and Niobium (Nb).

Necsa is in the process of negotiating funding for the scaling of many nuclear-related projects with TIA, which includes 
radiopharmaceuticals and uranium recovery projects.

International Collaboration
Necsa participates in several international initiatives such as: EURATOM; Gen IV (GIF), The African Regional Co-operative Agreement 
(AFRA) and FP7. Active research collaboration and scientific exchange with the following international nuclear institutes are in place: 
IAEA, ANSTO, COMENA, CEA, Korean Atomic Energy Research Institute (KAERI) and the Joint Institute for Nuclear Research.

Staff Achievements and Development
• 21 R&D staff members were enrolled for postgraduate studies. Eight MSc degrees, one MTech and two PhD degrees were 

awarded to staff members.
• Four beam time slots were awarded to a Necsa scientist on peer reviewed merit at the Elletra Synchrotron and at ANSTO’s 

Bragg institute. 
• A number of staff members were elected to serve on international steering committees to organise different international 

conferences, e.g. the Mechanical Stress Evaluation by Neutron and Synchrotron Radiation Conference, the First 
International Conference in Tomography of Materials and Structures (ICTMS-1), etc.

• Collaboration with the CEA, France, allowed for the placement of young Necsa scientists for extended periods to gain 
research experience in areas of reactor physics and engineering and nuclear materials related spectroscopic analysis. A 
Necsa spectroscopist, completed a five month training period at Saclay. This will be followed by a reactor engineer who will 
work on the Jules Horowitz research reactor team for a period of one year, starting in September 2013. 

• Necsa now has 7 National Research Foundation (NRF)-rated scientists.
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Outputs
Innovation disclosures during the review period covered the following technology fields:

Field 
Number of innovation 

disclosures

Radiochemistry/radiopharmaceuticals 6

Radioactive waste management 4

Fluorine chemistry 3

Advanced metals 3

Instrumentation 1

Nuclear Technology Industrialisation

Engineering
The Engineering Services portfolio includes feasibility studies, design and draughting, 3D modelling, engineering studies, simulation, 
Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) and Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) programming and the application 
of isotope technology in industry. The latter technology uses short-lived radioisotopes in ‘trouble-shooting’ i.e. to trace flows in 
complicated processes.

Manufacturing
The Nuclear Manufacturing Centre (NMC) continued with discussions with potential vendors of Nuclear Power Plants (NPPs) 
to establish co-operation. Co-operation is critical in order to initiate localisation of South Africa’s new NPP once government has 
launched the programme, as is globalisation, which is essential to ensure a sustainable nuclear manufacturing industry in the future. 

NMC was successfully registered as an approved supplier to a number of international companies. Unfortunately this has not yet 
resulted in any new manufacturing orders. Manufacturing achieved sales of R82.5 million which is R2.5 million below the target 
of R85 million, but reflects an improvement of 48.9% over the previous financial year.

The Centre implements Necsa’s behaviour-based safety process, and successfully reduced the Total Injury Rate (TIR) from 19.01 in 
April 2012 to an all-time low of 4.14 (78% improvement). This is a notable achievement in an environment characterised by high injury 
risks. Special focus was placed on protection of the eyes due to the high incidence of eye injuries as a result of grinding activities.

The following projects were completed in the 2013 financial year:

MGB Bridge Project
During September 2012 Necsa received a repeat order to the value of R6.6 million for a three-year period for the refurbishment of 
MGB bridge systems. These bridges are used by the South African National Defence Force for peace-keeping missions in Africa. 
Necsa's involvement arises from its ability to undertake specialist welding, machining and assembly repairs of aluminium alloys. 

Radioactive Waste Management Projects

Cell 1 – Low Density Waste Storage
This entailed the design and manufacturing of components for a low density radioactive waste storage facility, to accommodate 
waste generated during the NTP production process. 

Storage of 99Mo Residue 
The concept design for a facility to store residue resulting from 99Mo production was completed. Tests were performed on the 
major components within the system, such as the welding machine, the Active Well Coincidence Counter (AWCC) and the transfer 
station. The Safety Case Report was submitted to the National Nuclear Regulator (NNR). 

Decommissioning of Cell 5 and 8 Carcasses
The inner shells of Hot Cells No. 5 and 8 in the Hot Cell Complex need to be replaced. This requires the decontamination and 
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decommissioning of the old shells, both being NNR licensable activities. The radiological characterisation of the shells was 
completed and a concept proposal for disposal of the shells was developed.

Concrete Radioactive Waste Drums
210 concrete radioactive waste drums were manufactured for the storage of low level radioactive waste. 

Condensate Tanks for Medupi Power Station
The last three of a total of six sets of tanks were completed during the 2013 financial year. Delivery of the last tank was delayed, 
however, to April 2013 due to labour unrest at the Medupi construction site.

Welding of Pump Barrels
In accordance with the International Standards Organization (ISO) 3834 quality management system, high quality welding was 
undertaken on pump barrels for power station feed pump systems.

Nuclear and Radiation (NURAD)

SAFARI-1 Research Reactor
The SAFARI-1 Research Reactor operated for 304.7 days versus the scheduled 302.5 days during the year under review, at an 
average reactor power of 19.86 megawatt (MW). This performance can be ascribed to an effective maintenance programme, the 
fully trained reactor operations group and to reactor ageing management.

The ageing management programme progressed much slower than planned, due mainly to an inability to recruit qualified personnel 
as a result of austerity measures. Although progress was made on a number of projects, no additional projects could be completed.

The irradiation of targets and samples was successfully undertaken in collaboration with NTP and assistance was provided to the 
R&D Division to upgrade their beam line instruments. The results of supporting investigations following the Fukushima Stress Test 
Safety Assessment were submitted to the NNR according to the agreed schedule. 

The SAFARI-1 Research Reactor maintained its quality management system ISO 9001:2008, its environmental management 
system ISO 14001 and its Occupational Health and Safety Advisory Services (OHSAS) 18001 certification.

The R&D Division will maintain an internationally renowned core competence in reactor physics and code development to support 
the establishment of SAFARI-2. This state-of-the-art research facility will facilitate the nuclear power programme, nuclear materials 
research, selected isotope production and development, and nuclear fuel cycle activities. 

LEU Operations
The SAFARI-1 research reactor continued to operate with a fully converted low enriched uranium (LEU) core. The routine local 
manufacture of components and the assembly of fuel continued according to schedule, using imported LEU fuel plates.

The routine supply of manufactured targets for NTP 99Mo as well as LEU fuel proceeded according to the LEU conversion schedule. 

The development of the Basic Design and Safety Analysis Report for the on-site LEU fuel and target plate manufacturing plant 
continued during the year. A comprehensive project re-assessment and consolidation was initiated in December 2012. Complexities 
with the integration of the engineering and licensing requirements proved to be challenging, resulting in a delay in basic design 
activities. 

The basic design currently consists of more than 700 documents and drawings, which are at various stages of completion. The 
Safety Assessment Report currently consists of 24 documents of which 66.6% have been signed off. The Licence Design Package 
consists of 262 documents of which 93.1% have been signed off.

The first phase of inter-laboratory comparisons with a technology partner, as well as the first phase of the decontamination and 
decommissioning of the identified site for the LEU fuel and target plate manufacturing plant, were concluded. Consolidation was 
achieved in March 2013. 
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The updated Safety Analysis Report for the Uchem facility was accepted by the NNR after an extensive six-year licensing process. 
The Licensing Design Package for the Umet facility was completed during March 2013 and submitted to the NNR for assessment. 

R&D into the recovery of uranium from uranium silicide production scrap compounds continued, and a process selection study 
will need to be initiated on four candidate processes. The manufacture of depleted uranium shielding components for isotope 
transport containers continued according to client requirements. 

Smelter Project
The Smelter Facility will consist of two four tonne induction furnaces. The footprint of each induction furnace will be 12 m2. One 
furnace will be used to smelt steel components (capacity of 4,000 kg per load) and the other to smelt aluminium (capacity of 
approximately 1,500 kg per load). 

A public hearing regarding the smelter took place on 11 October 2012. Comments collected during the hearing received response 
and were submitted to the NNR. Final NNR approval is expected after the NNR board meeting at the end of April 2013.

Liquid Effluent Management Services
Liquid Effluent Management Services (LEMS) has maintained effluent treatment without any operational interruptions or delays 
to effluent generators. 

The planned Hazard and Operability (HAZOP) study of LEMS processes commenced in September 2012 and is progressing 
well. This is required for preparation of the Licensing Design Package and Safety Assessment Report for submission to the NNR.

Nuclear Liabilities Management

Borehole Disposal Concept
The Borehole Disposal Concept was jointly developed by Necsa and the IAEA to provide a facility for the disposal of disused, 
sealed radioactive sources. 

Necsa has presented the IAEA with a project proposal to integrate the Borehole Disposal Concept with the Spent High Activity 
Radioactive Sources (SHARS) Mobile Hot Cell and to further develop certain components of the concept. The IAEA is considering 
the project proposals.

SHARS Mobile Hot Cell 
Preparatory missions were undertaken to Brazil and Colombia regarding mobile hot cell operations. Operations are expected to 
be carried out during the 2013/14 financial year. 

The IAEA contracted Necsa to undertake a mobile hot cell operation in the Philippines. This operation commenced in March 2013 
and will be completed in April 2013.

Nuclear Forensics
The construction of the South African Nuclear Forensic Laboratory is ongoing. The Lawrence Livermore National and Los Alamos 
National Laboratory from the USA played a critical supporting role which included expert advice and consultancy.

Several nuclear forensics expert meetings were held between Necsa and USA parties, including the NNSA, Lawrence Livermore 
National Laboratory, Los Alamos National Laboratory and the Partnership for Nuclear Security, to strengthen nuclear forensics 
collaboration. Necsa has decided to purchase an ICP-MS instrument to conduct nuclear forensic analyses to establish national 
nuclear forensics capabilities at the Necsa Pelindaba site.

Nuclear forensics staff members have, through USA support, participated in various nuclear forensics-related meetings, workshops 
and conferences such as the Institute for Nuclear Materials Management 2012 in Orlando, Florida, USA. The IAEA invited Necsa 
to the IAEA-Netherlands International Atomic Forum Workshop in November 2012.

Necsa participated in various other nuclear forensics meetings, including the IAEA’s meeting for the Revision of the Nuclear 
Forensics Support Document (part of the IAEA Nuclear Security Series 2). 
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09 Commercial Report (continued)

NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd

NTP Holding Company Group Structure

NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd (NTP) is a major player in the highly competitive global radioisotopes industry. NTP has created 
various business subsidiaries or increased shareholding in these to create a group of companies that has strengthened the Holding 
Company’s portfolio and revenue stream. These businesses are AEC-Amersham SOC Ltd (100% shareholding), NTP Logistics 
SOC Ltd (51%), Gammatec NDT Supplies SOC Ltd (55%), a newly formed subsidiary NTP Radioisotopes (Europe) SA (99.9%), 
and associate Gamwave (Gauteng) (Pty) Ltd (40%). These businesses are respectively involved in: 

• The sale and distribution of radiopharmaceutical, medical research apparatus and sundry laboratory equipment; 
• The provision of domestic and international freight forwarding services;
• The marketing and sale of non-destructive testing apparatus and sealed radioactive sources (from NTP and elsewhere) to the 

industrial market;
• Gamma sterilisation services to the food, agricultural and medical sectors; and
• The production and marketing of sealed radioactive sources and associated NDT equipment as well as radioactive sources 

for brachytherapy applications. 

Group sales for the year were R937.3 million, 6% above the budgeted R880.6 million. With regard to the subsidiary companies, 
AEC-Amersham sales were R97.6 million (6% above budget), NTP Logistics R12.8 million (11% below budget), and Gammatec 
Group R172.7 million (1% above budget). NTP sales were R697.7 million (5% above budget). 

NTP Subsidiaries

AEC-Amersham SOC Ltd
AEC-Amersham is a wholly-owned subsidiary of NTP and is the exclusive distributor in sub-Saharan Africa and the Indian Ocean 
Islands of NTP’s radiopharmaceutical products, as well as a range of healthcare, life sciences and quality and safety assurance 
products. The core strengths of the Company are its extensive range of specialised products and services, supported by a dedicated 
and knowledgeable sales force, whose skills are continuously developed. AEC-Amersham is a Level 4 BBBEE contributor.

Gammatec NDT Supplies SOC Ltd
Gammatec NDT Supplies exports to over 70 countries worldwide. Its range of Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) equipment, accessories 
and consumables is not only stocked, but in many cases manufactured. The range includes Acoustic Emission; Dye Penetrant; 
Eddy Current – including Systems; Magnetic Particle; Radiography – X-Ray and Gamma Ray (including Radioisotopes); Ultrasonic – 
Flaw Detectors, Wall Thickness Monitors; Phased Array Technology and Visual Inspection.

NTP Logistics (51%)

Gamwave Gauteng (40%)

AEC–Amersham (100%)

NTP Radioisotopes
(Europe) (99.9%)

Gammatec Middle East (76%)

Lectromax (90%)

Gammatec Aseana (90%)

Oserix (25%)

NTP Radioisotopes Gammatec NDT Supplies 
(55%)
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In this reporting period, the first Dual 120 projectors manufactured by Gammatec under licence from EMI, entered the market. This 
projector is the first of a new generation projector for the transport and delivery of isotopes in the industrial radiography NDT field, 
and is a first for Gammatec, South Africa and Africa. The successful conclusion of the manufacturing licence and co-operation 
agreements with Oserix has enabled Gammatec to lead the way with this project.

NTP Logistics SOC Ltd
NTP Logistics manages the movement of hazardous goods, specialising in radioactive materials and chemicals. The company is a 
market leader with vast experience in national and international regulatory requirements. It has an array of permits and licences to 
operate in this field, which are issued by the NNR; DoE; Department of Health and the Department of Transport and, is an active 
member of the World Nuclear Transport Institute. The Company has a Level 1 BBEEE rating.

NTP Radioisotopes (Europe) SA
NTP successfully acquired the assets of Best Medical Belgium (BMB), which had been declared bankrupt, for the production 
of sealed radioactive 192Ir. The business operations were conducted under the curatorship of BMB until conditional ministerial 
approval for the establishment of the new subsidiary company, NTP Europe, was obtained on 26 November 2012. The conditions 
required for final approval were successfully met, and NTP Europe was duly incorporated in Belgium and officially started trading 
on 01 February 2013.

Associated Company: Gamwave Gauteng (Pty) Ltd
The refurbishment and upgrading of the gamma irradiation facility at the Necsa site was successfully completed in December 2012 
and handed over to Gamwave Gauteng (Pty) Ltd. Cold and hot commissioning of the facility subsequently occurred and the first 
test runs to establish dose mapping took place in March 2013.

Product Portfolio
• Radiopharmaceuticals: Used in nuclear medicine for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. Products include NovaTec-P 

generator, fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) for Positron Emission Tomography (PET), cold kits and Iodine-131 (131I) capsules and 
solutions.

• Irradiation Services: Neutron transmutation doping of silicon ingots and other neutron target irradiation services that are 
performed to customer specification in the SAFARI-1 research reactor.

• Radiochemicals: Produced in bulk and used by NTP and its customers for the manufacture of various radiopharmaceutical 
products and in life science research in the form of labelled compounds.

• Radioactive sealed sources for industry: Iridium-192 (192Ir), Cobalt-60 (60Co), Cesium-137 (137Cs) is used in non-destructive 
testing (NDT), industrial gauging and process control applications. Sealed radioactive sources and associated NDT 
equipment are also used for brachytherapy applications.

Achievements
As a wholly-owned subsidiary of Necsa, NTP routinely serves customers in over 60 countries with a range of radiation-based 
products and services. The Company has continued to make significant progress in the application and development of its products 
and processes in the field of medical isotopes, the most noteworthy being:

• The collaborative project with the Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation (ANSTO) to establish a plant to 
produce 99Mo at ANSTO is on schedule; 

• Progress to convert NTP’s 99Mo production process to a 100% LEU-based process is proceeding according to plan. NTP 
will thereafter be the only industrial-scale 99Mo production facility in the world that can produce 99Mo on a commercial scale 
using an all-LEU process; and

• NTP’s development work with Necsa and Steve Biko Academic Hospital in Pretoria remains fruitful. In the period under 
review, the first Lutetium-177 (177Lu) application in Africa was made with good results.

Other projects and achievements include:
• An 11 MeV cyclotron for fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) 18F production was installed and is operational at iThemba LABS in the 

Western Cape;
• Record FDG sales were recorded in the period under review;
• Building P2000 at NTP’s Necsa facility was renovated and re-commissioned as the cobalt-60 (60Co) plant. The Gamwave 

gamma sterilisation facility was established and commercial work has commenced; 
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• NTP acquired certain assets of a company in Fleurus, Belgium. These assets were formerly part of the Best Medical 
Belgium SA (BMB) operation on the Fleurus site. The new entity now trades under the name NTP Radioisotopes (Europe) 
SA Commercial operations began as at 01 February 2013; and

• A customer satisfaction survey was conducted among NTP’s radiochemical customers, with results (an average score of 
4.37 on a scale of 1 to 5) indicating that they were satisfied with NTP’s products and services.

Markets and Sales

99Mo Global Market
In the previous review period, it was recorded that the 99Mo market was in turmoil, with an oversupply of the product and a resultant 
downward pressure on prices and volumes. This was the result of an aggressive effort by competitors to regain market share 
following the extended, unscheduled shut down of a reactor. The situation was further aggravated by the decline in the global 
demand for 99Mo by an estimated 20% compared to ‘pre-crisis’ levels. The consequence was that sales were under pressure and 
below budget right from the start of the 2011/12 financial year.

The situation did not improve in the current review period and indeed radiochemical sales showed a small decline in the volumes 
ordered by many customers. In addition, the competition is as aggressive as ever and continues to offer attractive pricing options 
to all existing NTP customers.

Despite this situation, NTP succeeded in sustaining its global market share and revenues in the period under review, with income 
exceeding budget by approximately 5%. 

Quality, Safety and Regulatory
External audits were conducted on NTP by international customers, the IAEA, Dekra, the Department of Health: Directorate Radiation 
Control and the National Nuclear Regulator (NNR). No findings were made that at any time placed continued operations at risk.
Although Injuries on Duty (IODs) were registered during the financial year the Disabling Injury Incident Rate (DIIR) at the end 
of March 2013 stood at 0.39. The total number of disabling injury free hours worked since the injury on duty, registered in April 
2012, was just over 500 000.

Following on-site visits and audits, operational approvals for the Gammatec Workshop (P1600) and Gamwave Gauteng (P2000) 
facilities were obtained from the Department of Health: Directorate Radiation Control. These approvals were obtained within 
approximately six months through superb liaison with the Regulator, making the facilities fully operational and residing under the 
regulatory control of the NTP Nuclear Facility Manager.

Human Resources
NTP continued to grow year-on-year. The personnel complement is at 276 (2011/12: 266). The percentage designated race was 
80.79% as at year end. 

Statutory training spend was R181,912 for the reporting period, while R853,486 was spent on soft and core skills training. Thirty 
percent of those who were sent on soft and core skills training were black females.

Pelchem SOC Ltd

Introduction
Pelchem SOC Ltd (Pelchem) is the only fluorochemical production, sales and distribution company in the southern hemisphere. 
Pelchem produces 25 fluorochemicals, which are exported to 21 countries on six continents. Its products include HF acid, fluorine 
gas and various fluorine gas mixtures, Nitrogen Trifluoride (NF3) and Xenon Difluoride (XeF2). Pelchem is a 100% subsidiary of 
Necsa SOC Ltd. The Company had a total turnover of R178 million and a staff complement of 164. Located on Necsa's Pelindaba 
site, Pelchem is a fluorochemical hub adding value to South African mined fluorspar (see graph below). The Company has a 
proud record of more than 25 years’ experience in locally produced fluorspar beneficiation and supplies fluorochemical products 
to local and international markets. Pelchem, in partnership with the DST and the dti, plays a leading role in the South African 
Fluorochemical Expansion Initiative (FEI). 
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Pelchem F-hub at Pelindaba

Pelchem value chain-driven organisational design

Group Structure
The Pelchem Group consists of eight production plants, three dormant companies and one trading company. Limited Electronics 
South Africa (LESA) became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Pelchem in 2012/13 following the acquisition of the Linde AG shares 
in LESA.

Necsa Corporation

Pelchem Production Plant

Fluoropharm SOC Ltd 
(Dormant)

HF: Acid and Salts Plants

Fluorochem SOC Ltd 
(Dormant)

F2 Plant Fluoro Pack SOC Ltd

NF3 Plant

Limited Electronics 
South Africa SOC Ltd

Siziba Plant

XeF2 Plant

Surface Fluorination Plants

Necsa SOC Ltd
Board of Directors

Other Necsa 
Subsidiary Companies

Local and 
export sales

Local and
export sales

Export sales

Export sales

Export sales

Export sales

Local sales

NF2

XeF2

DY02P

Surface 
Fluorination

Fluorspar 
10,000 tons HF

F-Salts

F2

Pelchem MD and
Management Team

Pelchem SOC Ltd 
Board of Directors

Subsidiary Companies
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Products and Applications
Pelchem’s 25 products are versatile and important process chemicals, used in the production of the following products which 
are critical to the socio-economic welfare of billions of people globally: high octane fuel; anaesthetics; metered dose inhalers; 
polished crystal glass; frosted glass; electrical insulators; foam insulation and packaging materials; special alloys in aircraft and 
turbines; telephones; cell phones; diamonds; domestic and industrial refrigeration; non-stick cookware; plastic components in 
automotive applications; electrical cable insulation; beverage cans; pesticides and herbicides in agriculture; microchips for domestic 
appliances and computers; memory chips for computers, iPods, flash memory sticks; liquid crystal displays (LCD) on electronic 
components and LCD televisions; cement; alloy wheels; gaming devices; automotive safety devices (airbags); aluminium foils; 
designer stainless steel kitchen ware; stainless steel automotive components; soaps and washing powders; fluoride toothpaste, 
fluoride tablets and fluoride dental treatment.

Pelchem's Growth Strategy focuses on growing the turnover of current products and the customer base, in addition to introducing 
new products and new customers to the business. A particular focus is on South America and Asia.

During the 2013 financial year, Pelchem has continued to serve international markets whilst meeting the demands of the local 
market. Pelchem’s revenue in terms of its product portfolio is reflected in the following graph:

Revenue per product type

Pelchem’s manufacturing capabilities and production facilities are operated under patented, trade secret or trademark protection 
and give the Company unique recognition across its product value chain.

Intellectual Property 
Pelchem’s current intellectual property portfolio consists of four trademarks, five well-managed trade secrets and ten families of 
patents.

Responsible Care
Pelchem continued to fulfil its public pledge of responsible care. The outcome of this is evident in the environmental, occupational 
and social responsibilities reported below.

Air Pollution Compliance
Due to the presence of HF and fluorine gas, all chemical processes at Pelchem are scheduled processes and are licensed, and 
adherence to statutory safety, health and environmental requirements is mandatory. Compliance with Air Pollution Permits during 
the 2012/13 financial year was in excess of 98% as per the target set.
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Personnel and Transformation Responsibility
The Pelchem Group has a total staff complement of 164 of whom 14.6% are women and 65.8% are previously disadvantaged 
individuals. The staff complement remained stable in the reporting period with turnover below 5%. Pelchem managed to retain the 
core skills necessary to operate its highly specialised plants. In line with its strategic priority to develop capacity, Pelchem provided 
career development opportunities to 23 interns, four of whom were from the Necsa Skills Development Centre. 

Integrated Internal SHEQ Audit
Pelchem completed its fourth integrated internal SHEQ audit in July 2012, achieving an overall compliance in excess of 80%. 
Pelchem is working with Necsa Property Management to address challenges associated with building maintenance in addition to 
production-related housekeeping excellence.

Behaviour-based Safety
Health and safety is managed through the Necsa Safety, Health and Environment (SHE) Policies and with the aid of the Pelchem 
Eliminating Accidents and Risks of Life (PEARL) Programme. The Group achieved an average BST Process Index Score in excess of 
90% for the reporting period. Special attention is being given to barrier removal and the quality of observations. The DIIR decreased 
to 1.9 (2011/12: 2.7) due to concerted efforts to promote safe working. The TIR in the same period was 5.2 against a target of 6.0.

Training
A Memorandum of Agreement was signed between the CHIETA and Pelchem to jointly develop skills in this industry. Pelchem 
received a grant of R746,700 from the CHIETA to provide workplace experience and training for six apprentices, five interns and 
eight engineers. Pelchem supported Necsa learnerships by providing exposure and working experience to artisans and technicians 
in its operating plants and compulsory vacation work to university undergraduate engineering students. 

In addition to the statutory training provided according to regulatory requirements, Pelchem has placed increased focus on the 
continuous improvement of its biggest asset, its people. Skills training focused on formal courses as well as informal workplace 
training in work procedures. Pelchem’s training investment in 2012/13 was maintained at a level exceeding 2.47% of turnover 
and confirmed the priority allocated to people development.

Economic Responsibility

Quality
Pelchem underwent a successful surveillance audit by the South African Bureau of Standards (SABS) in October 2012, and 
retained its ISO 9001:2008 accreditation.

Information Technology
Pelchem contracts its IT services from Necsa and thus makes use of the Necsa infrastructure. Pelchem commenced with the 
upgrade and modernisation of its ICT infrastructure and capability, which will ensure that it remains aligned with its global customers.

Customer Satisfaction
In the last quarter of 2012, Pelchem performed a Customer Satisfaction Survey among its top 26 customers (nine international 
and 17 domestic) who account for more than 80% of its sales. An average satisfaction score of 91% was recorded for the top four 
customers and >80% satisfaction for 86% of the 26 customers surveyed.

Operating Activities
The financial year ending 31 March 2013 was in many respects a challenge for Pelchem. The decline of the global manufacturing 
sector and the continuously increasing cost of manufacturing in South Africa negatively impacted on Pelchem’s financial performance, 
resulting in below target achievements and a net loss of R21 million.

During the year, Pelchem maintained its business in South America in partnership with the Brazilian company, Usiquimica. The 
volume of 70% HF sold to Brazil was 10% lower than in the previous financial year. South America remains an important growth 
area for Pelchem, and the Company expanded its business to Argentina through Shell International. 
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Pelchem remains the sole supplier of Anhydrous Hydrofluoric Acid (AHF) and 70% HF to the South African market and has actively 
embarked on supporting new projects aimed at HF utilisation, particularly in the tantalite and titanium sectors.

The HF production for 2012/13 was 4,006 tons (2011/12: 4,659 tons). The HF plant life extension and production optimisation 
programmes have proven to be of exceptional value, but problems with raw material supply impacted negatively on production targets.

Pelchem recorded its highest turnover ever in sales of cylinder F2. The Company regained some of the market share of xenon 
difluoride (XeF2) which it lost in 2010/11 and delivered the biggest annual sale volumes in the history of this product although, 
due to slow uptake by a major technology partner, the product did not meet its original sales target. Surface Fluorination had a 
record year, achieving the highest sales (R13.9 million) in the history of this technology.

LESA's sales volumes of NF3 were close to budget and met the volume/price conditions of the exclusive distribution agreement 
with Linde AG. NF3 is used in the photovoltaic (PV) solar industry as well as the semi-conductor industry. Despite good export 
performance, Pelchem will have to improve the cost-efficiency of NF3 production and increase its production volumes to counteract 
price pressure from large international producers. The strategic relationship with Linde AG should allow Pelchem to achieve the 
above targets by 2014.

Significant progress was made on FEI activities, with focus on the R&D work supported by a grant from the DST. 2011/12 was 
the last year of the first grant, but the DST awarded Pelchem a second three-year grant to the value of R48 million following the 
positive outcome of an independent review of the impact and relevance of the FEI outputs. Work on the design and construction 
of the multipurpose fluorination pilot plant (MFPP) – also funded by a DST grant – is close to completion.

Overall, Pelchem achieved external sales of R178 million (2011/12: R186.1 million). This can be attributed to international market 
factors. Pelchem is continuing its Growth Strategy through smart partnerships and by developing and launching new products, 
and growing its market share of existing products.

Strategic Initiatives
Pelchem will continue to drive excellence and growth in the future. The prospects for improvement in the global manufacturing 
sector in the year ahead are improving and the Company has built strategic partnerships geared for growth and maintained high 
levels of customer satisfaction to ensure that it can benefit from the projected upturn. Future plans for the Company include a 
Growth and Diversification Strategy with equity partners, leading to direct investment in the Company. 

Current initiatives in line with this strategy are the following:

Partnership with Linde Electronics
A strategic highlight for Pelchem during the 2012/13 financial year was the agreement with Linde AG's Electronics Division to grow 
XeF2 sales and applications globally. Linde Electronics strengthened its material support for electronics manufacturing through 
this strategic partnership to accelerate the development of Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems (MEMS), which are miniaturised 
electro-mechanical elements and are widely used in many mobile and automotive applications. MEMS are seen as key building 
blocks for machine-to-machine (M2M) communications which will drive the next semiconductor growth wave. 

XeF2 is a critical material used in the manufacture of MEMS. Pelchem has the largest share of the global XeF2 market. Linde’s 
customers include the world’s leading electronic device manufacturers. The agreement between the two companies enables them 
to take the lead in material supply for the world’s MEMS market. 

The global MEMS market is set to grow at a compound annual growth rate of 13% to 2017, driven largely by advancements in 
M2M communications. These include biomedical applications where the ability to transport fluids on a microscopic scale will 
enhance tasks such as drug delivery and blood analysis. 
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Ketlaphela 
Pelchem’s has continued with the implementation of its flagship project, Ketlaphela, to locally manufacture Anti-Retroviral medicines 
(ARVs) and medicines for other diseases (such as tuberculosis, malaria, diabetes and hypertension) for the South African and the 
SADC markets. The project will involve new partners and includes primary and secondary manufacturing. Ketlaphela will be funded 
by capital investments in excess of R1.6 billion by various state institutions, including the Industrial Development Corporation, 
Pelchem and other partners which are currently being sourced to replace Lonza, which made a strategic decision to exit. 

Ketlaphela will reduce the country’s dependence on imported drugs and will provide security of supply of priority drugs and stable 
pricing with less sensitivity to exchange rates. 

ARECSA Human Capital SOC Ltd
ARECSA was established in 2007 as a vehicle to provide nuclear skills to benefit mainly previously disadvantaged South Africans, 
using funds from the dti National Industrial Participation (NIP) programme. In the four years preceding February 2012, over 
500 people were trained in the South African nuclear industry using NIP funds gained from defence procurement-related counter 
trade off-sets. However, the NIP funding sources continued to decline, with several obligors feeling less encouraged by the newly 
revised levels of NIP programme off-set credits granted to companies with counter trade obligation. A proposal by ARECSA to create 
a more favourable environment to attract obligors through the review of the off-set credits offered by the NIP programme for training 
was unsuccessful. the dti’s NIP programme was intended as the main source of funding for development of skills for the South 
African nuclear industry through ARECSA in collaboration with AREVA and other training service providers in the nuclear industry.

Due to financial challenges facing ARECSA, the decision was taken by ARECSA’s shareholders, Necsa and AREVA, to temporarily 
make ARECSA dormant with effect from 01 April 2012 until other sources of funding for training can be found. 
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Economic Sustainability

Strategy and Performance
The Strategy and Performance Division is responsible for the integrated development and implementation of a coherent strategy 
to achieve Group business, social and environmental objectives and to satisfy Necsa's mandate as South Africa’s primary nuclear 
research institution. Performance is evaluated against predetermined objectives and key indicators as agreed with the Minister 
of Energy. The Division supports a range of Necsa Group activities, including risk management, business planning, intellectual 
property and knowledge management.

Strategy Development and Participation in National Nuclear Initiatives
Necsa participated in the Department of Energy’s (DoE’s) processes to prepare for the planned South African Nuclear Energy 
Expansion Programme, specifically in the working group performing the Integrated Nuclear Infrastructure Review (INIR) in 
accordance with IAEA guidelines. It also participated in various Nuclear Energy Technical Committee sub-working groups. 

Necsa continued with pre-feasibility studies in collaboration with international partners to evaluate options and models for the 
establishment of nuclear fuel facilities in support of the future South African power reactor fleet. An important milestone in this 
regard was the completion of the first draft of a business case for the establishment of the front end of the nuclear fuel cycle on 
an industrial scale in South Africa.

Regular discussions continued with key South African nuclear sector players on mechanisms for increased local content in the 
New Build Programme, including the localisation of fuel fabrication for the future nuclear power plant fleet.

Building on work performed during the previous financial year, Necsa undertook further studies for the DST on a proposed National 
Nuclear Energy Research, Development and Innovation Strategy. At the request of the DST, Necsa also facilitated participation by 
South African institutions in projects of the Euratom Seventh Framework Programme for Research.

Group Performance Management
The Group implemented performance management processes to manage and report on its performance in terms of its predetermined 
goals and objectives, as reflected elsewhere in this Integrated Annual Report. All required performance reports were successfully 
prepared and submitted to the Accounting Authority and the Executive Authority according to compliance requirements.

Intellectual Property and Strategic Knowledge Management
The Office of Technology Transfer (OTT) conducted regular Intellectual Property (IP) Steering Committee meetings regarding all 
processes relating to existing and new patents, evaluation of innovation disclosures. Frequent engagements were undertaken with 
counterpart OTTs at South African universities and research organisations, and regular liaison was maintained with the National 
Intellectual Property Management Organisation (NIPMO). 

Strategic Business Development Support
Support was rendered to various divisions, Pelchem and NTP regarding the development of potential business opportunities and 
the compilation of business plans and funding proposals, all aimed at the expansion of Necsa’s commercial portfolio. 

Financial Risk and Information Technology Management
Resources were allocated to support Necsa’s strategic objectives and priorities in terms of the following:

Financial
• Developing an Integrated Financial Strategy and model;
• Assisting in the implementation of Necsa’s strategy by quantifying operational intentions and interpreting the financial 

implications thereof;
• Providing the required analysis and information for decision making; and
• Implementing cost control measures to ensure budget adherence, optimisation and prioritisation.

Financial Risk and Governance
• Reviewing, improving and maintaining financial controls, policies and procedures to comply with relevant regulations and 

guidelines;
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• Producing Financial Statements in compliance with Treasury Guidelines, SA GAAP, PFMA, the Companies Act and other 

relevant legislation and practices; and
• Developing and implementing a Financial Risk Framework to prevent fruitless expenditure, inappropriate exposure to risks 

and reckless use or application of resources.

Systems and Controls
• Implementation and appropriate systems and controls to ensure Necsa Group Compliance with all internal policies and 

procedures; and
• Relevant legislation and regulations with regard to the financial, information technology (IT), and property management 

environment.

Supply Chain Management
• Developing policies and procedures for various aspects of the supply chain management process;
• Managing compliance with all relevant legislation, internal policies and procedures and codes of good practice; and
• Providing contract management and financial advisory support.

Information Systems
• Providing information and communication technology systems and infrastructure to meet Necsa's business requirements;
• Maintaining and improving policies and procedures in compliance with relevant regulations;
• Ensuring proper governance through the implementation and maintenance of the IT Governance Framework; and
• Ensuring the confidentiality, integrity and availability of Necsa systems and information.

Business Indicators

Purchases
Necsa Group purchases amounted to R773 million, reflecting a 16.2% decrease compared to the previous reporting period. This 
resulted mainly from budget curtailments and downscaling, and the implementation of stricter financial controls. The top ten 
suppliers, their products and the amounts spent (as a percentage of total purchases) are tabled below:

Top 10 Suppliers for the Necsa Group

Supplier Product/service rendered R'000 %

1 Institut National Des Radioele 99Mo isotopes 96,523 12.49

2 Areva-Cerca Radiation material and equipment 74,079 9.59

3 Eskom Electricity 51,673 6.69

4 ANSTO 99Mo 46,341 6.00

5 National Nuclear Regulator Nuclear licensing 28,070 3.63

6 Vergenoeg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd Raw materials 23,062 2.99

7 Sasol Oil Fuel Marketing (Pty) Ltd Fuel 17,069 2.21

8 Siemens Limited Healthcare Medical equipment 9,979 1.29

9 Protea Industrial Chemicals Chemicals 9,481 1.23

10 Lektratek Water Technology Civil construction 7,698 1.00
Total 363,975 47.11

Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment
In compliance with the Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE) Act, No. 53 of 2003, Necsa endeavours to foster 
business relationships with companies that include black participation within their organisational structures. Necsa’s Policy for 
Preferential Procurement from BBBEE companies is based on the dti Codes of Good Practice.

BBBEE Spend
At the end of the reporting period, 1,066 suppliers were registered on the Necsa Group database, 6.94% less than the previous 
reporting period. Despite the drop in the total number of registered suppliers, 583 are BBBEE-rated suppliers versus 448 in the 
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previous reporting period. Purchases from BBBEE suppliers accounted for R203.1 million of the Necsa Group procurement spend 
(excluding foreign orders), as indicated in the table below:

Procurement Spend on BBBEE Companies

Total
2013

Total
2012

Orders Suppliers Value Orders Suppliers Value

No. of orders 7,940 583 R203.1 million 8,202 448 R264.8 million

% of total orders 63.34% 54.69% 75.58% 50.85% 39.30 % 64.38%

Necsa BBBEE Ratings
The annual BBBEE evaluation process was undertaken by an independent agency, accredited by the South African National 
Accreditation System (SANAS). All subsidiary companies within the Group apply the Necsa Group rating except for NTP Radioisotopes, 
NTP Logistics and AEC-Amersham which are accredited separately.

Necsa Group
The Necsa Group evaluation improved from a Level 5 to a Level 4 contributor with a BBBEE procurement recognition level of 
100%. The Necsa Group was designated as a value-adding enterprise. Areas that require improvement in the future relate mainly 
to management, employment equity, skills development and enterprise development. The Group performed well in terms of 
preferential procurement and social-economic development.

Necsa
Necsa was assessed as a Level 6 contributor with a BBBEE procurement recognition level of 60%. Necsa is designated as a 
value-adding supplier. Improvement is required in the areas of management, employment equity and skills development and 
enterprise development. Necsa performed well in preferential procurement and socio-economic development.

NTP, NTP Logistics and AEC-Amersham
NTP was assessed as a Level 5 contributor. Enterprise development and employment equity were identified as areas for improvement 
in the future. NTP Logistics and AEC-Amersham achieved ratings of a Level 1 and Level 4 respectively.

Other Subsidiary Companies
All other subsidiary companies apply the Necsa Group scorecard.

Information Technology Indicators

IT Governance
During the period under review, the Board approved the IT Governance Framework. Compliance and accountability will be monitored 
and reported at the IT Steering Committee level and through the performance of Board level assessments. 

Management has taken the necessary steps to align its IT Governance Framework with the King III requirements in terms of:

• Executive responsibility for IT;
• The creation of a Chief Information Officer role within Necsa;
• The appointment of an IT Steering Committee;
• The alignment of IT to the business objectives; and
• Monitoring of IT risks.

IT Projects Completed 
The e-mail system was upgraded to Exchange 2010 during the year. This upgrade provides improved functionality such as built-in 
archiving and better management of storage space.
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Nuclear Compliance Services

Nuclear Installation Licences (NILs)
The NNR has issued a total of 41 Nuclear Installation Licences (NILs) to Necsa. As required by the Regulator, the NILs have 
been translated into Afrikaans and Setswana for display in the facilities together with the original English versions. New revisions 
of NILs are translated as they are received. The status of compliance with NNR requirements, as laid out in the NILs, is checked 
on an annual basis and reported to the NNR.

NNR Approval Requests
The majority of Necsa's operations, procedures and practices are governed by licensing requirements from the NNR. Requests 
for approval are submitted by Necsa to the NNR and the NNR grants its approval once all requirements are met and assured. 
The following table summarises requests and approvals:

Activity 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

Number of submissions to the NNR 60 80 95 60 90

Number of approvals (including submissions 
made previously)

28 4 26 24 35

Number of submissions awaiting approval by 
the NNR

133 113 98 70 78

By closing obsolete/redundant submissions in co-operation with the NNR and prioritising other submissions, the authorisation rate 
has continued to improve. On a running year average the NNR has met 97% of the targets and Necsa 100%. 

Project SHEQ Approval Process
Projects, including modifications to existing as well as new installations, are subject to the Necsa Project Safety, Health, Environment 
and Quality (SHEQ) Approval Process to ensure compliance with the Necsa SHEQ system and applicable legislation. The process 
followed for the Project SHEQ Approval Process is improved continuously. The status of the process is summarised in the following 
table:

Activity 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

Approval meetings held 42 58 75 64 100

Projects approved/replaced/cancelled 72* 131 50 55 54

* Includes 26 ‘Replaced’ checklists (due to requests for revised expiry dates or changes to project requirements) and 24 ‘Cancelled’ projects.

Safeguards and Nuclear Non-Proliferation
Safeguards and Nuclear Non-Proliferation activities were performed on behalf of the South African government, in accordance 
with the DoE delegated functions under the Nuclear Energy Act (No. 46 of 1999), to meet the obligations of the Comprehensive 
Safeguards Agreement and the Additional Protocol thereto signed in 1991 and 2002 respectively between South Africa and the 
International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA). This is required in terms of the Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT) which was acceded 
to by South Africa in 1991. 

South Africa continued to maintain the broader conclusion drawn by the IAEA that all nuclear material remained in peaceful 
activities and that they found no indication of the diversion of declared nuclear material from peaceful purposes and no indication 
of undeclared nuclear material or activities in the country for 2012. 

The annual Physical Inventory Verification (PIV) of nuclear material was concluded in August and October 2012 and gave a positive 
conclusion on the effectiveness of the State System of Accounting and Control (SSAC) for nuclear material and South Africa’s 
compliance with its international safeguards obligations.

Progress was made in measuring the Thabana inventory using the IQ3 Drum Scanner, with about 25,000 drums containing LEU 
waste being declared and verified by the IAEA to date.
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On-going interactions between IAEA management officials and Safeguards Personnel were held to discuss safeguards-related 
matters such as addressing the Thabana inventory resolution, the IAEA’s development of the State Level Concept and progress 
updates on Necsa nuclear fuel cycle-related research and development activities. 

The Safeguards department is represented in the Non-Proliferation Council of Weapons of Mass Destruction and its Committees 
appointed by the Minister of Trade and Industry to provide inputs on safeguards related matters.

Standing Advisory Group for Safeguards Implementation
The Standing Advisory Group for Safeguards Implementation (SAGSI) reports directly to the Director-General of the IAEA. South 
Africa is represented on SAGSI and participated in two working group and two plenary meetings. Amongst other things, advice 
was provided by SAGSI during the year on:

• The project for evolving the State-level concept;
• The conceptual framework for the IAEA safeguards system;
• Development of elements of the State Level Concept;
• Guidelines for addressing high purity uranium ore concentrates; and
• Structure and content of future Safeguards Implementation Reports (SIRs).

Additional Protocol
Various mines, uranium concentration plants and private companies were inspected to ensure compliance with safeguards 
requirements during the period. The annual additional protocol declarations were submitted to the IAEA in May 2012 as per the 
requirements of the agreement with the IAEA.

Remote Monitoring System
The remote monitoring systems installed at key facilities in the country have functioned well over the period, with no reported 
downtime.

Member State Support Programme 
The South African Member State Support Programme (MSSP) accepted two additional MSSP tasks which relate to the ‘Geological 
Repository on ASTOR Group of Experts’ and the ‘IAEA Safeguards Guidelines Reviews’. This means that South Africa is now 
responsible for five MSSP tasks in support of the IAEA. 

As part of the MSSP task relating to 'Experimental Investigation of the behaviour of trace elements in uranium containing ores or 
samples', South African samples were collected for contribution to the IAEA’s database.

Necsa participated in the Annual Review Meeting between the IAEA and the South African MSSP. 

Analytical and Calibration Services
Necsa’s Analytical and Calibration Services Department provides high quality analysis, measurement support and calibration 
services to nuclear and related industry customers that helps them monitor and comply with:

• The safety and health of their workers, the environment, and their surrounding communities;
• Nuclear, water, environmental management and air quality licence requirements;
• Validation criteria for development R&D processes and results; and
• SHEQ requirements on production processes and customers' product specifications. 

The extensive range of chemical, radio analytical, and instrument calibration services, facilities and expertise available within the 
Department have been uniquely customised to meet the specific needs of the nuclear, uranium mining, fluorine production and 
related industries in South Africa. Due to its unique capabilities and customised solutions the laboratories play a crucial role in 
the various value chains of Necsa, South African industries and government structures such as the Department of Water Affairs, 
the NNR and the DoE.
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Services 
The following services were provided in the 2012/13 financial year:

• Bio-monitoring of personnel through the analysis of uranium, tritium, actinides and fluorine in urine samples;
• Calibration of radiation measurement equipment for the radiation protection industry;
• Analysis of samples from work and natural environments for gross radioactivity, naturally occurring radioactive materials 

and heavy metals in waste and drinking water, soil, sludge, plants, animal tissue and geological materials;
• Certification of compliance with country of import restrictions on radioactivity and heavy element content in exported 

foodstuffs;
• Certification of uranium and impurity content of LEU fuel elements and target plates used for the production of medical 

radioisotopes; 
• Certification of radioisotope and radio-impurity content of medical radioisotopes for the world market;
• Analysis of a range of fluorine product compounds and trace impurities in 100% hydrogen fluoride (HF) (gas), 

concentrated sulphuric acid (H2SO4) and F2 (gas); and
• Sampling and analysis of chemical compounds in gas, including trace impurities, Freon (refrigerants), biogas and moisture.

An intensive market study was conducted to identify opportunities for providing more and improved services. Based on this, the 
products-and-services link on the Necsa website was improved and a central e-mail address were created (labservices@necsa.co.za) 
in October 2012. This has resulted in an increased number of enquiries regarding specialised services. 

Accreditation
The Analytical and Calibration Services laboratories are accredited for compliance by the South African National Accreditation 
Service (SANAS), and comply with the ISO 17025 standard for competence of testing and calibration laboratories. 

Institutional Contributions
South Africa agreed to establish a Radionuclide Laboratory (RL-14) complying with the strict requirements of the Comprehensive 
Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty Organisation (CTBTO). This laboratory will form part of the CTBTO's international network of measurement 
laboratories responsible for analysis of air samples.

An expert from the Preparatory Commission of the CTBTO completed a pre-certification visit in February 2013, prior to undertaking 
a full certification assessment in September 2013. Once certified, South Africa will formally become part of the international network 
of radionuclide laboratories supporting the fast and accurate tracking of nuclear weapons tests across the globe.

Environmental Sustainability

Decommissioning and Decontamination
Decommissioning and decontamination activities during the financial year were carried out as planned. The NNR approved the 
Decommissioning Strategy and Plan for the new conversion facility. The Phase 2 decommissioning of Area 40 progressed well and 
is expected to be completed during the last quarter of 2013. A total of 636 batches were processed for decontamination. 98% of 
the material presented for decontamination was cleared through regulatory control. 

Nuclear Waste Projects
Necsa has approximately 6,000 m3 of compressible low level waste. In order to minimise the volume of this waste, Necsa is in the 
process of establishing a Volume Reduction Facility. The volume reduction treatment process will result in a reduction in waste 
volume of approximately 70% – 80%.

The construction and installation of the Volume Reduction Facility progressed well, with various site acceptance tests having been 
performed. The facility is now in its final stages of construction and tests have been performed on the drum press, the liquid effluent 
handling system and the drum conveyer system. Some of the automated processes have also been tested and found to operate 
satisfactorily. The Volume Reduction Facility will be fully automated once completed and is expected to become operational in 2014.
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Liquid Effluent Management

Liquid Effluent Treatment
The discharge of industrial and low active effluent into the Crocodile River was well contained and within statutory limits as follows:

Q1
(2012)
Apr–Jun

Q2
(2012)
Jul–Sep

Q3
(2012)
Oct–Dec

Q4
(2013)
Jan–Mar

YTD
Apr 12–Mar 13

Industrial effluent (m3) 31,308.0 24,559.0 30,921 37,124 123,912

Low active effluent (m3) 1,326.5 1,364.5 1,978.2 1,328.4 5,997.6

Total effluent discharged into the 
Crocodile River (m3) 32,634.5 25,923.5 32,899.2 38,452.4 129,909

Dose impact (µS) * 1.6880 1.9641 1.3448 1.0949 6.0918

* Authorised Dose Impact = 150 µSv per annum; ≈37.5 µSv per quarter (12.5 µSv per month)

This reflects an improvement in every area over the previous reporting period.

Medium Active (MA) Effluent Processing and Treatment 

Q1
(2012)
Apr–Jun

Q2
(2012)
Jul–Sep

Q3
(2012)
Oct–Dec

Q4
(2013)
Jan–Mar

YTD
Apr 12–Mar 13

MA received (m3) 123 110 83 129 445

MA evaporated (low salt) (m3) 129 132 89 114 464*

Concentrate solidified (m3) 3.97 4.78 3.92 0.787 13.47

No. of 100  drums solidified 
(each) 100 119 98 20 337

Note: * This includes ±20 m3 of historical concentrate that was re-worked (evaporated)

Approximately 93 m3 of accumulated concentrate requires solidification. This will result in a further ± 2,325 drums of solidified 
radioactive waste, and it is estimated that this will take approximately 18 months of routine operation of the evaporator. 

Nuclear Waste Storage and Transportation
Nuclear waste from various points of origin was collected and safely stored at Necsa during the review period as follows: 

Type Origin Storage area No. received 2012/13
Cumulative Total at 

31 March 2013
Drums Facilities on Necsa site 

and external clients
Pelstore and Area 21 1,600 received

612 (transported to 
and disposed of at 
Vaalputs)

55,941
3,691 (transported 
to and disposed of at 
Vaalputs)

Spent fuel elements SAFARI-1 storage pool Thabana Pipe Store 59 received 830

Spent sealed 
radioactive sources

Clients throughout South 
Africa, specifically the 
healthcare sector

Area-24 Source Store 508 6,724

Smoke detectors Clients throughout South 
Africa

Area-24 Source Store 2,302 21,083

A total of 612 metal waste packages were transported to Vaalputs for disposal. The cumulative total of metal waste packages 
disposed of at Vaalputs as at 31 March 2013 was 3,691. 
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Nuclear Waste Disposal
Necsa continued to manage Vaalputs on behalf of the National Radioactive Waste Disposal Institute (NRWDI) in accordance with 
the mandate issued by the Department of Energy. Waste shipments to Vaalputs were reinstated in November 2012.

One consignment consisting of 120 waste packages containing low level waste was received from Koeberg for final disposal. Three 
consignments, each consisting of 204 waste packages containing low level waste in metal drums, were received from Necsa for 
final disposal. The cumulative total of waste packages disposed of as at 31 March 2013 was 22,824.

Results of personnel monitoring, radiological surveillances of facilities and equipment and environmental monitoring were all 
within regulatory limits.

Vaalputs maintained its ISO 9001:2008 and ISO 14001:2004 certification status during the 2012/13 financial year. The NNR 
conducted its nuclear licence compliance inspections on a quarterly basis. The annual SHEQ audit was conducted in September 2012. 
The Disabling Injury Incident Rate (DIIR) for Vaalputs increased from 0 in the previous reporting period to 4.5 and Vaalputs 
38,591 man-hours were worked without disabling injury.

Necsa continued to manage Vaalputs on behalf of the National Radioactive Waste Disposal Institute (NRWDI) in accordance with 
the mandate issued by the Department of Energy. Vaalputs was issued with a new nuclear installation license (NIL28) and is 
currently in the process of implementing the license requirements.

Following an NNR inspection in April 2012, the NNR issued a directive to suspend waste shipments to Vaalputs. A nuclear 
occurrence was registered. This was a regulatory occurrence, which was investigated, and corrective and preventive actions were 
implemented. The suspension of the waste shipments to Vaalputs was lifted in November 2012.

As a result of the suspension mentioned above, only one consignment consisting of 120 waste packages containing low level 
waste was received from Koeberg for final disposal. Three consignments consisting each of 204 waste packages containing low 
level waste in metal drums were received from Necsa for final disposal. 

Vaalputs maintained the ISO 9001:2008 and ISO 14001:2004 certification status during the 2012/13 financial year.

Environmental Monitoring Programme
A comprehensive Environmental Monitoring Programme is in place to meet the requirements of the Air Quality Act, No. 39 of 
2004, the Nuclear Energy Act, No. 46 of 1999, the National Environmental Management Act, No. 107 of 1998, and the National 
Water Act, No. 36 of 1998. Resource usage, waste generation, and impacts on media and ecology are monitored and illustrated 
in the following sections. 

Water

Compliance with Water Permit Requirements
Water compliance is measured against the current water permit (permit no. 1874B) which was issued to Necsa in 1999 and a 
directive which was issued in 2005. Due to the poor quality of River Water, Necsa was compelled to move to the use of Rand 
Water for all its functions and in 2009 submitted an application to the Department of Water Affairs to increase its permit amount. 
As yet this has not been forthcoming.

Water Consumption
The following table reflects the water consumption for the period April 2012–March 2013.

Resource Amount (m3) Permitted amount (m3) % of permitted amount % change year on year

Rand Water 739,326 400,000 184.8 (6.2)

River Water 143,270 840,000 17.1 32.2

Borehole 0 9,490 0 0

Total 882,596 1,249,490 71.2 (1.6)
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Water Effluent
The following table reflects the effluent generated between October 2011 and September 2012. The figures for October 2012 to 
September 2013 will be released in the last quarter of 2013 when the Water Permit is due.

Effluent released to Volume (m3) Permit limit (m3) % of permitted quantity

Crocodile River 134,573 250,000 53.8

PE Pans 1–5 16,330 19,000 85.9

Pan 6 161 8,500 1.9

Pan 9 2,423 15,000 16.2

PE Pans 7,8 438 4,500 9.7

Total 153,925 297,000 51.8

Air

Compliance with Air Permit Requirements
The total fluoride emissions for the period April 2012 to March 2013 were 1,688 kg, which were slightly higher (9 kg) than the 
previous year (1,679 kg). The monthly site limit was not exceeded during the period and the total fluoride emissions (at 21.5%) 
were well within the annual permit constraints of 7,850 kg/year.

Environment

Compliance with Environmental Requirements of the Nuclear Licence
There were no nuclear occurrences relating to environmental monitoring for the period 01 April 2012 to 31 March 2013. 

The modelled dose to the public, based on actual releases for the calendar year 2012, was 0.006 millisievert (mSv) for the liquid 
pathways of authorised releases to the Crocodile River and 0.003 mSv for gaseous releases, giving a total of 0.009 mSv. The 
previous year (2011) was 0.007 mSv and 0.002 mSv respectively for a total of 0.009 mSv. 

The data shows there is no significant dose impact to the environment due to Necsa’s activities.

The environmental monitoring programme at Vaalputs was in full compliance with sample reporting levels. No environmental 
nuclear occurrences were registered.

Electricity
The Pelindaba site electricity consumption for the reporting period April 2012 to March 2013 was 97.9 Gigawatt hour (GWh). The 
following table reflects usage over the past three reporting periods: 

Financial year Amount (GWh) % change year on year

2012/13 97.9 -2.3%

2011/12 100.2 -2.6%

2010/11 102.9 n/a

Energy Management
The progressive energy saving drives implemented have resulted in decreases in energy consumption and subsequently in 
cost savings for Necsa. The site electricity consumption for the reporting year was 97.9 GWh (100.2 GWh for the previous year) 
representing a reduction of 2.3 GWh (2.3%).

Following the lighting energy audit, which was conducted in collaboration with Eskom in 2011/12, Necsa is in the process of 
effecting recommendations which are projected to result in a R2 million per annum cost saving. During this reporting period 
buildings were completed.
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Social Sustainability

Stakeholder Management
Necsa’s stakeholder matrix, depicted on page 7 of this report, is regularly updated. Responsibility for the management of stakeholders 
is organisation-wide and certain functions are managed centrally.

Stakeholder Relations

Increasing Public Knowledge and Changing Perceptions of the Nuclear Industry 
The Necsa Visitor Centre, inaugurated in 2011, remains an invaluable asset in terms of increasing public understanding and 
knowledge of the nuclear sector.

Events
During the past year the following events were held:

• Casual Day;
• Wellness Day;
• World AIDS Day;
• National Science Week;
• Necsa Women’s Day Celebration;
• ‘Om Die Dam’ Marathon Water Point;
• Pensioner Day;
• Tracker Men in the Making;
• Cell C Take a Girl Child to Work;
• South African Blood Transfusion Services (quarterly blood donations); and
• Institute for Futures Research Presentation to Necsa.

Pelindaba Public Safety Information Forum
The Pelindaba Public Safety Information Forum (PSIF) was established by Necsa, in accordance with the Department of Minerals 
and Energy Regulation No. 26112 as promulgated in the Government Gazette of 12 March 2004, as part of the National Nuclear 
Regulatory Act, No. 47 of 1999. As the holder of a nuclear licence, it is required that forum meetings be held on a quarterly basis 
with members of the community who live within a 5 km radius of a nuclear facility. The Chairperson and Deputy-Chairperson are 
independently appointed by the NNR, with Necsa as the licence holder providing the secretariat for the meeting.

The forum facilitates interaction with community members and keeps stakeholders informed of developments and safety matters. 
These forums are scheduled every quarter, on Saturday mornings at the Necsa Visitor Centre and were attended as follows:
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Public Participation
During the year, Necsa hosted numerous visitors from across the globe. These included the Deputy Minister of Mineral Resources, 
the Deputy Minister of Public Enterprises, the Department of Health Ministerial Task Team and the Director-General of IAEA. 
Post-graduate students from Durban University of Technology, the University of the Witwatersrand and the University of Pretoria 
also visited Necsa facilities. These visits included tours of the SAFARI-1 Reactor, NTP Radioisotopes, waste disposal facilities and 
Pelchem plants.

Visitor Type in 2012

Since the opening of Necsa Visitor Centre in March 2011, 20,148 people have visited the Centre. In addition to tours, the facilities 
are made available to Necsa staff for meetings. To date, 322 meetings or special events have taken place at the Centre and have 
been attended by 4,947 people.

Special Events
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National Science Week
The 2012 National Science Week was again a success with about 3,000 participants reached during the focus week. Activities 
have increased and improved in quality, with many repeat visits from previous participants. The new attraction in 2012 was the 
renewable energy exhibition, in collaboration with the French government, which was displayed in the Visitor Centre. The figure 
below illustrates the progressive growth in National Science Week participants since 2007.

National Science Week at Necsa

NVC Attendance by Month

About half of the participants during National Science Week were learners, with the remainder being public participants, reflecting 
a good balance in public reach. Due to Necsa's location, half the participants were from townships in the area, and one third were 
black. Reaching village communities remains a challenge, as most require transport sponsorship to reach Necsa.
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Corporate Social Investment

CSI Policy
The Corporate Social Investment (CSI) Policy has been finalised and is awaiting approval by Management. This Policy will help 
Necsa to improve the implementation of proposed initiatives. 

Necsa
During 2012, two students completed their artisan training and two more are ready to do their trade tests. This will bring the total 
number of students who have completed their studies to six out of the initial 13. A programme which assists students to adapt to 
new environments would improve this result.

Cell C’s Take a Girl Child to Work project is a countrywide initiative, which seeks to expose girls to careers available in the work 
environment. Necsa hosted 20 learners from the Central Secondary School in Brits.

Necsa participated for the first time in the Men in the Making programme in 2012. This is an initiative by Tracker and is supported 
by Metro FM, Shout SA and Corporate SA. The concept aims to help boys to face the challenges of life. Necsa hosted 13 boys 
from Pretoria West High School.

During Casual Day, Necsa continued to support Meerhof School and Zodwa Special School for mentally and physically disabled children.

Emergency Services
Emergency Services serves not only Necsa, but also the community in the vicinity of Necsa’s site. The Department reacted to the 
following emergency calls:

Type of call
Necsa Public

Number of calls Number of patients 
transported Number of calls Number of patients 

transported

Fire 24 0 101 2

Vehicle accidents 0 0 95 68

Ambulance calls 12 10 174 90

Total 36 10 370 160

From the table it is clear that Necsa delivers a substantial service to the community.

National Science Week Demographics – 2012/13

3,500

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0

Outreach = 894
Public = 398
Teachers = 77

Learners = 1,641

Farm = 58
Township = 1,704

Suburb = 906
Village = 341

Indians = 27
Coloureds = 21
White = 460

Blacks = 2,487
Male = 1,655

Female = 1,360

Race Location Gender Other

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 2013 51



Necsa has a good relationship with local disaster management groups (Madibeng and Tshwane) and continued to conduct training 
programmes for these groups.

Necsa assisted the DoE with nuclear security and emergency services at the Africa Cup of Nations event during January and 
February 2013.

School Outreach Programme
The Necsa Visitor Centre staff accompanied Emergency Services staff to the Re-e-lwele Intermediate School, where safety measures 
were discussed. The visit was expanded to include some experiments with the assistance of the Necsa Skills Development Centre. 
This initiative reached 80 Grade 6–7 learners.

NTP
NTP focuses on the surrounding communities of Broederstroom and the Hartbeespoort area. In the period under review, NTP continued 
with a number of projects with its two adopted schools. At Ennis Thabong, a classroom was converted into a much-needed library. 
Personnel donated books and were involved in plastering walls, tiling floors, painting walls, putting up shelves, fitting burglar bars 
and repairing windows. The library was officially opened on Mandela Day, as the Company’s way of giving back to the community. 

In NTP’s endeavour to improve the learning experience at the school, computers were donated for the recently refurbished computer 
room. The IT Department dedicated hours of hard work towards making this a success.

Due to uncertainty about Re-e-Lwele school’s future, there was minimal involvement in terms of maintenance. 

Learners from both schools received school bags, and Grade 5 learners were taken to the Johannesburg Planetarium to enhance 
the learner’s understanding of the universe. 

NTP concluded a contract with the Drain Surgeon, a company responsible for removal of waste from septic tanks, to render 
services to both Ennis Thabong and Re-e-Lwele every three months. 

The annual eye testing took place at both schools. Corrective eyewear was prescribed for learners who were found to have problems, 
and this was sponsored by NTP. Attendees from both schools received basic first aid training.

NTP 'adopted' a third former Ennis Thabong pupil who now attends Hartbeespoort High School. School fees were paid at the 
beginning of the year for all three scholars and stationery, books and uniforms were purchased for all three.

Pathology tests were conducted via the Cancer Association of South Africa (CANSA) mobile clinic. Women were tested for breast 
and cervical cancer and men for prostate-specific antigen (PSA). 

In support of CANSA, NTP:

• Undertook the annual Ride for Hope – donating R20,000 through the Ride for Hope umbrella; 
• Sponsored two water points at the Lost City Cycle Challenge; and
• Supported the CANSA Shavathon by urging staff members to shave or paint their hair for a small fee and topped up the 

money raised to a total of R5,000.

Pelchem
Pelchem adopted the Meerhof School for disabled children as the beneficiary of its CSI initiatives. Numerous functions were held, 
and funding was provided for students to participate in national sporting events for disabled children. 

Media Liaison

Media Relations
The year under review saw the continued establishment of new relationships with various print and broadcast media to advance 
the nuclear industry. The nuclear sector received extensive positive publicity during the year due to constructive remarks by Deputy 
President Kgalema Motlanthe during the 2013 Nuclear Africa Conference. However, negative publicity resulted from Necsa's 
proposed smelter project, the continued Fukushima incident reports and the Necsa retrenchment process, reducing Necsa's 
reputation index to 58% in the first quarter of 2012.
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Advertising Value
The following national Advertising Value Equivalent figures for the period were provided by an independent media monitoring agent:

Quarter Online (Global) Broadcast (Local) Print (Local) Total

Q1 R9,600,873 R179,240 R4,917,054 R14,697,167

Q2 R2,712,834 – R243,545 R2,956,379

Q3 R969,074 – R162,546 R1,131,620

Q4 R1,709,423 R28,560 R58,370 R1,796,353

Total R20,581,519

Knowledge Management
The Knowledge Management Department experienced an increase in archival and digitisation activities after its reorganisation in 
the previous year. Several decentralised collections were added to the new Necsa Knowledge Management System.

The Department continued its interaction with the International Nuclear Information System (INIS) of the IAEA by scanning local 
publications for potential South African contributions to the database, and by supplying various information services related to 
the INIS System.

Good relations were maintained with other organisations in the library and information fields, and through the Department’s 
continued memberships of Sabinet, the Southern African Inter-lending Scheme and the North West Public Library System.

International Relations

Incoming and Outgoing International Visits
In the course of the 2012/13 financial year, International Relations monitored 129 outgoing international visits by 91 officials in 
which 31 countries were visited.
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Incoming International Delegations

IAEA and AFRA
The participation of Necsa staff members in IAEA and AFRA activities continued to grow. This included participation in IAEA 
consultative meetings and involvement in the Technical Co-operation Programme through training courses, scientific visits and 
workshops. 

A team of experts was involved in a number of consultancies and meetings at the IAEA and hosted a training course on the 
Borehole Disposal Concept for African countries in November 2012. 

Research Funding
In the course of the 2012/13 financial year, in excess of R5.28 million was raised for research purposes. Of this, 60% was dedicated 
to human capital development, 24% to the acquisition of research equipment, 6% to mobility, 4% to established researchers and 
6% to international collaboration. 

Security, Safety, Health, Environment and Quality

Security
The design basis threat (DBT) method is used to determine the type of security measures necessary for Necsa's facilities. In 
accordance with international best practice, security is achieved through the implementation of a number of security layers 
referred to as defence-in-depth. These layers are designed to counter the assessed threat and can be reviewed periodically as 
the threat changes. 

All facilities are categorised in line with IAEA standards, which provide the basis for a graded security approach. For example, 
stricter security is maintained in nuclear facilities in a high category to prevent unauthorised removal of nuclear material or 
potential sabotage.

Access Control of Employees and Visitors
The access control system is the first barrier in Necsa's defence-in-depth system. For efficient access control, security staff 
members must be well trained and able to handle the daily volumes of Necsa staff members and visitors who enter the facilities. 
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During the review period, there was a significant improvement in the access control and efficiency of security staff members, who 
are geared to meet the requirements for National Key Point (NKP) security.

The Joint Planning Committee
The Joint Planning Committee (JPC) was established to regulate the affairs of the NKP and to bring together various stakeholders 
such as the South African Police Service, State Security Agency, Necsa Security, Necsa Emergency Services, the Madibeng 
Community and the NNR. 

Four JPC meetings were held in the review period to co-ordinate and consolidate activities in accordance with the National Key 
Points Act, No. 102 of 1980. The annual NKP audit was conducted in August 2012 with an overall score of 98.13%.

Maintenance
The aging Necsa infrastructure no longer meets design operation expectations and poses a challenge in terms of maintenance. 
Preventive maintenance using a computerised maintenance management system (CMMS) has kept the availability of assets at 
close to 85%, which is acceptable in terms of maintenance best practice. Expenditure on maintenance amounted to R31,342,195. 
The long-term maintenance approach is to keep the maintenance backlog at acceptable levels and at the same time replace 
assets that are uneconomical to repair and maintain. It is critical that artisans and technicians are trained and developed in line 
with new maintenance principles to ensure improvement.

New Sewage Plant
In 2010, the need was identified to replace the aged sewage treatment plant. The design of the new plant was completed in 
September 2010 and construction work commenced in March 2011. 

By the end of March 2013, all civil work had been completed and only a few items remained on the mechanical and electrical 
snag list. The plant was commissioned on 19 March 2013 and the project was completed within budget, but with a three-month 
overrun on the target commissioning date.

Safety

Employee Safety (Occupational Hygiene)
Medical Services continued to conduct hazard identification and risk assessments (HIRAs), including surveys as per the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act, No. 85 of 1993. A total of 38 HIRAs and surveys were conducted during the financial year.

Behaviour-based Safety (BBS)
Necsa continued with its Behavioural Accident Prevention Process (BAPP®) under licence from Behavioural Science Technologies 
(BST®) (USA) and with the assistance of Behaviour Based Initiatives (BBI), a local BBS consultant. This process uses trained 
observers to identify at-risk behaviours (i.e. behaviours that could result in a person being injured) and barriers to safe behaviour 
and to remove these barriers to prevent injuries. 

The BBS process has made a positive contribution to safety at Necsa, resulting in an improvement of Necsa’s Total Injury Rate 
(TIR) from 4.8 in March 2012 to 3.48 in March 2013. The TIR includes all injuries to personnel, including minor injuries. Over 
approximately the same period the % Safe Indicator (which is an indication of the safe behaviours observed combined with an 
indicator of the BBS activity) declined from 94.6% to 89%. 
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Necsa: All Processes

The following table provides related BBS statistics as well as a comparison with those of previous years:

Apr–Jun 
2009

Jul–Sept 
2009

Oct–Dec 
2009

Jan–Mar 
2010

Apr 2010–
Mar 2011

Apr 2011–
Mar 2012

Apr 2012–
Mar 2013

Trained observers 1,614 1,661 1,689 1,708 1,799 1,804 1,552

Number of 
observations

4,029 4,506 4,058 4,510 18,285 17,904 11,920

Number of contacts 5,269 5,879 5,857 6,015 24,508 25,679 21,332

Number of barriers 
removed

978 930 763 975 3,896 3,519 2,411

Event Management Process 
No major events relating to environmental, public or worker exposure occurred during 2012/13. Necsa’s Management is committed 
to providing the required resources to ensure that any event is investigated and closed out in a timely manner, thus ensuring that 
preventative actions are implemented effectively. As a result, an improvement has been noted through an audit process conducted 
during the review period. In the same period, a process commenced to review, update and undertake a comparative study using 
dedicated software.

Health

Medical Surveillance Programme
By the end of the reporting period, 1,650 workers were registered as occupationally exposed and were subjected to formal 
medical surveillance and healthcare programmes. Pre-employment, periodic and exit medicals were conducted for Necsa, NTP 
and Pelchem employees. 

Employee Assistance Programme
During the period under review, engagement in the Employee Wellness Programme was 8.7% compared to 14.7% in the previous 
year. Individual usage of core counselling and advisory services constituted 7.3% (2011/12: 10.7%). The most frequently utilised 
service was professional counselling, which represented 61.5% of total engagement.
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HIV/AIDS Programme
Medical Services continued to support Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) positive employees, and 0.76% of employees are 
currently registered with the HIV/Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) Programme. Treatment and care are provided in 
collaboration with employees' medical aids.

Emergencies

Emergency Exercises
Six successful Necsa site emergency exercises were held during the year, where minor deficiencies were identified and an 
action plan to correct these deficiencies was compiled. Four audits/inspections of Emergency Services by the NNR identified six 
deficiencies that were registered as nuclear occurrences.

Security Exercises
During the year, a hostage scenario was carried out involving national hostage negotiators, special task forces, local protection 
authorities and Necsa's response team. Amongst other things the exercise looked at co-operation and communication between 
Necsa's response forces and external police contingencies during an emergency. 

SHEQ Performance
The following table summarises Necsa’s SHEQ performance relative to previous years:

Description

Period % 
improvement 

(+)
deterioration 

(-)
2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

Nuclear events
INES rating = 0
INES rating > 0

105
0

71
1

42
3

48
0

58
2

34
6

19
4

38
3

43
5

63
8

47 (–)
60 (–)

Average 
cumulative 
individual 
dose (mSv per 
person) for 12 
months*

0.70 0.68 0.73 0.65 0.70 0.61 0.72 0.68 0.68 0.58 14 (+)

Number of 
persons who 
received a dose 
above 4 mSv

51 36 51 53 57 54 73 61 68 55 19 (+)

DIIR 1.52 1.15 2.02 1.26 1.26 0.89 0.89 0.52 1.02 0.60 41 (+)

TIR 14.6 13.2 11.3 8.9 6.0 5.8 4.8 4.3 4.9 3.48 28 (+)

Disabling 
Injuries (DIs)

24 18 28 20 23 14 16 10 20 11 45 (+)

Workdays lost 
due to DIs

466 718 319 189 679 429 188 171 202 251 24 (–)

Maximum man 
hours worked 
without a DI

456,681 536,235 423,088 599,199 598,276 702,623 643,198 959,377 721,963 1,026,327 42 (+)

*Necsa aims to ensure that the average annual effective dose is less than 4 mSv. (ALARA objective)

SHEQ Audits
Forty SHEQ compliance audits were conducted at Necsa during the course of the year, showing an acceptable level of compliance 
of above 80%. All audits of the premises of lessees were cancelled for the reporting period.
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Human Resources

Necsa Group Staff Composition 
The Necsa Group’s staff complement in accordance with the internal band structure decreased by 7.10%, from 2,097 in 2011/12 
to 1,948 at the end of the reporting period.

The number of contract staff decreased from 199 in 2011/12 to 177 in 2012/13, in line with Necsa’s strategy to consolidate its 
workforce.

Job category Total Black White Female

Directors 20 12 8 5
Management 134 46 88 29
Engineers 45 13 32 10
Scientists 108 49 59 29
Other professionals 140 50 90 36
Supervisors 88 34 54 9
Operators 229 183 46 14
Artisans 101 39 62 5
Technicians 120 86 34 53
Skilled 421 205 216 208
Semi-skilled 323 264 59 124
Unskilled 42 41 1 20
Contract staff 177 102 75 65
Grand total 31 March 2013* 1,948 1,124 824 607
Grand total 01 April 2012 2,097 1,163 934 638

* These figures include AEC-Amersham, Gammatec NDT Supplies, NTP Logistics and Directors

Necsa Group Employment Equity Performance 
The Necsa Group's employment equity performance against numerical goals as at 31 March 2013 was as follows:

Occupation 
categories

Total employee 
strength

2013
Targets  

2006–2011

Performance 
achieved 

 2011–2015

Targets  
2011–2015

2011/12 2012/13
Black

(male & 
female

Female
(black & 
white)

Black
(male & 
female)

Female
(black & 
white)

Black
(male & 
female)

Female
(black & 
white) 

Black
(male & 
female)

Female
(black & 
white)

Management 149 134 46 29 50% 45% 34.3% 21.6% 40.0% 25.0%
Engineers 64 45 13 10 51% 23% 28.9% 22.2% 51.0% 25.0%
Scientists 113 108 49 29 40% 30% 45.4% 26.9% 50.0% 35.0%
Other 
professionals 

153 140 50 36 35% 30% 35.7% 25.7% 35.0% 30.0%

Supervisors 100 88 34 9 25% 15% 38.6% 10.2% 30.0% 15.0%

Operators 229 229 183 14 65% 10% 79.9% 6.1%
Target 

achieved
10.0%

Artisans 109 101 39 5 40% 3% 38.6% 5.0% 40.0%
Target 

achieved

Technicians 137 120 86 53 60% 40% 71.7% 44.2%
Target 

achieved
45.0%

Skilled 450 421 205 208 25% 50% 48.7% 49.4% 50.0%
Target 

achieved

Semi-skilled 305 323 264 124 65% 40% 81.7% 38.4%
Target 

achieved
40.0%

Unskilled 68 42 41 20 80% 25% 97.6% 47.6%
Target 

achieved
Target 

achieved

Notes:
1. Figures in red indicate where EE Targets were not met.
2. Statistics are for black and female employees only and do not include all employees per level. 
3. Figures are for the Necsa Group (including subsidiaries, e.g. AEC-Amersham, Gammatec NDT Supplies and NTP Logistics).
4. Figures do not include non-permanent employees, students and Directors.
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Targets set for Appointment of Black Professionals and Technical Staff 2011–2015

Description
31 March 

2012
Actual

31 March 
2013
Actual

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Technical staff as a percentage of total staff 47.80% 48.40% 47.16% 48.16% 49.76% 51.36%

Black technical staff as a percentage of all 
technical staff

44.20% 46.23% 42.39% 43.39% 44.99% 46.59%

Black technical professionals as a 
percentage of all technical professional staff

29.38% 31.88% 29.97% 30.97% 32.57% 34.17%

Amended NSD Centre training output – 
number of full-time semester students 
trained per annum

487 442 218 380 380 380

Staff Movements
Appointments and exits during the period are reflected in the following table:

Job category
Designated group Total employees

Appointments Exits Appointments Exits

Management 4 8 5 13

Engineers 4 12 5 21

Scientists 2 6 2 9

Other professionals 7 16 7 26

Supervisors 0 2 0 6

Operators 3 8 3 11

Artisans 0 2 1 9

Technicians 6 14 6 19

Skilled 9 33 11 47

Semi-skilled 8 16 8 19

Unskilled 5 0 5 0

Contract staff 39 39 51 68

Grand total 87 156 104 248

Workplace Climate Indicators

Staff Turnover in Critical Skills Categories (%)
The review period reflected an overall increase in staff turnover in the management, engineering, science and technical categories 
since 2011/12.

Job category
2012/13

%
2011/12

%
2010/11

%
2009/10

%
Management 9.2 4.9 6 6.6

Engineering and science 17.9 8.7 9.2 5.8

Technical 14.8 7.5 6.8 9.4

Disciplinary Hearings, Grievances and Sick Leave

Description 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

Disciplinary actions (number) 39 16 20 55

Grievances registered (number) 8 5 3 13

Sick leave (days per person per month) 0.66 0.49 0.50 0.59
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Labour Union Membership
Necsa encourages union membership, and during the period under review, union membership increased to 76.2% (2011/12: 8%). 
Union statistics at 31 March 2013 were as follows:

Unionised Number Percentage
Pelindaba Workers Union 493 30.2%

Solidarity 172 10.5%

National Education, Health and Allied Workers Union (NEHAWU) 582 35.5%

Sub-total 1,247 76.2%

Non-unionised 390 23.8%

Total 1,637* 100.0%

* Excluding Directors (20), contract staff (177) and staff of subsidiaries (AEC-Amersham and Gammatec (114))

Training and Development

Human Capital Development

Study Assistance Scheme
During the year, a total of R1,917,953 was spent on the Study Assistance Scheme to assist Necsa staff in obtaining qualifications 
at various institutions of higher learning throughout South Africa. The number of employees assisted through the programme 
was as follows:

Category
Black Coloured Indian White

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female

BA 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

BCom 2 0 1 0 0 0 1 1

BTech 9 13 0 0 0 0 1 1

BA 1 2 0 0 0 1 0 1

BSc 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Honours 1 1 0 0 0 0 2 0

LLB 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Masters 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

MBA 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

MBL 2 2 0 0 0 1 0 0

MSc 3 2 0 0 0 0 2 4

National Diploma 46 22 5 1 0 0 5 8

PhD 6 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

Total SAS applications 79 46 7 2 0 2 12 17

Mentoring and Coaching
The transfer of skills and knowledge to young graduates, undergraduates and apprentices who are entering the organisation was 
undertaken with support from mentors and coaches. A total number of 96 mentees were mentored at Necsa in the reporting period.

Necsa Graduate Support Programme
This programme, comprising the Graduate-in-Training Scheme (GiTS), Undergraduates Bursary Scheme (UBS) and Post-graduate 
Bursary Scheme (PBS), ensures the creation of a sustainable pool of critical skills in alignment with Necsa’s strategic imperatives. 
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Graduates-in-Training 2012/13

Discipline
Black Coloured White

Male Female Male Female Male Female

BEng Chemical Engineering 2 0 0 0 0 0

BEng Mechanical Engineering 0 1 0 0 0 0

MSc Applied Mathematics 0 0 0 0 0 1

MSc Chemical Engineering 0 0 0 0 2 0

MEng Mechanical Engineering 1 0 0 0 0 1

MSc Material Science 0 1 0 0 0 0

MSc Physical Science 0 0 0 1 0 0

PhD Chemistry 1 0 0 0 0 0

Grand total 4 2 0 1 2 2

Undergraduates and Post-graduate Bursaries 2012/13

Category
Black Coloured Indian White

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female

BSc Chemistry 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

BSc Chemical 
Engineering

3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

BSc Electrical 
Engineering

2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0

BSc Civil Engineering 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

BSc Industrial 
Engineering

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

BSc Construction 
Management

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

BSc Mechanical 
Engineering

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

BSc Metallurgical 
Engineering

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MEng Chemical 
Engineering

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MEng Mechatronics 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

PhD Chemistry 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

PhD Chemical 
Engineering

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

PhD Geo Physics 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand total 9 6 1 0 0 0 2 2
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Human Resource Development in R&D

Training involvement
Number of 
postgraduate students

Description

Formal lectures by Necsa staff:

MARST

MSONE

10

8

Masters in Applied Radiation Science and Technology, North 
West University (NWU), Mafikeng

Masters in the Science and Organisation of Nuclear Energy, 
University of Johannesburg (UJ)

Post-graduates supported during 
their research projects at Necsa

66 Full–time research projects at Necsa or use of Necsa beam line and 
other techniques to add unique, specialised value to the research

Post-graduates supported at 
universities and affiliated to Necsa 
projects

36 Financially supported and working on Necsa–related and identified 
research projects

Necsa Internships
In continued support of the National Skills Development Strategy, Necsa undertook the training of interns and learners, funded and 
supported by the Chemical Industries Education and Training Authority (CHIETA); the DST; the DoE; Black Science, Technology 
and Engineering Professionals (BSTEP); Automotive Industry Development Centre (AIDC); and the South African Agency for 
Science and Technology Advancement (SAASTA). 

Training during the reporting period was as follows:

Discipline
Black White

Male Female Male Female
BSc Chemistry 2 1 2 1
BSc Hons Applied Radiation Science 3 3 0 0
BSc Hons Chemistry 2 1 2 1
BSc Chemical Engineering 3 0 3 0
BSc Hons Biochemistry 0 0 0 1
BTech Electrical Engineering 2 1 2 1
BSc Hons Mathematics 0 1 1 1
BTech Physical Science 1 0 0 0
BSc Physical Science 0 1 0 0
BSc Environmental Science 0 1 0 0
BSc Hons Nuclear Engineering 1 0 0 0
ND Analytical Chemistry 6 1 0 0
ND Chemical Engineering 4 5 0 0
ND Civil Engineering 2 2 0 0
ND Electrical Engineering 2 4 0 0
ND Industrial Engineering 0 1 0 0
ND Human Resources/Administration 1 7 0 0
ND Mechanical Engineering 5 0 1 0
ND Finances/Accounting/Internal Auditing 0 3 0 0
MSc in Radiochemistry 0 2 0 0
ND in Public Relations 0 2 0 0
ND Production Management 1 0 0 0
ND Marketing Management 0 1 0 0
MSc Analytical Chemistry 1 1 0 0
MSc Applied Radiation Science 0 1 0 0
MSc Material Science 0 1 0 0
MSc Chemical Engineering 0 0 1 0
MSc Nuclear Manufacturing 1 0 0 0
Grand total 37 42 12 5
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Security Learnerships
Necsa is fully accredited by Safety and Security Sector Education and Training Authority (SASSETA) for the training of: 
• National Qualifications Framework (NQF) Level 3: General security practitioners
• NQF Level 4: specialised security practitioners
• National Key Point security officer
• Firearms, Rifle and shotgun competency 

Security learners, who received general and specialised security practitioner training on the NQF level 3 and 4 National Key Point 
and Firearm competency learnership programmes, completed their training successfully in August 2012 and were appointed by 
Necsa security services as security officers.

Necsa applied for funding from CHIETA and Energy and Water Sector Education and Training Authority (EWSETA) to train 
15 security learners in 2013. 

Adult Basic Education and Training (ABET)
Seventy-six employees enrolled in the programme for the period 01 February 2012 to 30 November 2012, and 16 were declared 
competent in the ABET levels they had enrolled for. During this period four learners were declared competent at NQF Level 1, 
two in Communications in English and two in Mathematical Literacy after writing the Independent Examination Board exams. The 
latter learners received their national certificates from the Council for Quality Assurance in General and Further Education and 
Training (Umalusi).

Learners per level and learning area were as follows:

Levels Communications in English Mathematical Literacy
Level 1 4 2 6
Level 2 11 7 18
Level 3 15 14 29
Level 4/NQF 1 15 8 23
Total 45 31 76

Nuclear Skills Development Centre 
The Nuclear Skills Development (NSD) Centre continues to fulfil its mandate in response to the National Skills Development 
Strategy. The high quality of training at the Centre has allowed it to partner with clients such as: 

• The Department of Public Works (42 students);
• The Development Bank of South Africa (46 students);
• Grinaker LTA (96 students);
• Sesto (55 students);
• NTIP (46 students); and
• 157 other students, on job creation projects.

The Centre is fully utilised and continues to attract new clients. In its Decentralised Trade Test Centre (DTTC), 33 pre-tests 
were conducted to determine the readiness of candidates for the final trade tests. Trade test preparation was conducted for 
246 candidates as required by the Sector Education and Training Authorities and 232 candidates wrote the artisan trade tests, 
of whom 123 passed (53%).

Tooling Project 
NSD was accredited as the preferred training provider for the NTIP Master Tooling Artisans. The first 46 students were enrolled 
and this number will increase to 96 during the year.

Coded Welding
Due to the need to train quality coded welders for industry, NSD extended its welding capacity to accommodate this category of 
skills. The Coded Welding Centre will be launched during 2013.
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Radiation Protection Officers
The qualification for Radiation Protection Officers (RPOs) was registered with the EWSeta and the first group of students was trained 
in a well-equipped laboratory that was established for the purpose. This Centre is probably the only one of its kind in Southern 
Africa and receives requests not only from industry in South Africa, but throughout Africa.

Organisational Development

Job Profiling
An estimated total of 387 profiles have been reviewed and developed up to date. Continuous job analysis and profiling processes 
occur as changes take place within the organisation.

Employee Health

Necsa Group Medical Aid Scheme
Necsa’s employees are obliged, in terms of their conditions of service, to become members of either Discovery Health or Sizwe 
Medical Scheme, or to become dependents on their spouses’ medical schemes. Detailed membership information is available 
on request.

Necsa Retirement Fund
Necsa’s Group Retirement Fund is a defined contribution provident fund which complies fully with the Pension Funds Act, No. 24 of 
1956, as amended. The medical aid, retirement and group life are compulsory for all permanent employees. The Fund is managed 
by a Board of Trustees comprising 50% employer and 50% employee representatives. Old Mutual Corporate is the administrator 
of the Fund and manages it in conjunction with the Trustees, while Towers Watson provides investment and actuarial advice. 

The Fund follows a life stage model approach and provides a member level investment choice consisting of three investment 
portfolios, namely market risk, stable and money market portfolios. These serve the different needs of members with respect to 
their inflation and exit risks. The Fund’s investment managers are Allan Gray Limited, Coronation Asset Management, Prescient 
Investment Management and Sanlam Investment Management.

Given the different investment portfolios, the market risk portfolio aims to deliver 5% per annum (net of fees) out-performance 
of ‘headline inflation’ over any rolling seven-year period and the stable portfolio aims to deliver 3% per annum (net of fees) 
outperformance of ‘headline inflation’ over any rolling three-year period.

The cumulative returns of the three investment portfolios for the financial year were as follows:

Market risk portfolio  21.36%;
Stable portfolio 11.074%; and
Money market portfolio 5.81%.

This implies positive returns for members within these portfolios, despite on-going difficult financial market circumstances. 

Good control over the Fund’s expenses, together with a slight increase in underwriting conditions by the insurer, have resulted in 
contributions to retirement funding decreasing slightly to 17.35% of pensionable salary (2011/12: 17.46%). Fund administration 
expenses remained at 0.45% and the medical disability premium increased to 1.199% of pensionable salary (2011/12: 1.09%). 
Death benefit contributions remained at 2% of pensionable salary.

The most recent Annual Financial Report of the external Auditor, Ernst & Young, declared the Fund financially sound and confirmed 
that its operations are in accordance with best accounting practices for South African retirement funds, as prescribed by the 
Pension Funds Act.
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The un-audited net assets of the Fund at 31 March 2013 amounted to R856.3 million and membership stood at 1,633 in-service 
members, and 33 members who have been declared medically disabled.

The Trustees’ priorities for the reporting period included the following matters:

• Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees (4), Investment Sub-committee (7) and Management Sub-committee (8);
• Maintenance of PF130 Governance policies;
• Communication with members through the Annual Benefit Statements; various financial and audit reports; monthly 

Fund performance and individual member credit updates; information sessions and posting of all relevant information on 
Nucleus (the Necsa intranet); and

• Continuous assessment of the overall Fund risks and development of action plans. 

The revised rules of the Fund have been approved by the Financial Services Board and were posted on the Necsa intranet.

Wellness

NTP
NTP holds regular health and safety presentations. The Company collaborated with Necsa in the Group’s annual Wellness Day 
during September. NTP supported the 16 Days of Activism initiative and an AIDS Day commemoration was held in December. 
During February a “Healthy Hearts” play was staged by personnel for the Meerhof School. Other presentations during the review 
period included an education programme for all personnel on the products that NTP provides for cancer patients worldwide and 
another on hygiene at work and home.

Pelchem
The total wellbeing of Pelchem’s staff is a high priority; therefore Pelchem fully sponsored an in-house Employee Assistance 
Programme providing across the board support for its staff and their immediate family members. Significant progress was made in 
creating awareness among staff and their family members in the areas of work life balance; nutrition; diversity; health and safety; 
substance abuse; men’s health; cancer; heart disease; mental health and stress; community service; and HIV/AIDS. 
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Overall Necsa Key Performance Areas and Indicators (KPAs and KPIs) 2012/13

Output
KPA/KPI

Target 
2012/13

Actual Output
2012/13

Comments

Necsa Company financials/
External sales revenue 

R437.9 million R314.7million See note 1 below 

Refereed research publications/
Number of refereed research 
publications 

36 34 See note 2 below

Innovation value chain/Number 
of innovation disclosures 

12 17 Target exceeded as a result of:
• The inclusion of innovation 

disclosures and publications as 
criteria for assessment of personal 
performance of R&D employees; 
and

• A Group–wide IP awareness 
campaign by the Necsa Office 
of Technology Transfer (OTT) to 
raise the priority of innovation 
disclosures

Nuclear Fuel Cycle Programme 
implementation/Achievement 
of Programme objectives 
in collaboration with key 
stakeholders 

Nuclear Fuel Cycle 
Prefeasibility Study 
reports and strategy 
updated in line with 
IRP2010

Nuclear Fuel Cycle 
Strategy plan is in place 
and remains the same; 
awaiting roll–out of 
nuclear programme

First draft of nuclear fuel cycle front 
end business case completed. Key 
Stakeholders and potential partners 
were engaged.

Target met

Material Test Reactor fuel and 
target plate manufacturing/
Achievement of project 
objectives

Safety Assessment 
Report approved by NNR 

Basic Design and 
Construction Safety 
Assessment Report partly 
completed

See note 3

Staff composition 
• Technical staff as a % of total 

staff
• Black technical staff as a % 

of all technical staff 

48.2%

43.4%

48.8%

45.8%

More positions became available for 
the appointment of technical staff

The internship, bursary, PhD and 
post-doctoral programmes have 
resulted in more black people 
becoming available for appointment 
in technical positions

Training and development/NSD 
Centre training output

380 442 Target exceeded due to greater 
demand for artisan training from 
external clients than anticipated

Decontamination and 
Decommissioning Programme 
execution/Execution of Annual 
Plan of Action as submitted and 
approved by DoE 

100% 110% The target exceeded due to better 
than budgeted income from cleared 
material sold as scrap (R2.9 million 
versus a target of R1 million)

Nuclear safeguards 
management/Performance in 
terms of annual Safeguards 
Activity Plan objectives 

100% 100% All programme objectives met
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Performance Measured Against Pre-determined Objectives (continued)11

Output
KPA/KPI

Target 
2012/13

Actual Output
2012/13

Comments

Nuclear compliance/SHEQ and 
nuclear security performance 
expressed as Nuclear 
Compliance Index 

96% 94.8% See note 4

Public dose impact of Necsa 
activities/Public dose impact 
(expressed as % of allowable 
limit) 

<20% 3.8% Actual performance well below 
annual allowable limit

SAFARI-1 availability/SAFARI-1 
operational availability (actual 
reactor days available versus 
days scheduled)

302.5 days 304.7 days (100.7%) Target exceeded due to early start-
ups after shutdowns

NTP Group financials 
• External sales revenue 
• Net profit after tax 

R881 million
R89 million

R937 million
R137 million

Targets exceeded due to unbudgeted 
sales resulting in increased turnover, 
as well as cost saving measures and 
gains from a weaker Rand/Dollar/
Euro exchange rate

Pelchem Group financials 
• External sales revenue 
• Net profit after tax 

R217million
(R13.7 million)

R181 million
(R35.9 million)

See note 5

BBBEE rating/Necsa Group 
BBBEE rating 

Level 5 Level 4 Level 4 rating due to improvement in 
the enterprise development element

Marketing and Communication 
Programme/Awareness of Necsa 
brand as measured by the MSA 
rating 

62% 76% Target was exceeded mainly due 
to positive publicity for nuclear 
energy after the Nuclear Africa 
2013 Conference

Notes

1. Necsa Corporate Financials – External Sales Revenue
The negative variance for the year against the budget was mainly due to:

• Severe financial constraints facing Necsa due to the prevailing economic climate as well as internal challenges, including 
two voluntary severance package processes that were undertaken and a prolonged Schedule 189A process. The negative 
effect was offset by implementation of austerity measures;

• The slowdown in the manufacturing sector and delays experienced on projects such as Medupi, which resulted in the 
receipt of fewer manufacturing orders than expected; 

• Delays in various Necsa projects due to resource limitations, slower than expected regulatory approvals and project 
management challenges; and

• Strikes in some sectors (e.g. mining), which led to a reduced demand for certain Necsa services (e.g. analytical).

2. Refereed Research Publications – Number of Refereed Research Publications
The austerity measures which were implemented as a result of financial constraints resulted in limited available operational 
funds and therefore negatively impacted on research outputs. Growing pressure on senior researchers (i.e. those staff members 
responsible for the majority of peer reviewed research papers) to lead research, mentor young staff members, guide post-graduate 
students and manage projects as well as the inability of the R&D division to appoint new staff resulted in slight under-achievement 
against the publications KPI.

Overall Necsa Key Performance Areas and Indicators (KPAs and KPIs) 2012/13 (continued)
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3. MTR Fuel and Target Plate Manufacturing – Achievement of Project Objectives
A combination of project management difficulties, non-finalisation of the funding strategy, loss of key staff and under-estimation 
of project and licensing complexities led to slippages in the project schedule, which resulted in the project being suspended in 
December 2012.

4. Nuclear Compliance – SHEQ and Nuclear Security Expressed as Nuclear Compliance Index
The average score of internal Necsa SHEQ audits (70% weight in the nuclear compliance index) was lower than planned largely 
as a result of low scores in non-nuclear facilities with incomplete implementation of quality systems. The annual NKP audit score 
(30% of the index) was slightly lower than target, but no major deficiencies were identified.

5. Pelchem Group Financials

5.1 External Sales Revenue
A negative deviation of 16.6% against the projected target for 2012/13 was primarily due to underperformance of the XeF2 product 
due to delays in the roll-out of the new fabrication facility of a major customer in Taiwan, and a loss in 70% HF sales due to Chinese 
competition and the slowdown of the Brazilian economy.

5.2 Net Profit after Tax
The below budget sales revenue, escalating maintenance costs due to ageing plants, increased distribution costs, Post-Retirement 
Medical Aid actuarial loss and impairment of goodwill and intellectual property resulted in a loss of R35.9 million for the year.
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Necsa Structure

NTP
Nuclear Safeguards
-----------------------

MA Rasweswe

Internal Auditing
-----------------------

HJ Viljoen
Pelchem

Legal Services
-----------------------

AC Mabunda

Strategic Support
-----------------------

MU Ramatsui

Chief Executive Officer: 
Necsa

---------------------------------
GP Tshelane

GE: 
R&D

Z Vilakazi
-----------------------

• Senior Manager: 
Health & Bio-Science 
Applications 
NV Jarvis

• Senior Manager: R&D 
SHEQ 
DC Louw

• Senior Manager:  
Applied Chemistry 
PAB Carstens

• Senior Manager: 
Radiation Science 
G Nothnagel

GE: 
Finance & Information 

Management
N Dayaram

-----------------------
• Manager: Group 

Reporting & Financial 
Advisory 
SJ Jansen van Vuuren

• Senior Manager: SIM 
L Russel

• Senior Manager: 
Corporate Financial 
Services 
M Mfeka

• Senior Manager: 
Provisioning & 
Procurement 
FW Trefz

• Manager: Financial 
Systems 
C Bornman

GE: 
NCS

lj shayi
-----------------------

• Manager: ACS Labs 
A Steyn

• Senior Manager: SHEQ 
IE Steyn

• Senior Manager: 
Licensing 
AL Visagie

• Senior Manager: 
Security Services 
RF Mashilo

• Senior Manager: 
Maintenance Services 
A Chinake

• Senior Manager: Utilities 
& Property Management 
TM Nkwane

•  Manager: 
Nuclear Obligations 
Management 
R Mogafe

GE: 
NURAD

R Masango
-----------------------

• Senior Manager: NLM 
AC Carolissen

• Senior Manager: 
MTR Fuel 
RW Jamie

• Senior Manager: 
SAFARI-1 
BJ Steynberg

• Manager:  
LEMS 
EL Uys

GE: 
NTI

AC van der Bijl
-----------------------

• Senior Manager: 
Engineering Services 
BJ Blom

• Manager: 
FLOSEP 
V Legoabe

• Manager:  
Nuclear Manufacturing 
A de Wet

• Manager: Industrial 
Manufacturing 
JH Terblanche

• Manager: Apogee 
D Cronje

GE: 
Human Resources

dm moagi
-----------------------

• Senior Manager: HRS 
Vacant

• Senior Manager: NLA 
N Matube

GE: 
Strategy & Performance

W van Zyl de Villiers
-----------------------

• Head: Office of 
Technology Transfer  
TJ Hanekom

• Chief Advisor:  
Risk Management 
UKRD Natha

• Chief Advisor: Nuclear 
Fuel Cycle Studies 
JH Prior

GE: 
Marketing & 

Communication
CC Janneker

-----------------------
• Manager: Stakeholder 

Relations, Marketing 
and Public Awareness 
A Rennie-Kroon

• Manager:  
Communications & 
Media Liaison 
ME Mulane

• Senior Manager: 
International Relations 
D Fourie

• Manager: Knowledge 
Management 
T Scheepers

• Acting Manager: Nuclear 
Technology Cooperation 
& Resource Mobilisation 
VM Flame
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)12

Necsa as an Organisation
Necsa, is a wholly-owned state entity established in terms of the Nuclear Energy Act, No. 46 of 1999, and the Companies Act, 
No. 71 of 2008. It is governed by a Board of Directors appointed by the Minister of Energy, with the Chief Executive Officer being 
the only Executive Director. 

The Nuclear Energy Act outlines Necsa’s main and ancillary objectives, including the Corporation’s financial accountability. In addition 
to these functions, Necsa is responsible for the implementation of certain mandated activities which include the implementation 
and application of the Safeguards Agreement and any additional protocols entered into by the Republic of South Africa and the 
International Atomic Energy Agency in support of the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty acceded to by South Africa.

The Nuclear Energy Act further regulates the acquisition and possession of nuclear fuel, certain nuclear and related material and 
equipment, as well as the importation and exportation thereof, and other acts and activities relating to fuel material and equipment, 
in order to comply with the international obligations of the Republic. The Nuclear Energy Act also prescribes measures regarding 
the management of radioactive waste and the storage of irradiated nuclear fuel.

Code of Practice and Conduct
Corporate Governance is formally concerned with the organisational arrangements that have been put in place to provide an 
appropriate set of checks and balances within which the stewards of the organisation operate. The objective is to ensure that 
those to whom the stakeholders have entrusted the direction and success of the organisation act in the best interests of these 
stakeholders. It encourages leadership with integrity, responsibility and transparency.

The Necsa Group endorses the principles of the South African Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as recommended in the 
King III Report. As such, the Group is committed to principles and practices that provide stakeholders with the assurance that the 
organisation is managed soundly and ethically.

The Board of Directors believes that the organisation has, as appropriate, applied and complied with the principles incorporated 
in the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct, as set out in the King III Report. 

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s governance structures and processes. Issues of governance will continue to receive the 
consideration and attention of the Board and its committees during the year ahead and, where appropriate, will be reviewed and 
adapted to accommodate internal corporate developments and to reflect best practice.

Board of Directors
Necsa’s Board of Directors is appointed by the Minister of Energy (the Shareholder) in terms of Section 16 of the Nuclear Energy 
Act. Due regard is given to the ratio between independent and non-independent Members. The Board is the Accounting Authority 
as defined in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, No. 1 of 1999. The Board is appointed for a renewable period of three 
years and undergoes a Necsa-specific induction process within six months of appointment.

While an appraisal of Board Members was undertaken and reported in the previous reporting period, the appraisal of new Board 
Members is scheduled to take place in the 2013/14 reporting period.
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1211

Board of Directors

1 Mr GP Tshelane
Chief Executive Officer

2 Mr D Robertson
Acting Chief Executive Officer
(NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd)

3 Ambassador MJ Seekoe 
Chairperson of the Board
(Retired)

4 Dr EM Dipico
Chairperson of the Board
(De Beers Consolidated Mines)

5 Ambassador NJ Mxakato-
Diseko 
Deputy Chairperson
(Department of International 
Relations and Cooperation)

6 Adv. N Shaik-Peremanov
Deputy Chairperson of the 
Board
(Unisa)

7 Dr N Bhengu
Chairperson of the Investment 
and Finance Committee
(Provider Networks, 
Metropolitan Health)

8 Ms M Mokuena
Chairperson of the Investment 
and Finance Committee
(Mokuena Attorneys)

9 Ms N Noxaka
Chairperson of the Audit 
Committee
(Alatha Consulting)

10 Mr M Khoathane
Chairperson of the Social and 
Ethics Committee
(Zimkile Consulting)

11 Prof. T Majozi
Chairperson of the Research 
and Development Technology 
Committee
(University of Pretoria)

12 Ambassador AS Minty
(Department of International 
Relations and Cooperation)

13 Mr L Gumbi
Alternate to AS Minty
(Department of International 
Relations and Cooperation)

14 Dr VZ Msimang
(Department of Science and 
Technology)

15 Mr LF Aphane
Chairperson of the Human 
Resource and Remuneration 
Committee
(Department of Energy)

16 Mr J Keshaw
Alternate to LF Aphane
(Department of Energy)

17 Mr P Zwane
Chairperson of the Audit 
Committee
(National Development  
Agency)

18 Mr Z Mbambo
(Department of Energy)

19 Ms E Monale
(Department of Energy)

20 Mr J Kellerman
(Department of International 
Relations and Cooperation)

1 2 3 4

16 17

13

10

18 2019

14

5

76 98

15
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Details of Board Members

Executive Members

Name Age Directorship on 
other boards

Date of 
appointment Term

Date of 
resignation/

Expiry of term
Qualifications

Mr D Robertson 
Acting CEO
(NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd)

62 NTP Radioisotopes 
SOC Ltd

01 February 2012 1 Until appointment 
of new CEO 
(31 August 2012) 

MSc (Natural Sciences) – Rhodes;

BSc (Honours Natural Sciences) – 
Rhodes

Mr GP Tshelane* 
CEO

51 NIASA Appointed as CEO 
with effect from 
01 September 2012

1 31 August 2015 BSc Honours (Nuclear Physics) – 
University of the Witwatersrand; 

BSc (Maths and Physics) – University of 
the Witwatersrand;

Executive Development Programme; 

Certificate in Project Management; 

Finance for Non-financial Managers – 
University of the Witwatersrand

*Non-executive Director from 01 December 2006 to 31 August 2012

Independent Non-executive Members 

Name Age Directorship on 
other boards

Date of 
appointment Term

Date of 
resignation/

Expiry of term 
Qualifications

Dr EM Dipico 
Chairperson of the Necsa 
Board of Directors
(De Beers Consolidated Mines)

53 De Beers 
Consolidated Mines

01 December 2006 2 31 July 2012 PhD (Honours) Law – Monash 
University, USA;

Emerging Economics Leadership – 
Pennsylvania University, USA

Ambassador MJ Seekoe 
Chairperson of the Necsa 
Board of Directors
(Retired)

73 - Afrisec Systems 
- Makhethe 

Investment 
- Kongwa Mgwenya 

Development
- Veterans Family 

Trust
- Thusang Trust

01 August 2012 1 31 July 2015 MSc (Chemistry) and Microbiology 
and Vertebrae Physiology – Missouri 
University, St Louis, USA;

PhD Chemistry (Kinetics and Catalysis) 
– Moscow State University;

MSc Chemistry – Moscow State University;

Diploma – Kiev State University, USSR

Adv. N Shaik-Peremanov 
Deputy Chairperson of the 
Necsa Board of Directors 
until 31 October 2012
(Unisa)

41 None 01 November 2009 2 Re-appointed for 
a second term 
with effect from 
01 November 
2012 to 
31 October 2015

LLD (International Human rights Law) 
– Unisa;

LLM (International and Human Rights 
Law) – Notre Dame, USA;

LLM (Constitutional and Labour Law) – 
University of Natal;

LLB – University of Natal;

BSocSc (Industrial Psychology and Law) 
– University of Natal

Dr NM Bhengu 
Chairperson of the Necsa 
Investment and Finance 
Committee
(Provider Networks, 
Metropolitan Health)

44 Road Acccident 
Fund

01 November 2009 1 31 October 2012 Master of Public Health – Harvard 
University, USA;

MBA – Wales University, Cardiff;

Diploma in Anaesthetics, College of 
Medicine in South Africa;

MBChB – Natal University Medical School

Ms MM Mokuena 
Chairperson of the Necsa 
Investment and Finance 
Committee
(Mokuena Attorneys)

54 - North West 
Transport 
Investment

- Competition 
Tribunal Member

- SA Weather 
Service

- Malibongwe 
Women's 
Development 
Trust

01 November 2012 1 31 October 2015 Attorney of the High Court of South Africa;

Partial completion (LLM) – University 
of Pretoria;

LLM (Labour) – New York University;

Diploma in Trial Advocacy – University 
of California, Los Angeles;

LLB – University of Bophuthatswana;

Dip. Juris – University of 
Bophuthatswana

Corporate Governance Report (continued)12
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Independent Non-executive Members 

Name Age Directorship on 
other boards

Date of 
appointment Term

Date of 
resignation/

Expiry of term 
Qualifications

Ms LN Noxaka 
Chairperson of the Necsa 
Audit Committee
(Alatha Consulting)

40 Alatha Consulting 01 November 2009 1 31 October 2012 CA (SA) – UCT Graduate School of Business;

MBA – UCT Graduate School of Business;

BCom Acc Honours – University of Natal;

BCompt (NDP) – Unisa; 

BAdmin – University of Zululand;

Higher Diploma in Computer Audit 
– University of the Witwatersrand;

National Diploma in Financial Markets 
and Instruments – University of the 
Witwatersrand

Mr MME Khoathane 
Chairperson of the 
Necsa Social and Ethics 
Committee
(Zimkile Consulting)

46 - Haledume 
Investment 

- Holdings (Pty) Ltd
- Kepa Beef 

(Pty) Ltd

01 November 2012 1 31 October 2013 BSc (Honours) Physics – University of 
the North;

Post-graduate Diploma in Business 
Management – University of Natal;

Management Development Programme 
(Project Management) – Unisa

Prof. T Majozi 
Chairperson of the Necsa 
Research, Development 
and Technology Committee 
(University of Pretoria)

41 None 01 November 2009 2 Re-appointed 
for second term 
with effect from 
01 November 
2012 to 
31 October 2015

PhD (Institute of Science and Technology) 
– Manchester University, UK;

MSc Engineering – University of Natal;

BSc Engineering – University of Natal

Ambassador AS Minty 
(Department of International 
Relations and Cooperation)

73 None 24 January 2000 4 31 October 2012 MSc (Economics) – University of London;

BSc (Economics) – University of London

Mr L Gumbi (Deceased) 
Alternate to AS Minty
(Department of International 
Relations and Cooperation)

- None 11 October 2009 1 31 July 2012 MA (Political Science) – Warsaw 
University, Poland

Non-independent Non-executive Members 

Name Age Directorship on 
other boards

Date of 
appointment Term

Date of 
resignation/

Expiry of term 
Qualifications

Ambassador NJ Mxakato-
Diseko
Deputy Chairperson of the 
Necsa Board of Directors
(Department of International 
Relations and Cooperation)

57 None 01 February 2013 1 31 October 2015 Politics – Oxford University, UK

Dr VZ Msimang
(Department of Science and 
Technology)

41 None 01 April 2010 1 31 October 2012
(As a 
Representative 
of the DST, Dr 
Msimang’s term 
ended on his 
resignation from 
the DST)

PhD (Chemical Engineering) – 
University of Cape Town;

MEng Civil/Environmental Engineering – 
A&M University, Texas;

BTech Chemical Engineering – 
Peninsula Technikon;

Advanced Leadership and Management 
Development Programme – University 
of Stellenbosch

Mr LF Aphane
Chairperson of the Necsa 
Human Resource and 
Remuneration Committee
(Department of Energy)

49 None 01 November 2009 1 31 October 2012 Pr Engineering – University of Natal;

BSc (Electrical Engineering) – University 
of Natal

Mr J Keshaw
Alternate to LF Aphane
(Department of Energy)

35 None 01 November 2009 1 31 August 2012 MSc (Nuclear Engineering) – North-
West University;

MSc (Nuclear Physics) – University of 
the Witwatersrand

Details of Board Members (continued)

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 2013 75



Non-independent Non-executive Members 

Name Age Directorship on 
other boards

Date of 
appointment Term

Date of 
resignation/

Expiry of term 
Qualifications

Mr PRZ Zwane
Chairperson of the Necsa 
Audit Committee
(National Development  
Agency)

42 - Commed Medical 
Aid

- Gauteng 
Gambling Board

01 November 2012 1 31 October 2015 CA (SA) – RAU;

Specialist Diploma in Financial 
Management – RAU;

Post-graduate Degree in Accounting, 
CTA – Unisa;

BCom Accounting – University of the 
Western Cape

Mr ZS Mbambo
(Department of Energy)

47 Masande Mining and 
Projects (Pty) Ltd

01 November 2012 1 31 October 2015 BSc (Honours) Environmental Geology;

BSc Geology;

Post-graduate Diploma in European 
Radiation Protection

Ms PE Monale
(Department of Energy)

49 National Nuclear 
Regulator

01 November 2012 1 31 October 2015 MSc (Applied Radiation) – North West 
University;

MSc Science and Technology (ARST) – 
North West University;

BSc Ed – North West University

Mr J Kellerman
(Currently employed: 
Department of International 
Relations and Cooperation)

52 None 01 August 2012 1 31 July 2015 LLM (Public International Law) – 
University of Pretoria;

BA LLB (University of Stellenbosch)

Board Charter
The Nuclear Energy Act serves as the Necsa Board Charter. The Act outlines the functions and mandate of the Corporation, 
deals with the appointment of the Board, sets out the powers of the Board and the Minister’s responsibilities concerning South 
Africa’s international obligations with regard to nuclear non-proliferation as well source material, special nuclear material, and 
radioactive waste. 

The Board is responsible for ensuring the establishment of various policies to enhance and provide assurance in terms of transparency, 
inclusiveness, reliability, accuracy, relevance, completeness, clarity and timeliness to ensure sustainability.

Remuneration of Board Members
The remuneration of Non-executive Directors is determined and reviewed annually by the Minister of Energy, in consultation with 
the National Treasury. Director’s emoluments for the period under review are recorded on pages 167–168 of this report.

Meetings of the Board
The Nuclear Energy Act requires that the Board meets at least four times per annum to discuss and review the Strategy and 
Business Plan. Special Board Meetings are convened, when necessary, to deliberate on issues that require Board resolutions 
between scheduled meetings. Members of Management are periodically invited to make presentations on issues of particular 
interest to the Board.

The Board met four times during the review period, with attendance at meetings as follows:

Name of Director Meeting dates
Board Members 01 June 2012 31 July 2012 07 December 2012 28 February 2013

Mr D Robertson 
Acting Chief Executive Officer (CEO) until 31 August 2012 Present Apology Resigned Resigned

Mr GP Tshelane
As a member of the Board and as Necsa CEO with effect 
from 01 September 2012

Present Present Present Present

Dr EM Dipico
Chairperson, stepped down 31 July 2012 
(term ended 31 October 2012)

Present Present Resigned Resigned

Ambassador MJ Seekoe 
Chairperson with effect from 01 August 2012 – – Present Present

Corporate Governance Report (continued)12
Details of Board Members (continued)
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Name of Director Meeting dates
Board Members 01 June 2012 31 July 2012 07 December 2012 28 February 2013

Ambassador NJ Mxakato-Diseko 
Deputy Chairperson with effect from 01 February 2013 – – – –

Dr N Bhengu Apology Apology – –

Ms N Noxaka Apology Present – –

Mr L Aphane Present Apology – –

Mr J Keshaw
Alternate Director to Mr L Aphane Present Present – –

Mr P Zwane – – Present Present

Adv. N Shaik-Peremanov
Deputy Chairperson Present Apology Present Present

Prof. T Majozi Present Apology Present Present

Mr M Khoathane – – Present Present

Mr Z Mbambo – – Present Present

Ms M Mokuena – – Apology Present

Mr J Kellerman – – Present Present

Ms E Monale
Alternate Director to Mr Z Mbambo – – Apology Apology

Legal Services
Necsa has a dedicated legal services office providing support to the Group. This helps to minimise the organisation’s legal and 
compliance risks and assists various business divisions and subsidiary companies in pursuit of their respective strategic objectives. 
Specific legal services include commercial legal services (negotiating, drafting, vetting of the Group’s commercial contracts and 
providing quality legal advice), and management of civil/litigation matters, which include advising the corporation on appropriate 
Litigation Strategy. The Legal Services office also has oversight over the Corporation’s statutory and/or regulatory compliance.

Company Secretary and Professional Advice
The Company Secretary is Mr Aukney Clifford Mabunda, BA, LLB, LLM (Wits), P. Grad. Dip Business Management and Administration 
(De Montfort University, UK). Mr Mabunda is an Attorney of the High Court of South Africa. His business and postal addresses 
are those of the Company as reflected on page 5 of this report.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, whose appointment is in accordance with the 
Companies Act, and who is responsible to the Board for ensuring the proper administration of Board proceedings. The Company 
Secretary also provides guidance to the Directors on their responsibilities within the prevailing regulatory and statutory environment 
and the manner in which such responsibilities should be discharged. The Directors are entitled to seek independent professional 
advice at the Group’s expense concerning the affairs of the Company and have access to any information they may require in 
discharging their duties as Directors.

Committees of the Board
In terms of Section 19 of the Nuclear Energy Act, the Board is advised and assisted by advisory committees, whose mandate it 
is to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities. These committees play an important role in enhancing high standards of 
governance and improving effectiveness within the Necsa Group. External advisors are invited to attend Board and/or committee 
meetings on an ad hoc basis, as or when the need arises.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three Non-executive Directors. A Non-executive Director, who is not the Chairman of the Board, 
chairs the Committee.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing:

• The quality and integrity of the Group’s financial statements and the disclosure thereof;
• The scope and effectiveness of the external audit function; and
• The effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and internal audit function.
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The Committee convened five times during the year with membership and meeting attendance being as follows:

Name of Director Meeting dates
Board Members 30 May 2012 24 July 2012 26 July 2012 04 December 2012 20 February 2013

Ms N Noxaka 
Chairperson until 31 October 2012 Present Present Present – –

Dr N Bhengu 
Director until 31 October 2012 Present Apology Present – –

Adv. N Shaik-Peremanov 
Director until 31 October 2012 Present Present Present – –

Mr P Zwane 
Chairperson from 01 November 2012 – – – Present Present

Ms M Mokuena 
Director from 01 November 2012 – – – Present Apology

Adv. N Shaik-Peremanov 
Director from 01 November 2012 – – – Present Present

Mr M Khoathane 
Director from 01 November 2012 – – – Present Apology

The Committee has adopted formal Terms of Reference and is satisfied that it has complied with its responsibilities as set out therein.

Social and Ethics Committee
This Committee was formally constituted on 15 November 2012. With its formation, two separate board Committees, namely Human 
Resources and Remuneration, and SHEQ and Technical Committees were combined in line with the provisions of regulation 43(5) 
read with section 72(4)-(10) of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008. Certain technical aspects that previously fell within the mandate 
of the SHEQ and Technical Committee were transferred to a newly established R&D Technology Committee. The Social and Ethics 
Committee has adopted formal Terms of Reference and these are in line with the aforementioned regulation.

The Committee’s responsibilities include:

1. Monitoring the Company’s activities, having regard to any relevant legislation, other legal requirements or prevailing codes 
of good practice, with regard to matters relating to:
a. Social and economic development, including the Company’s standing in terms of the goals and purposes of:

(i) The ten principles set out in the United Nations Global Compact Principles;
(ii) OECD recommendations regarding corruption;
(iii) Employment Equity Act; and
(iv) Broad-based black economic empowerment;

b. Good corporate citizenship including:
(i) Promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, and reduction of corruption;
(ii) Contribution to the development of the communities in which its activities are predominantly conducted or within 

which its products or services are predominantly marketed; and 
(iii) Record of sponsorship, donations and charitable giving;

c. The environment, health and public safely, including the impact of the company’s activities and of its products and 
services;

d. Consumer relationships, including the company’s advertising, public relations and compliance with consumer 
protection laws; and

e. Labour and employment, including:
(i) The Company’s standing in terms of the International Labour Organisation Protocol on decent work and working 

conditions; and
(ii) The Company’s employment relationships and its contribution toward the educational development of its 

employees;
2. To draw matters within the Committee’s mandate to the attention of the Board as the occasion requires; and
3. To report, through one of its members, to the shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting on matters falling 

within its mandate.

Corporate Governance Report (continued)12
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The Committee holds sufficient scheduled meetings to discharge its duties as set out in its Terms of Reference, but subject to a 
minimum of three meetings per year. As a result of the Committee only coming into effect during the reporting period, two meetings 
were held with membership attendance being as follows:

Name of Director Meeting dates
06 December 2012 18 February 2013

Mr M Khoathane 
Chairperson Present Present

Mr J Kellerman Present Present

Mr Z Mbambo Apology Apology

Ms E Monale 
Alternate Director to Mr Z Mbambo Apology Apology

Research and Development Technology Committee 
The objective of this Committee is to provide assurance to the Shareholder and/or stakeholders of Necsa that research, development, 
and technology matters of the Company are strategic, innovative, and supported at the highest level. The Committee provides 
guidance on the implications of the above matters to the Board and also monitors the following specifics:

• The implementation and management of research, development and nuclear technology related issues;
• Compliance with the Nuclear Energy Act and other relevant legislation; and
• Progress on collaboration with other institutions and relevant organisations. 

The Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board pertaining to the following:

• R&D initiatives, as proposed by Management, to ensure innovation and strategic direction to align with stakeholder 
requirements;

• Implementation of best practice and the latest trends from both national and international sources as applicable to the 
Company;

• Management’s views on identified and potential opportunities for nuclear research and development, as applicable to the 
Company;

• External collaboration on nuclear-related research and development; and
• Strategic management of intellectual property.

The Committee makes recommendations to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Committee convened twice during the review period, with membership (effective from 01 November 2012) and meeting 
attendance being as follows:

Name of Director Meeting dates
06 December 2012 20 February 2013

Prof. T Majozi 
Chairperson Present Present

Adv. N Shaik-Peremanov Present Present
Mr Z Mbambo Apology Apology
Prof. M Sathekge 
Co-opted Member Apology Apology

Investment and Finance Committee
The objective of this Committee is to provide guidance and assistance with the administrative procedures required for the completion 
of investment projects.
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The Committee convened four times during the review period with membership and meeting attendance being as follows:

Name of Director Meeting dates
21 February 2012 24 July 2012 04 December 2012 18 February 2013

Dr N Bhengu 
Chairperson until 31 October 2012 Apology Apology – –

Mr GP Tshelane 
Director until 31 August 2012 Apology Apology – –

Ms N Noxaka 
Director until 31 October 2012 Present Present – –

Mr L Aphane 
Director until 31 October 2012 Apology Apology – –

Mr J Keshaw
Alternate Director to Mr L Aphane until 31 October 2012 Present Present – –

Ms M Mokuena 
Chairperson from 01 November 2012 – – Present Present

Mr P Zwane 
Director from 01 November 2012 – – Present Present

Prof. T Majozi 
Director from 01 November 2012 – – Present Present

Mr Z Mbambo 
Director from 01 November 2012 – – Present Apology

Mr M Khoathane 
Director from 01 November 2012 – – Present Present

Executive Management Committee
In terms of Sections 22 and 23 of the Nuclear Energy Act, the CEO has the power and authority, among other things, to implement 
approved business plans, annual budgets and all other issues and matters relating to the achievement of Necsa’s goals, and 
prepare, review and recommend to the Board the annual budgets and any amendments thereto.

The CEO, in carrying out the powers set out above, is assisted by the Executive Management Committee. The CEO is the Chairperson 
of the Committee, which consists of nine members. The Committee’s main functions include alignment of Necsa’s business with the 
Group mission, vision, strategies, targets and policies and consideration of material business, strategic, financial and functional issues.

The members of the Executive Management Committee for the financial year were:

Name Capacity Appointed to the Committee
Mr D Robertson Acting CEO February–August 2012
Mr GP Tshelane CEO September 2012
Dr WvZ de Villiers Group Executive: Strategy and Performance November 2002
Mr AC van der Bijl Group Executive: Nuclear Technology Industrialisation January 2008
Ms N Dayaram Group Executive: Finance and Information Management April 2008
Mr LJ Shayi Group Executive: Nuclear Compliance and Services October 2008
Mr DM Moagi Group Executive: Human Resources October 2009
Ms CC Janneker Group Executive: Marketing and Communication April 2010
Dr Z Vilakazi Group Executive: Research and Development April 2011
Dr R Masango Group Executive: NURAD June 2010
Mr AC Mabunda Chief Legal Advisor and Company Secretariat November 2003
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Executive Management Committee

1 Mr GP Tshelane
Chief Executive Officer

2 Mr Don Robertson
Acting Chief Executive Officer

3 Dr Van Zyl de Villiers
Group Executive: Strategy and Performance

4 Mr Arie van der Bijl
Group Executive: Nuclear Technology 
Industrialisation

5 Ms Nishina Dayaram
Group Executive: Finance and Information 
Management

6 Mr Joseph Shayi
Group Executive: Nuclear Compliance and 
Services

7 Mr Daniel Moagi
Group Executive: Human Resources

8 Ms Chantal Janneker
Group Executive: Marketing and 
Communication

9 Dr Zeblon Vilakazi
Group Executive: Research and 
Development

10 Dr Ramatsemela Masango
Group Executive: NURAD

11 Mr Aukney Mabunda
Chief Legal Advisor and Company 
Secretariat

1 2 3 4

8 109 11

65 7
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Internal Control and Risk Management
The Directors are ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls, designated to provide reasonable assurance 
against material misstatement and loss. The Group maintains a system of internal financial controls designed to provide the 
Directors with assurance on the maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of financial information used within 
the business and for publication.

The internal control system includes:

• A documented organisational structure and reasonable division of responsibility;
• Established policies and procedure (including a Code of Ethics to foster a strong ethical climate); and
• Established mechanisms to ensure compliance.

Internal Audit
The Internal Audit function is responsible for:

• Assisting the Board and Management in monitoring the effectiveness of the Organisation’s Risk Management process;
• Assisting the Board and Management in maintaining effective controls by evaluating those controls continuously to 

determine their efficiency and effectiveness and recommending improvements; and
• Assisting the Board and Management in achieving objectives by evaluating the performance of units, departments and 

subsidiaries to determine their effectiveness and efficiency and recommending improvements.

The controls subject to evaluation encompass:

• The information management environment;
• The reliability and integrity of financial operating information;
• The safeguarding of assets; and
• The effective and efficient use of the Company’s resources.

Audit plans are based on an assessment of risk areas, as well as on issues highlighted by the Audit Committee and Management. 
Audit plans are updated as is appropriate to ensure they are responsive to changes in the business. Significant findings are 
reported to the Audit Committee at each of their scheduled meetings. Follow-up audits are conducted in areas where significant 
internal control weaknesses are found.

Corporate Governance best practice requires that the Internal Audit function reports directly to the Audit Committee. Such direct 
reporting is ensured by the Audit Committee’s mandate and practice to:

• Evaluate the effectiveness of Internal Audit;
• Review and approve the Internal Audit Charter, Internal Audit plans and Internal Audit conclusions about internal control;
• Review significant Internal Audit findings and the adequacy of corrective actions taken;
• Assess the performance of the Internal Audit function and the adequacy of available Internal Audit resources;
• Review significant differences of opinion between Management and the Internal Audit function; and
• Consider the appointment, dismissal or reassignment of the Head of Internal Audit.

The Charter of the Internal Audit Department provides that the Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the CEO and the 
Chairperson of the Audit Committee.

Risk Management
The Board is responsible for governing risk management processes in accordance with corporate governance requirements. The 
enterprise-wide Risk Management Process has the following principal objectives:

• Providing the Board with assurance that significant business risks are systematically identified, assessed and reduced to 
acceptable levels in order to achieve an optimal risk reward balance; and

• Making risk identification and risk management an integral part of the daily activities of everyone in the organisation.
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Necsa’s enterprise-wide risk management process is guided by the following key principles:

• A clear assignment of responsibilities and accountabilities;
• A common Risk Management Framework;
• The identification of uncertain future events that may influence the achievement of business plans and strategic objectives; and
• The integration of risk management activities within the organisation and across its value chains.

The Group has established an Internal Risk Management Committee which seeks to:

• Assist the Executive Management Committee and the Board with the development and implementation of the Risk 
Management Strategy and Policies;

• Develop a risk management process to identify Company risks and ensure all risks are identified and addressed through 
internal control mechanisms;

• Assist the Executive Management Committee and the Board to review and monitor the risk management process, as well 
as the various possible risks Necsa is exposed to; and

• Provide necessary information to the Executive Management Committee, the Audit Committee and any other Board 
Committees as may be required from time to time.

The Committee meets on a quarterly basis to assess risk management progress and initiatives. Group risk management is guided by 
a Risk Management Policy and Strategy which was adopted by the Executive Management Committee and approved by the Board; 
and which has defined risk tolerance and acceptable risk appetite levels. In addition to this, Internal Audit conducts a risk-based audit. 

Necsa’s integrated risk management implementation approach entails, among others, the development of strategic, functional 
and process risk profiles. Strategic risks are typically defined as those risks that may influence the achievement of strategic 
business objectives. Similarly, functional and process risks are defined as risks that may influence the achievement of functional 
and process objectives respectively.

Strategic Group Risks
The Necsa Group risk management process considers sustainability risks as well as current, imminent and envisaged risks that 
may threaten the long-term sustainability of the Group.

The most significant risks currently faced by the Group are discussed below.

Financial Resource Constraints
In recent years Necsa’s fixed cost base has increased at a higher rate than its government grant funding. Furthermore, the 
achievement of sales targets as a key Necsa revenue stream has come under pressure from the local and international economic 
downturn. As a public entity of the DoE, Necsa is mandated to undertake specific policy implementation, legislated and ministerially 
delegated functions. To this extent, Necsa is dependent on government grant funding which has not kept up with inflation and 
the growing cost base over the past three Medium-term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) periods, thereby placing the organisation 
under significant financial strain. In response to the financial constraints, Management implemented multiple reprioritisation 
exercises and severe austerity measures to reduce expenditure and meet financial obligations.

Ageing Necsa Group Production Plants and Equipment 
This is a cross-cutting risk that relates primarily to the Necsa site being ‘operable’ and complying with all nuclear licence and regulatory 
requirements. The site was developed many years ago and activities were progressively scaled down, especially during the 1990s as 
a result of South Africa's signing of the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty. However, nuclear R&D and commercial activities associated 
with Pelchem and NTP have continued, with the latter placing growing demand on production infrastructure and capacity. 

Recent preparations for the envisaged South African Nuclear Expansion Programme and related activities require appropriate site 
infrastructure. However, Necsa has not received sufficient government funding to make this possible. A preventative maintenance 
programme has been implemented, prioritising expenditure in line with increasing growing constraints. 

Opposition to Implementation of Nuclear Technologies due to Public Awareness 
This risk relates to the fact that Necsa, as a state-owned entity, might not be able to leverage future opportunities that may arise 
from South Africa’s Nuclear Power Expansion Programme, specifically in terms of the development of the fuel cycle to provide for 
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the requirements of the Programme, as well as exploitation of manufacturing opportunities that may arise from the localisation 
requirements of the Programme. Essentially, both globally and locally, public perceptions around nuclear energy remain a key 
strategic challenge and need to be dealt with effectively. The Necsa marketing campaign to address this issue had to be curtailed 
for financial reasons. However, Necsa attempted to overcome this through more effective utilisation of the Necsa Visitor Centre 
as well as outreach programmes.

Market and Production Risks Associated with the Business Operations of Pelchem and NTP 
Given that both subsidiary companies are production-based and subject to fluctuating market conditions, their risks vary with time and 
market volatility. Risks relating to subsidiaries are continuously dealt with through their respective risk management processes within 
their governance structures. These risks are reported to the Necsa Board to ensure that a Necsa Group perspective is maintained.

Risk Methodology
The responsibility for monitoring the management of each of these risks is assigned to an Executive Management Committee 
Member. Group Risk Management follows the Risk Management Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations 
(COSO) of the Treadway Commission, to ensure alignment with best practice. To give effect to this Framework, Necsa approved 
a Risk Management Strategy during 2012. The Strategy outlines roles and responsibilities for risk identification, assessment and 
management as well as the overall risk management process. 

As a nuclear organisation operating a nuclear research reactor, sustainability risks relating to safety, security, regulatory compliance 
and commercial success of subsidiaries define Necsa’s risk tolerance at a risk rating level of ≥16 (i.e. those risks with high impact 
and high likelihood of occurrence). Necsa’s risk appetite has been defined as “No risk may remain in the very high (unacceptable) 
category (15< rating ≤25) for longer than two consecutive quarters (six months) before being managed into a more acceptable 
(lower) risk category (rating ≤15)”. 

The Group Risk Management Process is as follows:

• Risk management is applied within all the divisions and subsidiaries as a continuous, proactive process by Management 
and personnel;

• All Necsa divisions and subsidiaries review the risks that may impact on the achievement of business objectives annually;
• Residual risks are rated on a five-point scale in terms of impact and likelihood of occurrence. The product of these ratings 

gives the total risk rating, with a maximum possible score of 25;
• The divisional and subsidiaries’ risks are then captured in risk registers on the Internal Risk Management Committee 

corporate database. Residual risks are rated and progress on specific mitigation actions is monitored;
• Risk information and assessments are considered by the Risk Management Committee on a quarterly basis. Risk ratings 

are also moderated, where necessary, to ensure a consistent overview of corporate risks;
• The Committee compiles a Necsa Risk Management Plan which is submitted to the Executive Management Committee for 

confirmation;
• The annually updated Plan is submitted to the Audit Committee for approval; 
• The status of implementation of actions to address the risks captured in this Plan is provided to the Executive Management 

and Audit committees as part of the quarterly reporting process; and
• The Management of Necsa’s subsidiaries are responsible for the implementation of Risk Management plans covering their 

business activities which are submitted to the relevant subsidiary boards and the Audit Committee for consideration.

Risk Management Assurance
Assurance for the Risk Management Process is provided through a series of interrelated processes which include the Internal Risk 
Management Committee, Internal Audit, the Audit Committee and ultimately the Board. Disaster Recovery Plans are continually 
reviewed for critical information management systems that could have a material impact on the Group’s continuing operations.

Fraud Prevention
In addition to the Risk Management Plan, Necsa annually prepares a Fraud Prevention Plan for approval by the Audit Committee. 
The Fraud Prevention Plan includes Corporate Culture and the Code of Ethics; defines management’s responsibility in fraud 
prevention; measures to reduce the probability of fraud; detection; and reaction and investigation. A fraud prevention hotline is 
in place. The Internal Audit Coverage Plan is risk-based, as the official Risk Management Plans of the Group are utilised as the 
basis for drafting Audit Plans in the different focus areas. The highest identified risks in Risk Management Plans, i.e. those at 
and above the threshold of Necsa’s risk appetite, are considered for inclusion in the Internal Audit Coverage Plan. However, in 
some instances, the discretion of the Auditor may be exercised to include risks with a lower likelihood and impact, as well as own 
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identified risks. Risk Management Plans are incorporated in the Necsa Corporate Plan which is submitted to both the Accounting 
and Executive Authorities on a regular basis.

Conflict of Interest 
Necsa has in place a system of reporting whereby Business Interests and Business Courtesies are declared by all staff members. 
The tender and procurement process is well structured and the above-mentioned declarations are again confirmed by the Tender 
Adjudication Committee members during the process to avert any conflict of interest. Should such conflict be identified, Necsa's 
Disciplinary Code is used to address the issue. No conflict of interest was detected during the review period.

Sustainability Reporting
The Company reports to the Board and its stakeholders on all aspects of its social, transformation, ethical, safety, health and 
environmental policies and practices. (See pages 38–65 of this Report for comprehensive reporting on Necsa’s sustainability).

Worker Participation and Employment Equity
The Group has established participative structures on issues that affect employees directly and materially and is committed to 
promoting equal opportunities and fair employment practices, regardless of employees’ ethnic origin or gender. Several programmes 
are in place to ensure realisation of worker participation and equity, namely: 

• The Necsa Retirement Fund Committee which is an independent body that acts as a governance structure for the Fund;
• The Employment Equity Committee which is responsible for alerting Management to equity issues;
• The Women in Nuclear (WiN-Necsa) Forum, an affiliate of Women in Nuclear in South Africa (WiNSA), through which 

Necsa women’s interests in nuclear are promoted; and 
• The South African Young Nuclear Professionals (SAYNPS), a body representing the interests of young nuclear professionals 

in the country. 

Code of Ethics
The Company’s Code of Ethics spells out fundamental ethical principles and standards in accordance with which Necsa will conduct 
itself with its various stakeholders, namely customers, suppliers, financiers and government departments. The Code emphasises 
the highest standards of compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

The principles contained in the Code have been communicated throughout the Group. A 24-hour fraud and corruption hotline is 
in place and has been operated by an independent service provider since 2004. Through this, staff members are able to bring 
serious irregularities to the attention of Management and the Board, without fear of victimisation. 

Public Finance Management Act
The Necsa Group complies in all material respects with the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), No. 1 of 1999.

Significance and Materiality Framework
The Materiality Framework for reporting losses through criminal conduct and irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as well 
as for significant transactions envisaged as per Section 54(2) of the PFMA, has been confirmed by the Board and the Shareholder 
compact. Such losses, which are identified, are disclosed as prescribed in the Act.

Governing Policies and Regulatory Framework
Necsa has an array of measures in place to ensure full compliance with legislation and regulations. This includes a comprehensive 
checklist relating to PFMA & National Treasury regulations; policies and procedures to meet all human resources management 
obligations (e.g. the Labour Relations Act and the Basic Conditions of Employment Act); reporting processes stemming from the 
PFMA and Nuclear Energy Act; a comprehensive system with policies and procedures covering all applicable regulations relating 
to safety, security, licensing, health, environmental and quality management. Compliance assurance relating to the latter group is 
performed through audits, inspections, event investigations, reports and statistics, as well as continual improvement measures.

Nuclear Licence
The Necsa site and facilities are operated in accordance with the overarching nuclear licence NL-27 which was issued in 1999 
in terms of the old Nuclear Energy Act, No. 131 of 1993.

International Agreements and Implementation
The execution of the Safeguards and Nuclear Non-Proliferation Agreements is reported on pages 42 and 43 of this Report.
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King III Checklist

Meets 
King III 

requirements
Where is it disclosed?

Chapter 1: Ethical leadership and corporate citizenship
Para. 49, 
practice 
note on 
ethics 
management

The Board should ensure that the Company’s ethics performance is 
disclosed in order to provide relevant and reliable information about 
the quality of the Company’s ethics performance. As part of its 
sustainability reporting, the Board reports on the Company’s ethics 
performance and discloses the information in a sustainability report.

 Disclosed in the Integrated 
Annual Report.

Chapter 2: Boards and Directors
Board Chairman
Para. 39 If the Board appoints a Chairman who is a Non-executive Director, 

but is not independent or is an Executive Director, this should be 
disclosed in the Integrated Report, together with the reasons and 
justifications for the appointment.

 Chairperson of the Board of 
Directors is an Independent 
Non-executive Director as 
disclosed on page 74.

Board composition
Para. 76 Every year, Non-executive Directors classified as ‘independent’ 

should undergo an evaluation of their independence by the 
Chairman and the Board. If the Chairman is not independent, 
the process should be led by the Lead Independent Director. 
Independence should be assessed by weighing all relevant factors 
that may impair independence. The classification of Directors in the 
Integrated Report, as independent or otherwise, should be done on 
the basis of this assessment.

 Disclosed on page 72.

Para. 78 Independent Non-executive Directors may serve longer than nine 
years if, after an independence assessment by the Board, there 
are no relationships or circumstances likely to affect, or appear 
to affect, the Director’s judgement. The assessment should show 
that the Independent Director’s independence of character and 
judgment is not in any way affected or impaired by the length 
of service. A statement to this effect should be included in the 
Integrated Report.

 There are currently no 
Independent Non-executive 
Directors who are serving 
longer than nine years.

Reporting
Para. 88 The following aspects regarding Directors should be disclosed in 

the Integrated Report:
• The reasons for the removal, resignation or retirement of 

Directors;
 Disclosed on under the 

heading Board of Directors 
on pg 72 and in the table 
on page 74.

• The composition of the Board and Board committees and the 
number of meetings held, attendance at those meetings and the 
manner in which the Board and its committees have discharged 
its duties;

 Disclosed on pages 76–80.

• The education, qualifications and experience of the Directors;  Disclosed on pages 74–76.
• The length of service and age of the Directors;  Disclosed on pages 74–76.
• Whether supervising of new management is required in which case 

retention of Board experience would be called for;
N/A  

• Other significant directorships of each Board Member;  Disclosed on pages 74–76.
• Actual or potential political connections or exposure; and  The non-independent  

members are declared 
as such because they are 
government representatives.

• Any other relevant information.  Disclosed in the Integrated 
Annual Report.

Board performance
Para. 114 The Board should state in the Integrated Report whether the 

appraisals of the Board and its committees have been conducted. 
The Report should provide an overview of the results of the 
performance assessment and the action plans to be implemented, 
if any.

N/A Previous Board was 
appraised. New Board to 
be appraised in the new 
reporting period.
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Meets 
King III 

requirements
Where is it disclosed?

Board committees
Para. 127 The composition of Board committees should be disclosed in the 

Integrated Report, including any external advisers who regularly 
attend or are invited to attend committee meetings.

 Disclosed in the Integrated 
Annual Report.

Para. 127 The Integrated Report should disclose the terms of reference of the 
Board committees, as approved by the Board.

 Disclosed on page 76.

Group versus Subsidiary Boards
Para. 145 Adopting and implementing policies and procedures of the Holding 

Company in the operations of the Subsidiary Company should 
be a matter for the Board of the Subsidiary Company to consider 
and approve, if the Subsidiary Company’s Board considers it 
appropriate. The Subsidiary Company should disclose this adoption 
and implementation in its Integrated Report.

 Disclosed in the Integrated 
Annual Report.

Directors’ remuneration
Para. 159 Base pay and bonuses: targets for threshold, expected and stretch 

targets for performance should be robustly set and monitored and 
the main performance parameters should be disclosed.

 Disclosed on pages 167 
and 168.

Para. 167 Participation in share incentive schemes should be restricted to 
employees and Executive Directors, and should have appropriate 
limits for individual participation, which should be disclosed.

N/A The Company does not 
have any share incentive 
scheme.

Para. 174 To align shareholders’ and Executives’ interests, vesting of share 
incentive awards should be conditional on achieving performance 
conditions. Such performance measures and the reasons for 
selecting them should be fully disclosed. Where performance 
measures are based on a comparative group of companies, there 
should be disclosure of the names of the companies chosen. 

N/A The Company does not 
have any share incentive 
scheme.

Para. 176 Incentive schemes to encourage retention should be established 
separately, or should be clearly distinguished, from those related 
to rewarding performance and should be disclosed in the Annual 
Remuneration Report voted on by shareholders.

N/A

Para. 180 Companies should provide full disclosure of each individual 
Executive and Non-executive Director’s remuneration, giving details 
as required in the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, of the following:



• Base pay;  Disclosed on pages 167 
and 168.

• Bonuses;  Disclosed on pages 167 
and 168.

• Share-based payments, granting of options or rights; N/A  
• Restraint payments; and N/A  
• All other benefits (including present values of existing future 

awards).
 Disclosed on pages 167 

and 168.
Similar information should be provided for persons falling within the 
definition of prescribed officers of the Company as defined in the 
Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008.

N/A  

Para. 181 In its Annual Remuneration Report, to be included in the Integrated 
Report, the Company should explain the remuneration policies 
followed throughout the Company with a special focus on Executive 
Management, and the strategic objectives that it seeks to achieve, 
and should provide clear disclosure of the implementation of those 
policies. 

 Disclosed on pages 93 
and 94.

Para. 182 The Remuneration Report should explain the policy on base pay, 
including the use of appropriate benchmarks. A policy to pay 
salaries on average at above median requires special justification. It 
should also explain and justify any material payments that may be 
viewed as being ex gratia in nature. 

 Disclosed on page 93.
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Meets 
King III 

requirements
Where is it disclosed?

Para. 
183–184

Policies regarding Executive employment contracts should be set 
out in the Annual Remuneration Report. 

 Disclosed on page 94.

These policies normally include at least the following:   
• The period of the contract and the period of notice of termination 

(after the initial period, contracts should normally be renewable 
yearly); and

 Disclosed in the Integrated 
Annual Report.

• The nature and period of any restraint.  Disclosed in the Integrated 
Annual Report.

Para. 185 The Annual Remuneration Report should disclose the maximum 
and the expected potential dilution that may result from the 
incentive awards granted in the current year.

N/A  

Chapter 3: Audit Committee
Interim results
Para. 40 Where the External Auditor is appointed to perform a publicly 

reported review of the interim results, the Report of the External 
Auditor should be made available to users of the interim Results 
and should be summarised in the Interim Results.

N/A Necsa does not issue 
Interim Results as it is 
not listed and this is not 
necessary for public 
entities.

Finance function
Para. 51 Every year, the Audit Committee should consider and satisfy itself 

of the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of resources 
of the finance function and experience of the senior members of 
management responsible for the financial function. The results of 
the review should be disclosed in the Integrated Report.

 Disclosed on pages 99–100.

Internal controls
Para. 69 The Audit Committee must conclude and report yearly to the 

stakeholders and the Board on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal financial controls.

 Disclosed on pages 99–100.

Para. 70 Weaknesses in financial control, whether from design, 
implementation or execution, that are considered material 
(individually or in combination with other weaknesses) and that 
resulted in actual material financial loss, fraud or material errors, 
should be reported to the Board and the stakeholders. It is not 
intended that this disclosure be made in the form of an exhaustive 
list, but rather an acknowledgement of the nature and extent of 
material weaknesses and the corrective action, if any, that has been 
taken to date of the report.

 There are no material 
weaknesses which are 
disclosed in the Integrated 
Annual Report, but the 
Report states significant 
findings are reported to the 
Audit Committee at each of 
their scheduled meetings. 
Follow-up audits are 
conducted in areas where 
significant internal control 
weaknesses are found.

Reporting
Para. 85 As a minimum, the Audit Committee should provide the following 

information in the Annual Financial Statements:
  

• A summary of the role of the Audit Committee;  Disclosed on page 77.
• A statement on whether or not the Audit Committee has 

adopted a formal terms of reference that have been approved 
by the Board and if so, whether the committee satisfied its 
responsibilities for the year in compliance with its terms of 
reference;

 Disclosed on pages 99–100.

• The names and qualifications of all members of the Audit 
Committee during the period under review, and the period for 
which they served on the Committee;

 Disclosed on page 77 and 
78.

• The number of Audit Committee meetings held during the period 
under review and members’ attendance at these meetings;

 Disclosed on page 78.

• A statement on whether or not the Audit Committee considered 
and recommended the Internal Audit Charter for approval by the 
Board;

 Disclosed on pages 99–100.

• A description of the working relationship with the Chief Audit 
Executive;

 Disclosed on pages 99–100.
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Meets 
King III 

requirements
Where is it disclosed?

Para. 85 
(cont.)

• Information about any other responsibilities assigned to the Audit 
Committee by the Board;

N/A

• A statement on whether the Audit Committee complied with its 
legal, regulatory or other responsibilities; and

 Disclosed on page 99.

• A statement on whether or not the Audit Committee 
recommended the Integrated Report to the Board for approval.

 Disclosed on page 99.

Chapter 4: The governance of risk
Board’s responsibility for risk
Para. 4 The Board should be able to disclose how it has satisfied itself that 

risk assessments, responses and interventions are effective.
 Disclosed on page 82.

Para. 13 The Board may set limits regarding the Company’s risk appetite i.e. 
the risk limits that the Board desires, or is willing, to take. Where 
the risk appetite exceeds, or deviates materially from the limits of 
the Company’s risk tolerance (the Company’s ability to tolerate), this 
should be disclosed in the Integrated Report.

 Necsa Group risk and fraud 
prevention management 
strategies and plans were 
successfully implemented 
according to best 
practice and stakeholder 
requirements. 

Risk assessment
Para. 39 The Company’s Integrated Report should include key sustainability 

risks, and responses to these risks and residual sustainability risks.
 Disclosed on pages 83 

and 84.
Risk disclosure
Para. 54 In its statement in the Integrated Report, the Board should disclose 

for the period under review any undue, unexpected or unusual risks 
it has taken in the pursuit of reward as well as any material losses 
and the causes of the losses. This disclosure should be made with 
due regard to the Company’s commercially privileged information. 
In disclosing the material losses, the Board should endeavour to 
quantify and disclose the impact that these losses have on the 
Company and the responses and interventions implemented by the 
Board and Management to prevent recurrence of the losses. 

 Disclosed in the Integrated 
Annual Report.

Para. 55 The Board should disclose any current, imminent or envisaged risk 
that may threaten the long-term sustainability of the Company.

 Disclosed on pages 83 
and 84.

Para. 56 The Board should also disclose its views on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s risk management processes in the Integrated Report.

 Disclosed on page 84.

Chapter 5: The governance of information technology
Para. 9 The Board should take the necessary steps to ensure that there are 

processes in place to ensure complete, timely, relevant, accurate 
and accessible IT reporting, firstly from Management to the Board, 
and secondly by the Board in the Integrated Report.

 Disclosed on page 41.

Chapter 6: Compliance with laws, codes, rules and standards
Para. 6 The Board should disclose in the Integrated Annual Report the 

applicable non-binding rules, codes and standards to which the 
Company adheres on a voluntary basis.

 Disclosed throughout the 
Integrated Annual Report.

Para. 10 The Board should disclose details in the Integrated Report on how 
it has discharged its responsibility to ensure the establishment of an 
effective Compliance Framework and processes.

 Disclosed throughout the 
Integrated Annual Report.

Para. 22 A company should consider disclosing in its Integrated Report any 
material – or immaterial but often repeated – regulatory penalties, 
sanctions and fines for contraventions or non-compliance with 
statutory obligations that were imposed on the Company or any of 
its Directors or Officers. Disclosure should be considered having 
regard to whether divulging the information that the disclosure 
will necessitate, would negatively affect the Company, breach 
confidentiality, or breach any agreement to which it is a party.

 Fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure disclosed on 
page 174.

Chapter 7: Internal Audit
The need for and role of Internal Audit
Para. 1 If the Board, in its discretion, decides not to establish an internal 

audit function, full reasons should be disclosed in the Company’s 
Integrated Report, with an explanation of how adequate assurance 
of an effective governance, risk management and internal control 
environment has been maintained.

 There is an Internal Audit 
function.

King III Checklist (continued)
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Meets 
King III 

requirements
Where is it disclosed?

Internal controls
Para. 12 The Board should report on the effectiveness of the system of 

internal controls in the Integrated Report.
 Disclosed on page 100.

Para. 30 The Audit Committee should provide comment on the state of the 
internal financial control environment in the Company’s Integrated 
Report.

 Disclosed on page 100.

Chapter 8: Governing stakeholder relationships
Para. 22 The Board should disclose in its Integrated Report the nature of its 

dealings with its stakeholders and the outcomes of these dealings.
 The Company reports to the 

Board and its stakeholders 
on all aspects of its social, 
transformation, ethical 
and safety, health and 
environmental policies and 
practices (Disclosed on 
pages 6, 7 and 48–51).

Para. 36 A Company should consider disclosing in its Integrated Report the 
number and reasons for refusals of requests for information that 
were lodged with the Company in terms of the Promotion of Access 
to Information Act, No. 2 of 2000. Disclosure must be considered 
having regard to whether divulging the information that the 
disclosure will necessitate will detrimentally affect the Company or 
breach confidentiality or any agreement to which it is a party.

N/A No requests for information 
were made.

Chapter 9: Integrated reporting and disclosure
Financial disclosure
Para. 8 The Annual Financial Statements should be included in the 

Integrated Report.
 Disclosed on pages 106–176.

Para. 9 The Board should include commentary on the Company’s financial 
results. This commentary should include information to enable a 
stakeholder to make an informed assessment of the Company’s 
economic value, by allowing stakeholders insight into the prospects 
for future value creation and the Board’s assessment of the key 
risks which may limit those prospects.

 Disclosed throughout the 
Integrated Annual Report, 
and pages 102–105.

Para. 10 The Board must disclose whether the Company is a going concern 
and whether it will continue to be a going concern in the financial 
year ahead. If there is concern about the Company’s going concern 
status, the Board should give the reasons and the steps it is taking 
to remedy the situation.

 Disclosed on page 174.

Sustainability disclosure
Para. 11–13 The Integrated Report should describe how the Company has 

made its money; hence the need to contextualise financial results 
by reporting on the positive and negative impact the Company’s 
operations had on its stakeholders. It is important for sustainability 
reporting and disclosure to highlight the Company’s plans to 
improve the positives and eradicate or mitigate the negatives in 
the financial year ahead. This will enable stakeholders to make an 
informed assessment of the economic value and sustainability of 
the Company.

 Disclosed throughout the 
Integrated Annual Report.

Reporting should be integrated across all areas of performance, 
reflecting the choices made in the strategic decisions adopted by 
the Board, and should include reporting in the triple context of 
economic, social and environmental issues. 

 Disclosed throughout the 
Integrated Annual Report.

Companies should recognise that the principle of transparency 
in reporting sustainability (commonly but incorrectly referred to 
as ‘non-financial’) information is a critical element of effective 
reporting. The key consideration is whether the information 
provided has allowed stakeholders to understand the key issues 
affecting the Company as well as the effect the Company’s 
operation has had on the economic, social and environmental 
wellbeing of the community, both positive and negative.

 Disclosed throughout the 
Integrated Annual Report.

Corporate Governance Report (continued)12
King III Checklist (continued)
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Meets 
King III 

requirements
Where is it disclosed?

Assurance of sustainability information
Para. 20 In obtaining assurance (of sustainability information), the Company 

should be clear on the scope of the assurance to be provided and 
this should also be disclosed.

N/A Although the report has 
been compiled with a view 
to level C compliance, it has 
not been audited.

To the extent that reports are subject to assurance, the name of the 
assurer should be clearly disclosed, together with the period under 
review, the scope of the assurance exercise, and the methodology 
adopted.

N/A

Summarised Integrated Report
Chapter 3 
Para. 41

Due to the volume and complexity of information conveyed in the 
Integrated Report, users benefit from a summary of the Integrated 
Report. The Company should therefore prepare a summarised 
integrated report in addition to the complete integrated report.

N/A No summarised report 
has been prepared due to 
financial prudence.

Contents of summarised Integrated Report
Chapter 3
Para. 42–43

The objective of the summarised Integrated Report is to give a 
concise but balanced view of the Company’s integrated information. 
In preparing the summarised Integrated Report, companies should 
give due consideration to:

N/A No summarised report has 
been prepared.

• Providing key financial information. The International Financial 
Reporting Standard on Interim Reporting (IAS 34) provides useful 
guidance as to which financial information and notes should be 
included;

N/A No summarised report has 
been prepared.

• Providing sufficient commentary by the Company to ensure 
an unbiased, succinct overview of the Company’s financial 
information; and

N/A No summarised report has 
been prepared.

• Providing the Company’s key performance measures regarding 
sustainability information.

N/A No summarised report has 
been prepared.

Summarised integrated information should be derived from the 
underlying Integrated Report and should include a statement to this 
effect.

N/A No summarised report has 
been prepared.

Assurance of summarised Integrated Report
Chapter 3
Para. 44

The Audit Committee should engage the External Auditors to 
provide an Assurance Report on summarised financial information, 
confirming that the summarised financial information is 
appropriately derived from the Annual Financial Statements.

N/A No summarised report has 
been prepared.

King III Checklist (continued)
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Remuneration Approach
The principle of “performance based remuneration” is one of the cornerstones of the reward philosophy, which is underpinned by 
sound remuneration management and governance and promoted throughout the organisation to ensure consistent application. 
This approach is designed to:

• Attract, motivate and retain the right employees who will deliver business success;
• Offer a holistic employee value proposition;
• Ensure that the sum total of the rewards offering is competitive, well defined, branded and communicated in such a way 

that employees value it;
• Optimise the return on investment of remuneration and benefits by balancing the reward offering in terms of financial and 

nonfinancial rewards; and
• Ensure that the Company complies with corporate governance guidelines in the way that remuneration is managed.

Remuneration Principles
To ensure the integrity and legitimacy of the total reward approach, the development and application of reward-related policies, 
programmes and practices as well as reward decisions are directed by core guiding reward principles contained in the reward 
philosophy. The reward philosophy is underpinned by sound remuneration management and governance principles which are 
promoted throughout Necsa to ensure consistent application. Principles include:

• All reward policies and practices should be free of inequitable distinctions;
• Investment in human capital on the basis of affordability and return on investment using all elements of the total reward 

which include:
- Fixed remuneration
- Variable pay (incentives)
- Benefits
- Work-life balance
- Performance management
- Development and career opportunities;

• The reward and recognition of high performance;
• An effective, workable performance management system which allows for the differentiation of pay for individuals and 

teams that are performing and delivering value for the business;
• A tightly managed salary bill in order for the business to fund the various aspects of the total reward environment; and
• Clear principles around pay practices, levels, performance management and cost management.

Necsa undertakes to remunerate executive employees in line with market benchmarks, taking into account:

• The size of the company;
• Budget;
• Economic indicators; and
• The type of company.

A number of variables will, from time to time, influence the remuneration of executives, such as:

• The maturity of Necsa;
• Trends in remuneration practices; and
• The financial status of the organisation.

Base Salary
Executive employees are paid a guaranteed package, based on the ‘total cost to company’ principle.

Variable Pay
Variable pay is paid on performance. This implies not only the individual’s performance but also the performance of Necsa. Unlike 
guaranteed annual bonuses, these are not regular guaranteed payments and, if granted, may be paid in variable instalments in 
any one year based on Necsa’s variable pay model.
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Remuneration Report (continued)13

Other Benefits
Other benefits include medical aid and membership of a defined contribution provident fund scheme, full details of which are 
covered elsewhere in this report.

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
The remuneration of Necsa’s Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Minister of Energy in terms of the Nuclear Energy Act, 
No. 46 of 1999. In making her determination in this respect, the Minister also takes into account the relevant National Treasury 
Regulations and/or framework on remuneration of Non-Executive Directors of state-owned entities.

Board Members Remunerated During the Financial Year 2012/13

Name Remuneration
Other

re-imbursements Total

(R) (R) (R)

Dipico EM 38,880 723 39,603

Seekoe MJ 241,056 3,372 244,428

Shaik-Peremanov N 265,172 4,927 270,099

Bhengu NM 87,958 1,598 89,556

Mokuena MM 32,904 588 33,492

Noxaka LN 80,892 1,504 82,396

Zwane P 50,256 934 51,190

Khoathane MMEG 56,040 1,035 57,075

Majozi T 79,176 1,472 80,648

Tshelane GP 143,724 2,531 146,255

Board Members not Remunerated Due to Delegation

Mxakato-Diseko NJ Minty AS 

D Robertson Gumbi L 

Kellerman J Msimang VZ 

Aphane LF Mbambo ZS

Keshaw JB Monale PE

Remuneration of Executive Directors and Employees

Remuneration of Executive Directors
Necsa’s dedicated Human Resource and Remuneration Committee, details of which are reported in the Corporate Governance 
Report, oversees the principles for remuneration of executive employees. Implementation is managed through the Human 
Resources and Finance Departments.

Adjustments to the remuneration of Executive Directors are recommended by the Social & Ethics Committee and are approved by 
the Board of Directors. Remuneration of Executive Directors is disclosed under note 43 in the financial statements.

Remuneration of the Three Non-Executive Employees

Name Company
Total

(R)

PL van der Walt NTP R1,552,258

BJ Steynberg Necsa R1,408,797

AB Myoli Necsa R1,366,156
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financial report 14

The annual financial statements were supervised by: 
Ms Mbali Mfeka, Acting Group Executive: 

Finance and Information Management
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The Directors are required in terms of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 (Companies Act) and the Public Finance Management Act, 
No. 1 of 1999 (PFMA) to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the Annual Financial 
Statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the Annual Financial Statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the 
period then ended, in conformity with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (SA GAAP) and the PFMA. 
The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.

The Annual Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with SA GAAP and are based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Group and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board of 
Directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include 
the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation 
of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all employees are required to 
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances 
is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate 
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by Management, that the system of internal control 
provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements. However, 
any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the foreseeable future and in the light of this review and the current 
financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has or has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, with certain key processes to be followed and actions to be taken (Refer to the Directors' report.)

The Group and Company Annual Financial Statements have been audited by the Group's external auditors and their report is presented 
in the Annual Financial Statements.

The Annual Financial Statements as indexed on page 1, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 27 July 2013 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr MJ Seekoe Mr GP Tshelane
Chairperson Chief Executive Officer

Pelindaba
31 July 2013

Directors' Responsibilities and Approval
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE SOUTH AFRICAN 
NUCLEAR ENERGY CORPORATION SOC LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Introduction
1. I have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of the South African Nuclear Energy Corporation SOC Limited 

and Its subsidiaries set out on pages 106 to 176, which comprise the consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at 
31 March 2013, the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

Accounting Authority's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. The board of directors which constitutes the accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 

consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (SA Statements of GAAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 
1999) (PFMA) and the Companies Act of South Africa, 2008 (Act No 71 of 2008), and for such internal control as the accounting 
authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General's Responsibility
3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on my audit. I conducted 

my audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the General Notice issued in 
terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated and 
separate financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
6. In my opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

South African Nuclear Energy Corporation SOC Limited and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2013, and their financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with SA Statements of GAAP and the requirements of the PFMA and the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

Additional Matter
7. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Reports Required by the Companies Act
8. As part of my audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013, I have read the Directors' Report, the Audit 

Committee's Report and the Company Secretary's Certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies 
between these reports and the audited financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based 
on reading these reports I have not identified material inconsistencies between the reports and the audited financial statements. I 
have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on them.

Report of the Auditor-General
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
9. In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice issued in terms thereof, I report the following findings relevant to performance 

against predetermined objectives, compliance with laws and regulations and internal control, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion.

Predetermined Objectives 
10. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the information in the South African Nuclear Energy 

Corporation SOC Limited’s group annual performance report as set out on pages 67 to 68 of the annual report.
11. The reported performance against predetermined objectives was evaluated against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. 

The usefulness of information in the annual performance report relates to whether it is presented in accordance with the National 
Treasury's annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance is consistent with the planned objectives. The usefulness 
of information further relates to whether indicators and targets are measurable (i.e. well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable and 
time bound) and relevant as required by the National Treasury Framework for managing programme performance information.

 The reliability of the information in respect of the selected objectives is assessed to determine whether it adequately reflects the facts 
(i.e. whether it is valid, accurate and complete).

12. There were no material findings on the Necsa annual performance report concerning the usefulness and reliability of the information.

Additional Matter
13. Although no material findings concerning the usefulness and reliability of the performance information was identified in the NECSA 

annual performance report, I draw attention to the following matter below.

Achievement of Planned Targets
14. Of the total number of 19 targets planned for the year, six of targets were not achieved during the year under review. This represents 

32% (>20%) of total planned targets that were not achieved during the year under review. For further details on the extent and 
reasons for deviations between planned targets and actual performance refer to pages 67 to 68 of the annual performance report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations
15. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity has complied with applicable laws and regulations regarding financial 

matters, financial management and other related matters. I did not identify any instances of material non-compliance with specific 
matters in key applicable laws and regulations as set out in the General Notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Internal Control
16. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, the Necsa annual performance report and compliance 

with laws and regulations. I did not identify any deficiencies in internal control which I considered sufficiently significant for inclusion 
in this report.

Pretoria
31 July 2013

Report of the Auditor-General (continued)
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We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Audit Committee Terms of Reference
The Audit Committee reports that it has adopted formal Terms of Reference that have been approved by the Board of Directors. The 
Committee has conducted its affairs in compliance with its Terms of Reference and has discharged its responsibilities contained therein. 
The Terms of Reference are available on request.

Audit Committee Members, Meeting Attendance and Qualifications
The Committee is independent and consists of three independent, Non-executive Directors. It meets at least four times per year as 
per its terms of reference. Attendance of meetings, dates of appointments as well as qualifications of the members are included in the 
governance report.

Roles and Responsibilities

Statutory Duties
The Committee's role and responsibilities include statutory duties as per the Companies Act, PFMA and further responsibilities assigned 
to it by the Board of Directors.

External Auditor Appointments and Independence
The Committee has satisfied itself that the external auditor was independent of the Group, as set out in the Companies Act, which includes 
consideration of conflicts of interest as prescribed by the Public Auditors Act (PAA). Requisite assurance was sought and provided by the 
external auditor that internal governance processes within the audit firm support and demonstrate its claims to independence.

The Committee, in consultation with Executive Management, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, audit plan and budgeted audit 
fees for the 2013 year.

Financial Statements and Accounting Practices
The Committee has evaluated the Annual Financial Statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013 and, 
based on the information provided to the Committee, considers that they comply, in all material respects with the requirements of the 
Companies Act, the PFMA, and South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. The Committee concurs that 
the adoption of the going concern premise in the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements is appropriate. The Committee has 
recommended the adoption of the Annual Financial Statements and the Integrated Annual Report by the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has:

• Reviewed and discussed with the Auditor-General and Accounting Authority, the audited Annual Financial Statements;
• Reviewed the Auditor-General's management letter and management response;
• Reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices;
• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit; and
• Reviewed and discussed with the Accounting Authority, the Performance Information submitted to the Auditor-General.

Internal Financial Controls
The Committee is satisfied that internal controls and systems have been put in place and that these controls have functioned effectively 
during the period under review. The Committee has overseen a process by which internal audit has performed audits according to a risk 
based audit plan where the effectiveness of the risk management and internal controls were evaluated. The findings of these evaluations 
formed the basis for the Committee's recommendations in this regard to the Board of Directors, in order for the Board of Directors to 
report thereon.

Report of the Audit Committee
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Report of the Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee is satisfied, based on the information and explanations given by Management and the internal audit department, 
as well as through discussion with the Auditor-General on the result of their audits, that an adequate system of internal control is being 
maintained to:

• Reduce the entity's risk to an acceptable level;
• Meet the business objectives of the organisation;
• Review changes in accounting policies and practices;
• Ensure the organisation's assets are adequately safeguarded; and
• Ensure that the transactions undertaken are recorded in the organisation's records.

Going Concern
The Committee has reviewed Management's assessment of the going concern status of the Group and has made recommendation to 
the Board of Directors.

Internal Audit
The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Group's internal audit function is independent and has the necessary resources, standing 
and authority within the Group to enable it to discharge its duties. Furthermore, the Committee oversees co-operation between the internal 
and external auditors and serves as a link between the Board of Directors and these functions. The Committee considered and approved 
the internal audit charter. The internal audit function's annual audit plan and three year strategic plan were approved by the Committee.

The internal audit function reports administratively to the Chief Executive Officer and functionally to this Committee and is responsible 
for reviewing and providing assurance on the adequacy of the internal control environment across all of the Group's operations. The 
Internal Audit Manager has direct access to the Committee, primarily through its Chairperson.

From the various reports of the internal auditors, it was noted that no matters were reported that indicate any material deficiencies in the 
systems of internal control. Risks that have been identified through various processes are being addressed.

Expertise and Experience of Chief Financial Officer and Finance Function
The Committee has satisfied itself that the Chief Financial Officer has appropriate expertise and experience. The Committee has considered, 
and has satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and the adequacy of resources of the finance function and experience of 
the senior members of management responsible for the financial function.

Governance of Risk
The Committee oversees the implementation of the policy and plan which ensure that risk is managed by means of risk management 
systems and processes. The Committee is satisfied that appropriate and effective systems are in place for risk management.

Auditor-General
During the year, the Committee met with the external auditors, without management being present. The Committee accepts the audit 
opinion of the Auditor-General on the Annual Financial Statements and recommends that the audited Annual Financial Statements be 
accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General.

Mr PZR Zwane
Chairperson: Necsa Audit Committee
31 July 2013
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In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, as amended, I certify that the Group has lodged with the commissioner all such returns 
as are required of a state-owned company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Mr AC Mabunda
Company Secretary
Pelindaba 
31 July 2013

Group Secretary’s Certification
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The Directors submit their report for the year ended 31 March 2013.

Incorporation
The Company was incorporated on 24 February 2000 and obtained its certificate to commence business on the same day.

Review of Activities

Main Business and Operations
Necsa is responsible for managing certain institutional obligations defined in the Nuclear Energy Act, No. 46 of 1999 (Nuclear Energy 
Act). The main functions of the Company are:

• To undertake and promote research and development in the field of nuclear energy and radiation sciences and technology and 
subjected to the Safeguards agreement, to make these generally available;

• To process source material, special nuclear material and restricted material and to process and enrich source material and 
nuclear material; and 

• To co-operate with any person or institution in matters falling within these functions subject to the approval of the minister.

Ancillary powers and functions may be granted to the Group:

• In connection with its main functions;
• In order to create and utilise viable business opportunities in commerce and industry; and
• In order to undertake the development and/or exploitation of nuclear technology or nuclear related technology.

The subsidiaries in turn, have a mandate from Necsa to operate the Companies in a self-sustainable manner and to remain competitive 
in the industries within which they operate.

The operating results and state of affairs of the Group and Company are fully set out in the Annual Financial Statements and do not, in 
our opinion, require any further comment.

Going Concern
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent 
obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of factors. The most significant of these is that the 
Department of Energy continues to provide funding for the ongoing operations of the Company.

The Directors have reviewed the Group's forecast financial performance for the foreseeable future as well as the longer term budget and 
in light of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future on the basis that certain key processes and actions be undertaken in the short to medium term. 

Events after the Reporting Period
The Directors are not aware of any circumstance arising since the end of the financial year that would require adjustment to, or disclosure 
in, the financial statements, except for the matters detailed below.

• A material uncertainty exists as to whether a subsidiary, Pelchem SOC Ltd, will be able to meet its obligations as they fall due, as 
Pelchem's liabilities exceeded its fairly valued assets at the end of the reporting period. Necsa has, as the 100% shareholder of 
Pelchem SOC Ltd, agreed to support Pelchem SOC Ltd by providing funding and/or assisting Pelchem SOC Ltd. The agreed support 
will cease when Pelchem SOC Ltd is no longer a subsidiary of Necsa or when the fairly valued assets of Pelchem SOC Ltd exceed 
its liabilities (including contingent liabilities).

• A material uncertainty exists as to whether a subsidiary, Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd, would be able to meet its obligations as they 
fall due, as this subsidiary’s liabilities exceeded its fairly valued assets at the end of the reporting period. Gammatec NDT Supplies 
SOC Ltd, as the 90% shareholder of Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd, has given a letter of support to the Management and auditors of 
Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd that it will provide an appropriate level of financial support to ensure that Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd is in 
a position to meet its financial liabilities and obligations as and when they fall due for at least a period of 12 months from 17 July 2013. 
This includes not calling in any amounts due from Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd for a period of 12 months from 17 July 2013.

Directors' Report
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Directors' Interest in Contracts
All Directors have given general declarations of interest in terms of section 75(4) of the Companies Act. Refer to note 41 for details on 
transactions entered into during the year.

Authorised and Issued Share Capital
There were no changes in the authorised or issued share capital of the Group during the year under review or the previous year.

Dividends
No dividends were declared or paid to shareholders during the year.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name Nationality Changes
Mr D Robertson (Executive Director) South African Acting Chief Executive Officer from 01 February 2012 

to 31 August 2012

Mr GP Tshelane (Executive Director) South African Appointed Chief Executive Officer on 01 September 2012

Dr EM Dipico (Chairperson until 31 July 2012) South African Resigned 31 July 2012

Dr MJ Seekoe (Chairperson) South African Appointed 01 August 2012

Ms NJ Mxakato Diseko (Deputy Chairperson) South African Appointed 01 February 2013

Dr NM Bhengu South African Term ended 31 October 2012

Ms LN Noxaka South African Term ended 31 October 2012

Mr LF Aphane South African Term ended 31 October 2012

Mr PZR Zwane South African Appointed 01 November 2012

Adv N Shaik Peremanov (Deputy Chairperson until 
31 October 2012)

South African Re-appointed independent Non-executive Director for 
a second term from 01 November 2012

Prof. T Majozi South African Re-appointed independent Non-executive Director for 
a second term from 01 November 2012

Mr MMEG Khoathane South African Appointed 01 November 2012

Mr ZS Mbambo South African Appointed 01 November 2012

Ms MM Mokuena South African Appointed 01 November 2012

Mr J Kellerman (Alternate to NJ Mxakato Diseko) South African Appointed 01 August 2012

Ms PE Monale (Alternate to ZS Mbambo) South African Appointed 01 November 2012

Mr AS Minty South African Term ended 31 October 2012

Mr VZ Msimang South African Term ended 31 October 2012

Mr JB Keshaw (Alternate Director to LF Aphane) South African Term ended 31 October 2012

Mr LM Gumbi (Alternate Director to AS Minty) South African Resigned 31 July 2012

Secretary
The secretary of the Company is Mr AC Mabunda. His address is as follows:

Business address Pelindaba 
 Elias Motswaledi/Church Street West Extension 
 Madibeng District 
 North West Province
 2025
 
Postal address PO Box 582
 Pretoria
 0001

Controlling Entity
The Company's controlling entity is the Department of Energy.
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Directors' Report (continued)

Interest in Subsidiaries

Name of 
Company

Nature of 
Business

Issued share capital Effective 
percentage Number of shares Indebtedness Profit/(Loss) after 

taxation
2013 2012 2013 2012

2013 2012
2013 2012 2013 2012

R R % % R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
ARECSA Human 
Capital SOC Ltd6

Training in 
nuclear & related 
industries

1,000 1,000 51 51 510 510 – – (25) 247

Cyclofil SOC Ltd6 Dormant 1 1 100 100 1 1 – – – –
NTP 
Radioisotopes 
SOC Ltd6

Marketing and 
distribution of 
radiopharma 
ceuticals

220 220 100 100 220 220 – – 118,636 104,681

NTP Logistics 
SOC Ltd1

Logistics 100 100 51 51 51 51 – –  5,182 6,305

NTP 
Radioisotopes 
Europe SA1

Supply 
isotopes and 
accessories for 
the radiographic 
non-destructive 
testing market

726,137 – 100 – 1,000 – 16,729 – 873 –

AEC-Amersham 
SOC Ltd1

Marketing of 
radiopharma 
ceutical products

4,000 4,000 100 100 4,000 4,000 – – 5,064 2,777

Pharmatopes 
SOC Ltd3

Dormant 1,000 1,000 100 100 1,000 1,000 – – –  326

Gammatec 
NDT Supplies 
SOC Ltd1

Non-destructive 
testing 
equipment and 
accessories

300 300 55 55 165 165 – – 10,294 12,505

Gammatec 
Aseana NDT 
Supplies SDN.
BHD4

Non-destructive 
testing 
equipment, 
accessories and 
consumables 

1,492,850 1,119,075 49.5 49.5 450,000 450,000 – – (404) (1,235)

Gamma Film 
Industries 
SOC Ltd4

Dormant 100 100 55 55 100 100 – – – 13

Gammatec 
Middle East 
General Trading 
Liability Co4

Non-destructive 
testing 
equipment, 
accessories and 
consumables 

754,395 553,110 41.81 41.81 228 228 – – (687) (6,061)

Lectromax 
Australia Pty Ltd4

Non-destructive 
testing 
equipment 

192,47 140 49.5 49.5 18 18 – – (2,298) (2,680)

Lectromax New 
Zealand Pty Ltd5

Dormant – 5,157 – 49.5 – 1,000 – – (7) (140)

Pelchem 
SOC Ltd6

Fluorochemical 
products

770,310 770,310 100 100 770,310 770,310 12,556 12,278 (41,963) 444

Fluoro Pack 
SOC Ltd2

Dormant 100 100 100 100 100 100 – – – –

Fluorochem 
SOC Ltd2

Dormant 100 100 100 100 100 100 – – – –

Fluoropharm 
SOC Ltd2

Dormant 4,000 4,000 100 100 4,000 4,000 – – – –

Limited 
Electronics 
South Africa 
SOC Ltd2

Manufacturing 
and distribution 
of Nitrogen 
Trifluoride

1,000 1,000 100 49.9 1,000 499 – – 2,021 (7,731)

1 Subsidiary of NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd
2 Subsidiary of Pelchem SOC Ltd
3 Subsidiary of AEC-Amersham SOC Ltd
4 Subsidiary of Gammatec NDT Supplies SOC Ltd
5 Subsidiary of Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd
6 Subsidiary of Necsa SOC Ltd

Details of the Group's investment in subsidiaries are set out in note 7.
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Interest in Associates

Name of Company Nature of business

Issued share 
capital

Effective 
percentage Number of shares

2013 2012 2013 2012
2013 2012

R R % %
Business Venture Exploration 
Investments No. 33 (Pty) Ltd2

Dormant 3,840 3,840 41.61 41.61 1,598 1,598

Gamwave Gauteng (Pty) Ltd 
(formerly Cyclotope)3

Radiation of food sources 100  – 40  – 40  – 

Oserix1 Supply isotopes and accessories for the 
radiographic non-destructive testing market

582 582 25 25 2,500 2,500

Element 423 Dormant – – 50 50 – –
1  Associate of Gammatec NDT Supplies SOC Ltd
2  Associate of Necsa SOC Ltd
3 Associate of NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd 

Details of the Group's investment in associates are set out in note 8.

Auditors
The Auditor-General of South Africa will continue in office in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act.

Compliance with Legislation
The Directors believe the Group has complied, in all material respects, with the provisions of the Companies Act, PFMA and the Nuclear 
Energy Act and other applicable legislation during the year under review.
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Group Company

Note(s) 2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Assets
Non-current assets

Investment property 3 17,179 16,404 68,128 69,733

Property, plant and equipment 4 971,791 874,644 729,051 683,967

Goodwill 5 11,357 14,587 - -

Intangible assets 6 9,630 1,866 - -

Investments in subsidiaries 7 - - 309,454 319,519

Investments in associates 8 690 260 2 2

Loans to group companies 9 - 1,026 - -

Other financial assets 10 143,024 105,292 142,990 105,276

Deferred tax 11 18,413 18,085 - -

Finance lease receivables 12 - 693 - -

1,172,084 1,032,857 1,249,625 1,178,497

Current assets

Current tax receivable 2,626 1,621 - -

Loans to group companies 9 2,710 - 14,477 13,011

Finance lease receivables 12 98 5 - -

Inventories 13 266,281 215,535 26,060 36,383

Trade and other receivables 14 352,839 315,598 125,078 102,515

Cash and cash equivalents 15 475,974 462,541 97,009 76,422

1,100,528 995,300 262,624 228,331

Total assets 2,272,612 2,028,157 1,512,249 1,406,828

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
on 31 March 2013
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Group Company

Note(s) 2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Equity and liabilities
Equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of parent

Share capital 16 2,205 2,205 2,205 2,205

Reserves 318,046 323,310 291,132 295,034

Retained income 538,318 399,325 122,689 97,118

858,569 724,840 416,026 394,357

Non-controlling interest 29,043 23,208 - -

887,612 748,048 416,026 394,357

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Loans from group companies 9 - 2,728 - -

Other financial liabilities 17 10,408 10,928 - -

Finance lease obligation 18 4,759 3,193 1,394 2,867

Retirement benefit obligation 19 410,333 395,104 388,587 377,063

Deferred income 20 303,085 266,381 303,085 266,381

Deferred tax 11 25 214 - -

Provisions 21 141,962 159,491 145,881 113,475

870,572 838,039 838,947 759,786

Current liabilities

Loans from shareholders 22 1,106 861 - -

Other financial liabilities 17 1,422 2,248 - -

Current tax payable 399 1,311 - -

Finance lease obligation 18 2,828 4,025 2,828 3,397

Trade and other payables 23 351,983 305,580 143,627 157,269

Retirement benefit obligation 19 21,015 - 20,505 -

Deferred income 20 54,811 27,739 54,811 27,728

Provisions 21 65,695 88,136 35,505 64,291

Bank overdraft 15 15,169 12,170 - -

514,428 442,070 257,276 252,685

Total liabilities 1,385,000 1,280,109 1,096,223 1,012,471

Total equity and liabilities 2,272,612 2,028,157 1,512,249 1,406,828
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Group Company

Note(s) 2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Revenue 28 1,681,262 1,643,370 793,057 854,753

Cost of sales 29 (707,078) (647,517) (171,228) (191,482)

Gross profit 974,184 995,853 621,829 663,271

Other income 78,310 50,121 41,057 32,931

Operating expenses (741,481) (851,562) (593,091) (718,690)

Administration expenses (104,022) (95,721) (68,805) (72,382)

Operating profit/(loss) 30 206,991 98,691 990 (94,870)

Investment revenue 31 46,728 44,785 59,332 53,998

Fair value adjustments 32 775 (3,464) (1,605) (5,976)

Income from equity accounted investments 430 257 – –

Finance costs 33 (20,040) (12,328) (2,364) 418

Profit/(Loss) before taxation 234,884 127,941 56,353 (46,430)

Taxation 34 (57,794) (55,127) – –

Profit/(Loss) for the year 177,090 72,814 56,353 (46,430)

Other comprehensive income:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (1,761) (1,201) – –

Available-for-sale financial assets adjustments 4,654 1,522 4,647 1,520

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (41,596) (32,840) (39,331) (30,179)

Gains and losses on property revaluation 1,177 (1,629) – –

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year net of taxation 36 (37,526) (34,148) (34,684) (28,659)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 139,564 38,666 21,669 (75,089)

Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to: 171,255 65,403 56,353 (46,430)

Owners of the parent 5,835 7,411 – –

Non-controlling interest 177,090 72,814 56,353 (46,430)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable to:

Owners of the parent 133,729 31,255 21,669 (75,089)

Non-controlling interest 5,835 7,411 – –

139,564 38,666 21,669 (75,089)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Share 
capital

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Revaluation 
reserve

Fair value 
adjustment 

assets 
available–
for–sale 
reserve

Total 
reserves

Retained 
income

Total 
attributable 
to equity 
holders of 
the group / 
company

Non–
controlling 

interest

Total 
equity

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group
Balance at 
01 April 2011 2,205 548 334,112 1,170 335,830 355,550 693,585 15,797 709,382

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – (1,201) (1,629) 1,522 (1,308) 32,563 31,255 7,411 38,666

Transfer between 
reserves – – (11,212) – (11,212) 11,212 – – –

Total changes – (1,201) (12,841) 1,522 (12,520) 43,775 31,255 7,411 38,666

Balance at 
01 April 2012 2,205 (653) 321,271 2,692 323,310 399,325 724,840 23,208 748,048

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – (1,761) 1,177 4,654 4,070 129,659 133,729 5,835 139,564

Transfer between 
reserves – – (9,334) – (9,334) 9,334 – – –

Total changes – (1,761) (8,157) 4,654 (5,264) 138,993 133,729 5,835 139,564

Balance at 
31 March 2013 2,205 (2,414) 313,114 7,346 318,046 538,318 858,569 29,043 887,612

Note(s) 16 36 26&36 27&36

Company
Balance at 
01 April 2011 2,205 – 303,560 1,166 304,726 162,515 469,446 – 469,446

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – – – 1,520 1,520 (76,609) (75,089) – (75,089)

Transfer between 
reserves – – (11,212) – (11,212) 11,212 – – –

Total changes – – (11,212) 1,520 (9,692) (65,397) (75,089) – (75,089)

Balance at 
01 April 2012 2,205 – 292,348 2,686 295,034 97,118 394,357 – 394,357

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – – – 4,647 4,647 17,022 21,669 – 21,669

Transfer between 
reserves – – (8,549) – (8,549) 8,549 – – –

Total changes – – (8,549) 4,647 (3,902) 25,571 21,669 – 21,669

Balance at 
31 March 2013 2,205 – 283,799 7,333 291,132 122,689 416,026 – 416,026

Note(s) 16 36 26&36 27&36

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Group Company

Note(s) 2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 1,644,021 1,645,236 747,369 918,640

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (1,420,782) (1,380,730) (718,189) (825,964)

Cash generated from operations 37 223,239 264,506 29,180 92,676

Interest received 41,535 35,461 14,465 16,516

Interest paid (12,806) (3,508) (631) 1,404

Tax paid 38 (59,806) (58,176) – –

Net cash from operating activities 192,162 238,283 43,014 110,596

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 (200,459) (170,359) (92,456) (110,654)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 4 670 6,380 – –

Purchase of intangible assets 6 (9,179) (738) – –

Loans to minority shareholders (245) (21) – –

Proceeds from loans from group companies (4,412) 170 (1,466) 11,275

Purchase of financial assets (32,069) (34,713) (32,058) (34,712)

Dividends received 1 78 41,808 37,482

Net cash from investing activities (245,693) (199,203) (84,172) (96,609)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of other financial liabilities – 11,010 – –

Increase in post retirement medical aid – (25,725) – –

Net finance lease receipts (payments) 189 – (2,042) (2,834)

Change in Government Grant deferred income 63,776 (44,616) 63,787 (44,627)

Net cash from financing activities 63,965 (59,331) 61,745 (47,461)

Total cash movement for the year 10,434 (20,251) 20,587 (33,474)

Cash at the beginning of the year 450,371 470,622 76,422 109,896

Total cash at end of the year 15 460,805 450,371 97,009 76,422

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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1. Basis of Preparation
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (SA GAAP), the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 and the Public Finance Management Act, No. 29 of 1999. The financial 
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial instruments that are measured at 
revalued amounts or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

The principal accounting policies are set out below. 

1.1 Consolidation

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated Annual Financial Statements incorporate the Annual Financial Statements of the Company and all entities which are 
controlled by the Company.

Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement 
of financial position from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 

Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this 
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the Annual Financial Statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with 
those of the Group. All inter-group balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the Group's interest 
therein, and are recognised within equity. 

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted 
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of 
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets 
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued 
amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity, the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Company 
had directly disposed of the relevant assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by 
applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the 
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when 
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity. Where a subsidiary is disposed 
of and a non-controlling shareholding is retained, the remaining investment is measured to fair value with the adjustment to fair value 
recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of the controlling interest.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is 
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities 
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Accounting Policies
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Accounting Policies (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, including acquired contingent liabilities are recognised 
at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

• Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in 
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

• Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment 
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

• Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and 
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, 
and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts 
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceed the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets 
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the 
recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction 
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. 

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as part of the 
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement 
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are 
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the 
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. 

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period 
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
re-measured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that 
is classified as an asset or a liability is re-measured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value 
at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. 
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, 
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted 
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about 
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date. 

Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant 
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but does not constitute control or joint 
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method 
of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held-for-sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 
Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially 
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recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest 
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate), 
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are classified as liabilities when recognised, only to the 
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount 
of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over 
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s 
investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment 
in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value-in-use and fair 
value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. 
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment 
subsequently increases. 

When a Group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in 
the Group' consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

When the Group reduces its level of significant influence or loses significant influence, the Group proportionately reclassifies the related 
items which were previously accumulated in equity through other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 
In such cases, if an investment remains, that investment is measured to fair value, with the fair value adjustment being recognised in 
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

1.2 Significant Judgements and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In preparing the Annual Financial Statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
presented in the Annual Financial Statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement are 
inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the Annual 
Financial Statements. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables, held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables
The Group assesses its trade receivables, held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Group makes judgements as to 
whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables, held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables is calculated on a portfolio basis, based 
on historical loss ratios, adjusted for national and industry-specific economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting 
date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the 
estimated loss emergence period. 

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine when an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired. This determination requires 
significant judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value 
of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near term business outlook for the investee, including factors such 
as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow.

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete inventory
An allowance is made to write inventory down to the lower of cost or net realisable value. Management has made estimates of the selling 
price and direct cost to sell on certain inventory items. The write-down is included in the operating profit note.
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Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market 
prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group 
uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. 
Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The 
fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables is assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair 
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market 
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. The assumption is based on the management expectation 
that outstanding balances will be collected or paid within twelve months, therefore the time value of money will not have an impact as 
it is considered to be immaterial.

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use 
calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible 
that an assumption may change which may then impact on estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying 
value of goodwill and tangible assets.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for 
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment 
may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to 
determine the value-in-use of goodwill and tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time.

Provisions
Provisions are estimated by management based on the available information. Additional disclosure of these estimates are included in 
note 21 – Provisions.

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities 
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax provisions in 
the period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the deductible 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the 
Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on 
forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and 
taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of 
the reporting period could be affected.

Property, plant and equipment
The useful lives of assets are based on management's estimation. Management considers the following factors to determine the optimum 
useful life expectation for each of the individual items of property, plant and equipment:

• Expected usage of the asset. Usage is assessed by reference to the asset's expected capacity or physical output;
• Expected physical wear and tear, which depends on operational factors such as the number of shifts for which the asset is to be 

used and the repair and maintenance programme, and the care and maintenance of the asset while idle;
• Technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or improvement in production or from a change in the market 

demand for the product or service output of the asset; and
• Exit policy of the Company.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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The estimation of residual value of assets is also based on management's judgement that an asset will be sold and what its condition will 
be like at the end of its useful life. For assets that incorporate both a tangible and intangible portion, management uses judgement to 
assess which element is more significant to determine whether it should be treated as property, plant and equipment or intangible assets.

Post-retirement benefit obligation
Judgement is required when recognising and measuring the retirement benefit obligation of the Group and the Company. The obligation 
is valued by an independent actuary at each reporting date. The actuarial valuation method is used to value the obligation and the 
projected unit credit method is used. Future benefit values are projected using specific actuarial assumptions and the liability to in-service 
members is accrued over the expected working lifetime. 

1.3 Investment Property
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property under construction for such 
purposes).

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic benefits that are associated 
with the investment property will flow to the enterprise, and the cost of the investment property can be measured reliably.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or to service a property. If a 
replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of the investment property, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Fair value
Subsequent to initial measurement, investment property is measured at fair value.

A gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is included in net profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which 
the property is derecognised.

1.4 Property, Plant and Equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• It is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company; and
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, Plant and Equipment is initially measured at cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 
to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also included in the 
cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where the obligation arises as a result 
of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production of inventories.

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Land and buildings is carried at revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be 
determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period.
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When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the revaluation surplus in equity. The increase is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the 
same asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in profit or loss in the current period. The decrease 
is recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that 
asset. The decrease recognised in other comprehensive income reduces the amount accumulated in the revaluation surplus in equity.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to retained earnings 
as the asset is used. The amount transferred is equal to the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount 
and depreciation based on the original cost of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual value.
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Range of useful life
Buildings 10–50 years
Component spares 2–10 years
Furniture and fixtures 2–22 years
IT equipment 2–22 years
Land indefinite
Leasehold improvements 2–10 years
Machinery and equipment 2–22 years
Motor vehicles and transport containers 2–26 years
Office equipment 2–22 years
Plant 5–50 years
Research facilities 2–22 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the expectations 
differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is 
derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.5 Intangible Assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:

• It is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
• The cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Internally generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when all of the following 
have been demonstrated:

• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
• The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
• It will generate probable future economic benefits;
• How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible 

asset; and
• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when 
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, 
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the 
period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they 
are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets 
amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful life. Intellectual property in development is only amortised once the 
development is complete.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

Re-assessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the asset 
may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as intangible 
assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful lives
Computer software 3 years
Intellectual property 20 years
Patents, trademarks and other rights 2 to 8 years

1.6 Investments in Subsidiaries

Company financial statements
In the Company’s separate Annual Financial Statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment.
The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:

• The fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the 
Company; plus

• Any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.
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1.7 Investments in Associates

Company Annual Financial Statements
An investment in an associate is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment.

1.8 Financial Instruments

Classification
The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – held for trading
• Held-to-maturity investments
• Loans and receivables
• Available-for-sale financial assets
• Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – held for trading
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial recognition. 
Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or 
loss, which may not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an 
equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, which 
are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of 
the instrument.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date, i.e. the date on which the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value being included in profit or loss for the period.

Net gains or losses on the financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss exclude dividends and interest.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the Group's right to receive payment is established.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated impairment losses.

Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. This excludes equity investments for which a fair value is not 
determinable, which are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity until the 
asset is disposed of or determined to be impaired. Interest on available-for-sale financial assets calculated using the effective interest 
method is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income. Dividends received on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised 
in profit or loss as part of other income when the Group's right to receive payment is established.

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets denominated in a foreign currency are analysed between translation differences 
resulting from changes in amortised cost and other changes in the carrying amount. Translation differences on monetary items are 
recognised in profit or loss, while translation differences on non-monetary items are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Fair value determination
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted 
securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making maximum 
use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date the Group assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, to determine whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or Group of financial assets has been impaired.

Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For amounts due to the Group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default 
of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its 
cost is considered an indicator of impairment. For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
• Breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
• It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or
• The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset's carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. 

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount 
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 
impairment loss may not be reversed in subsequent periods. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade 
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
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loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed 
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised. 

In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit 
or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of available-for-sale debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently 
reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
recognition of the impairment loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to repurchase part of a transferred 
asset or retains a residual interest that does not result in the retention of substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group 
retains control), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under 
continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. 
The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received 
for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income 
is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between 
the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss
These are financial assets held-for-trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the short-term. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised 
within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category, are presented 
in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part of other income when the Group's right to receive payment 
is established.

Financial instruments designated as available-for-sale
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other 
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the 
statement of financial position date.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities classified as available-for-sale and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale 
are recognised in comprehensive income.
 
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other 
comprehensive income are included in the statement of comprehensive income as ‘gains and losses from investment securities’. Interest 
on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the Group’s right to 
receive payments is established.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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Loans to/(from) Group companies
These include loans to and from holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and are recognised 
initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

Loans to Group companies are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans from Group companies are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Loans to shareholders, directors, managers and employees
These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in 
profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade 
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments, deposits and VAT receivable) are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Trade and other payables (excluding amounts received in advance, deferred grants and VAT payable) are classified as other financial 
liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently 
recorded at fair value.

Bank overdraft and borrowings
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is 
recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments, which are not designated as hedging instruments, consisting of foreign exchange contracts and interest 
rate swaps, are initially measured at fair value on the contract date, and are re-measured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other non-financial host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when 
their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value with 
unrealised gains or losses reported in profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss as they arise.

Derivatives are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – held for trading.
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1.9 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current 
and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the 
tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from:

• The initial recognition of goodwill; or
• The initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which:

- Is not a business combination; and
- At the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except to the extent that both of the following conditions are satisfied:

• The parent, investor or venturer is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference; and
• It is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised, unless the deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that:

• Is not a business combination; and
• At the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, branches and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, to the extent that it is probable that:

• The temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future; and
• Taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused STC credits to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused STC credits can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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1.10 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases – Lessor
The Group recognises finance lease receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Finance income is recognised based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment in the 
finance lease.

Finance leases – Lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated 
to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the liability.

Operating leases – Lessor
Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in profit or loss.

Operating leases – Lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except when another systematic basis 
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. The difference between the 
amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. This liability is not discounted.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate 
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.11 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced and segregated for specific 
projects is assigned using specific identification of the individual costs.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted average cost formula. The same cost formula is used for all inventories having a 
similar nature and use to the entity.

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 2013 123



When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related 
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised 
as an expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write down of inventories, arising from 
an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the reversal occurs.

1.12 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale 
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal 
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected 
to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

In the statement of comprehensive income, income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income 
and expenses from continuing operations, down to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Group retains a non-controlling interest 
in the subsidiary after the sale. The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported separately in the statement of comprehensive income 
as part of comprehensive income.

Non-current assets held-for-sale (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of its previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A non-current asset is not depreciated (or amortised) while it is classified as held-for-sale, or while it is part of a disposal group classified 
as held-for-sale.

Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held-for-sale are recognised in profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on the re-measurement on a non-current asset classified as held-for-sale that does not meet the definition of a discontinued 
operation is included in profit or loss from continuing operations.

Any impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset to fair value less cost to sell.

Any gain is recognised for any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell of the asset, but not in excess of the cumulative 
impairment loss that has been recognised previously.

1.13 Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets other than Goodwill
The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group also:

• Tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use annually for impairment, by 
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed during the annual period and at the 
same time every period.

• Tests goodwill acquired in a business combination annually for impairment.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use.

In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
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An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or Groups of 
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the 
units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:

• First, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit, and 
• Then, to the other assets of the unit, pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

The carrying amount of an asset included in a cash-generating unit may not be reduced below the highest of (1) its fair value less cost 
to sell; (2) its value-in-use or (3) zero. 

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets 
other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets 
are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.14 Share Capital and Equity
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity and measured at cost.

1.15 Employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation leave and 
sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care, are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered 
and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement 
or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to 
make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans
Group companies operate a provident fund on behalf of their employees. The schemes are generally funded through payments to insurance 
companies or trustee-administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. A defined contribution plan is a plan under which 
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions 
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefit relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due. Prepaid contributions are recognised 
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Defined benefit plans
Some Group companies provide post-retirement healthcare benefits to their retirees. The entitlement to these benefits is usually conditional 
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on the employee remaining in-service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. For defined benefit plans 
the cost of providing the benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial valuations are conducted on an annual basis by independent actuaries.

Consideration is given to any event that could affect the funds up to the end of the reporting period where the interim valuation is 
performed at an earlier date.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and are otherwise amortised on a straight-
line basis over the average period until the amended benefits become vested.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the year in which they arise, in other comprehensive income.

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised when the Group is demonstrably committed 
to curtailment or settlement.

When it is virtually certain that another party will reimburse some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit obligation, 
the right to reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset. The asset is measured at fair value. In all other respects, the asset is treated 
in the same way as plan assets. In profit or loss, the expense relating to a defined benefit plan is presented as the net of the amount 
recognised for a reimbursement.

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
as adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised past service costs, and reduces by the fair value of plan assets.
Any asset is limited to unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs, plus the present value of available refunds and reduction 
in future contributions to the plan.

1.16 Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:

• The Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
• A reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the 
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the 
time value of money is material).

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement 
shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. 
The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount 
of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Onerous contracts
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a provision.

An onerous contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations 
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.
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Restructurings
A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity:
• Has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least:

- The business or part of a business concerned;
- The principal locations affected;
- The location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for terminating their services; 
- The expenditures that will be undertaken; and
- When the plan will be implemented; and

• Has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or 
announcing its main features to those affected by it.

The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those 
amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity. The effect of 
the time value of money is only considered if material.

Contingent assets and liabilities
After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in business combinations that are recognised separately are subsequently 
measured at the higher of:

• The amount that would be recognised as a provision; and
• The amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 40.

1.17 Government Grants
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that:

• The Group will comply with the conditions attached to them; and
• The grants will be received.
 
Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs that they are intended 
to compensate.

Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current 
assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a 
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the entity with no future related costs is recognised as income in the period in which it becomes receivable.
Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, are presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position by setting up the grant as deferred income.

Grants related to income are presented as a credit in the profit or loss (separately).

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against any un-amortised deferred credit set up in respect of the grant. To the 
extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred credit, or where no deferred credit exists, the repayment is recognised immediately 
as an expense.

Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by reducing the deferred income balance by the amount repayable. The cumulative 
additional depreciation that would have been recognised to date as an expense in the absence of the grant is recognised immediately 
as an expense.
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1.18 Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, 
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

• The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control 

over the goods sold;
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction 
is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. The outcome of a transaction 
can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group;
• The stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and
• The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the 
extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. Stage of 
completion is determined by services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed.

Contract revenue comprises:
• The initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract; and
• Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments:

- To the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue; and
- They are capable of being reliably measured.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount 
of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Royalties are recognised on the accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the Company’s right to receive payment has been established.

Service fees included in the price of a product are recognised as revenue over the period during which the service is performed.

1.19 Turnover
Turnover comprises sales to customers and service rendered to customers. Turnover is stated at the invoice amount and is exclusive of 
value added taxation.

1.20 Cost of Sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related 
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised 
as an expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write down of inventories, arising from 
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an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the reversal occurs.

The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in the current period is included in cost of sales.

Contract costs comprise:

• Costs that relate directly to the specific contract;
• Costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the contract; and
• Such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the customer under the terms of the contract.

1.21 Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, which is an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until 
such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows:

• Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any temporary 
investment of those borrowings; and

• Weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a 
qualifying asset. The borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing costs incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

• expenditures for the asset have occurred;
• borrowing costs have been incurred; and
• activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted.
 
Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete.
All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.22 Translation of Foreign Currencies

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the Annual Financial Statements of each of the Group entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). 

The Consolidated Annual Financial Statements are presented in Rand which is the Group's functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions
In preparing the financial statements of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity's functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair 
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

• Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which 
are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency 
borrowings;

• Exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and
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• Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned 
nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other 
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which 
they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous Annual Financial Statements are recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, any exchange 
component of that gain or loss is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a gain or loss on a 
non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated 
into currency units using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at 
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of 
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that 
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all 
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified 
to profit or loss. 

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and is not recognised in profit or 
loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. reductions in the Group's ownership interest in associates or jointly controlled entities that do 
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting 
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity. 

1.23 Related Parties
The Group operates in an economic environment currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South African 
Government. As a result of the constitutional independence of all three spheres of government in South Africa, only parties within the 
national sphere of government are considered to be related parties.

Key management is defined as being individuals with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the entity. All individuals from the level of Chief Executive Officer up to the Board of Directors are regarded as key management.

Close family members of key management personnel are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence or 
be influenced by key management individuals or other parties related to the entity.

1.24 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure in terms of the Public Finance Management Act means expenditure which was made in vain and 
would have been avoided had reasonable care been exercised.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2013

2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1 Standards and Interpretations Effective and Adopted in the Current Year
In the current year, the Group has adopted the following SA GAAP standards that are effective for the current financial year and that are 
relevant to its operations:

Standard/Interpretation:
Effective date:
Years beginning on or after

Expected impact:

– IFRS 7 (AC 144) 
Amendments to IFRS 7 
(AC 144) Disclosures – 
Transfers of financial assets

01 July 2011 The amendment requires additional quantitative and qualitative 
disclosures relating to the transfer of assets. The amendment had no 
impact on the financial position or performance, as the Group did not 
transfer any financial assets during the year.

– IAS 12 (AC 102) Income 
Taxes: Amendment: 
Deferred Tax: Recovery of 
underlying assets

01 January 2012 The amendment introduces a rebuttable presumption that an investment 
property measured at fair value is recovered entirely through sale. This 
amendment had no impact on the financial position or performance of 
the Group, as investment property only relates to the parent company, 
which is tax exempt.

2.2 Standards and Interpretations not yet Effective
Section 55 of the PFMA requires the application of SA GAAP for State-owned Companies. However, the Accounting Practices Board 
(succeeded by the Financial Reporting Council) has discontinued the approval of SA GAAP standards/interpretations for years beginning 
on or after 01 December 2012. Since the decision made by the Accounting Practices Board not to continue approving International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as SA GAAP, 4 IFRSs, 11 amendments to IFRSs including amendments made under the annual 
improvements process, and 1 IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretation, have been issued under IFRS, but not approved 
as SA GAAP. These IFRSs, amendments to IFRSs and IFRIC include:

• IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements;
• IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements;
• IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities;
• IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement;
• Amendments to IFRS 1 – First time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards;
• Amendments to IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures;
• Amendments to IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments;
• Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements;
• Amendments to IFRS 10;
• Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment;
• Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits;
• Amendments to IAS 27– Separate Financial Statements;
• Amendments to IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures;
• Amendments to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation; 
• Amendments to IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting; and
• IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine.

The IFRS 9 amendment deferred the effective date of IFRS 9 to 2015, however, the SA GAAP equivalent, AC 146 and AC 146A, still 
have an effective date of 01 January 2013, as indicated below. The Group has chosen not to early-adopt the SA GAAP standard IFRS 9 
(AC 146), which is mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2013.

Standard/Interpretation:
Effective date:
Years beginning on or after

Expected impact:

– IFRS 9 (AC 146) 
Financial Instruments

01 January 2013 IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement 
of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets 
and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. In subsequent phases, the 
International Accounting Standards Board will address hedge accounting 
and impairment of financial assets. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 
9 (AC 146) will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the 
Group’s financial assets, but will not have an impact on classification and 
measurements of financial liabilities. 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

3. Investment Property

2013 2012

Valuation
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group

Investment property 17,179 – 17,179 16,404 – 16,404

Company

Investment property 68,128 – 68,128 69,733 – 69,733

Opening 
balance

Fair value 
adjustments Total

R'000 R'000 R'000

Reconciliation of investment property – Group – 2013

Investment property 16,404 775 17,179

Opening 
balance

Transfers 
to land and 
buildings

Fair value 
adjustments Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Reconciliation of investment property – Group – 2012

Investment property 52,105 (32,237) (3,464) 16,404

Opening 
balance

Fair value 
adjustments Total

R'000 R'000 R'000

Reconciliation of investment property – Company – 2013

Investment property 69,733 (1,605) 68,128

Opening 
balance Additions

Transfers 
to land and 
buildings

Fair value 
adjustments Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Reconciliation of investment property – Company – 2012

Investment property 107,849 97 (32,237) (5,976) 69,733

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Fair value of investment properties 17,179 16,404 68,128 69,733
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A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection at the 
registered office of the Company.

Details of Valuation
The effective date of the revaluation is 31 March 2013. Valuations were performed by an independent valuer, Mr B van Vuuren from 
JHI Properties (Pty) Ltd T/A JHI. Mr B van Vuuren is a registered Professional Valuer in terms of section 19 of the Property Valuers Act, 
2000. JHI is not a related party to the Group and is independent.

The valuation method applied was the Income Capitalisation Approach. Significant assumptions in arriving at the fair value include fair 
rental income of approximately R40/m2 to R45/m2 for office rentals, approximately R15/m2 for industrial buildings, approximately R25/m2 
for laboratories and R10/m2 for store rooms. A capitalisation rate of 14% is applied in the valuation. The investment property is specialised 
in nature and in a unique location, which limits future demand to a specific client base. A 0% vacancy rate existed at 31 March 2013 
and this fact is taken into account in valuing the property. The determination of fair value is supported by market evidence.

Amounts recognised in profit and loss for the year

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Rental income from investment property 1,889 1,668 5,387 4,899

Direct operating expenses from rental generating property (1,584) (1,494) (3,243) (3,059)

305 174 2,144 1,840

4. Property, Plant and Equipment

2013 2012

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group

Component spares 23,174 (16,792) 6,382 11,415 (5,139) 6,276

Finance lease assets 18,838 (14,965) 3,873 17,371 (11,659) 5,712

Furniture and fixtures 15,750 (6,414) 9,336 15,196 (4,969) 10,227

IT equipment 59,281 (43,414) 15,867 54,600 (36,489) 18,111

Land and buildings 565,193 (30,488) 534,705 525,613 (13,626) 511,987

Leasehold improvements 195 (59) 136 195 (39) 156

Machinery and equipment 296,407 (144,421) 151,986 256,432 (118,705) 137,727

Motor vehicles and transport containers 50,414 (22,121) 28,293 49,046 (17,209) 31,837

Office equipment 18,861 (14,252) 4,609 9,577 (5,735) 3,842

Plant 357,914 (154,874) 203,040 263,360 (120,787) 142,573

Research facilities 17,252 (3,689) 13,563 8,924 (2,739) 6,185

Start-up costs 24 (23) 1 24 (13) 11

Total 1,403,303 (451,512) 971,791 1,211,753 (337,109) 874,644
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

4. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

2013 2012

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Company

Finance lease assets 18,838 (14,965) 3,873 17,371 (11,659) 5,712

Furniture and fixtures 11,154 (4,349) 6,805 10,829 (3,250) 7,579

IT equipment 45,024 (34,002) 11,022 43,196 (30,605) 12,591

Land and buildings 482,844 (27,654) 455,190 457,074 (13,626) 443,448

Machinery and equipment 224,633 (116,247) 108,386 204,079 (95,894) 108,185

Motor vehicles and transport containers 18,374 (9,802) 8,572 17,720 (7,746) 9,974

Office equipment 8,527 (5,346) 3,181 7,718 (4,657) 3,061

Plant 142,594 (24,135) 118,459 109,242 (22,010) 87,232

Research facilities 17,252 (3,689) 13,563 8,924 (2,739) 6,185

Total 969,240 (240,189) 729,051 876,153 (192,186) 683,967

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Transfers Revaluations

Foreign 
exchange 

movements

Other 
changes, 

movements Depreciation Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group – 2013

Component spares 6,276 – – – – – 991 (885) 6,382

Finance lease 
assets 5,712 1,467 – – – – – (3,306) 3,873

Furniture and 
fixtures 10,227 1,450 (66) 30 – 30 (18) (2,317) 9,336

IT equipment 18,111 4,585 (61) 72 – 26 (28) (6,838) 15,867

Land and buildings 511,987 38,131 – – 1,449 – – (16,862) 534,705

Leasehold 
improvements 156 – – – – – (1) (19) 136

Machinery and 
equipment 137,727 40,120 (92) – – – (2) (25,767) 151,986

Motor vehicles 
and transport 
containers 31,837 1,593 (70) – – 19 (1) (5,085) 28,293

Office equipment 3,842 9,475 (2) (125) – – – (8,581) 4,609

Plant 142,573 96,777 (634) – – (26) (128) (35,522) 203,040

Research facilities 6,185 8,328 – – – – – (950) 13,563

Start-up costs 11 – – – – – – (10) 1

874,644 201,926 (925) (23) 1,449 49 813 (106,142) 971,791
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Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Transfers Revaluations

Foreign 
exchange 

movements

Other 
changes, 

movements Depreciation Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group – 2012

Component spares 7,425 – – – – – (82) (1,067) 6,276

Finance lease 
assets 7,592 2,050 – – – – – (3,930) 5,712

Furniture and 
fixtures 10,248 1,930 (42) (367) – 27 1 (1,570) 10,227

IT equipment 18,520 6,553 (40) 320 – 19 1 (7,262) 18,111

Land and buildings 446,645 49,142 – 32,237 (488) – – (15,549) 511,987

Leasehold 
improvements 175 – – – – – – (19) 156

Machinery and 
equipment 121,467 41,761 (32) – – – – (25,469) 137,727

Motor vehicles 
and transport 
containers 30,972 5,987 (140) – – (1) 2 (4,983) 31,837

Office equipment 3,728 1,256 (9) (88) – – – (1,045) 3,842

Plant 91,135 61,680 (846) 88 – 85 8,099 (17,668) 142,573

Research facilities 7,147 – – – – – – (962) 6,185

Start-up costs 23 – (2) – – – – (10) 11

745,077 170,359 (1,111) 32,190 (488) 130 8,021 (79,533) 874,644

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Company – 2013

Finance lease assets 5,712 1,467 – (3,306) 3,873

Furniture and fixtures 7,579 325 – (1,099) 6,805

IT equipment 12,591 2,554 (45) (4,078) 11,022

Land and buildings 443,448 25,770 – (14,028) 455,190

Machinery and equipment 108,185 20,592 (7) (20,384) 108,386

Motor vehicles and transport containers 9,974 670 – (2,072) 8,572

Office equipment 3,061 873 (1) (752) 3,181

Plant 87,232 33,353 – (2,126) 118,459

Research facilities 6,185 8,328 – (950) 13,563

683,967 93,932 (53) (48,795) 729,051
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4. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Company – 2012
Finance lease assets 7,592 2,050 – – (3,930) 5,712
Furniture and fixtures 7,180 1,525 (5) – (1,121) 7,579
IT equipment 13,208 4,490 (20) – (5,087) 12,591
Land and buildings 390,891 33,946 – 32,237 (13,626) 443,448
Machinery and equipment 93,252 34,863 (23) – (19,907) 108,185
Motor vehicles and transport containers 10,729 1,382 – – (2,137) 9,974
Office equipment 2,682 1,137 (5) – (753) 3,061
Plant 57,946 31,261 – – (1,975) 87,232
Research facilities 7,147 – – – (962) 6,185

590,627 110,654 (53) 32,237 (49,498) 683,967

Pledged as security
Vehicles and electronic office equipment held under finance leases have been pledged as security (refer to note 18).

Assets subject to finance lease (Net carrying amount)

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Motor vehicles and electronic office equipment 3,873 5,712 3,873 5,712

Revaluations
The valuation was based on open market value and is, wherever possible, derived from comparable transactions.

The carrying value of the revalued assets under the cost model would have been:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Land and buildings 176,753 143,742 149,921 128,298

Land and buildings consist of the following properties:
Necsa: Farm 567, Weldaba; Erf 1150, 1153, 1155 and 1156 Albertinia; Erf 4473 and 4474 Riverdale; Erf 1115, 1224, 1916, 1917, 
1919, 1921, 1922, 1924, 1926, 1928 and 1929 Springbok; Farm 369 and 380, Vaalputs

Gammatec NDT: Portion 91 of Farm 601, Klipplaatdrif, Vereeniging. The property is encumbered as disclosed in note 17. The property 
was revalued as at 31 March 2012 by an independent valuer.

AEC Amersham: Erf 176, 100 Indianapolis Street, Kyalami. The property was revalued as at 31 March 2013 by an independent valuer.

The estimation of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment is based on historic performance as well as expectations about 
future use and therefore requires a significant degree of judgement to be applied by management. These depreciation rates represent 
management’s current best estimate of the useful lives of the assets.

There are no idle assets held. There are assets fully depreciated but still in use to the value of R9,418 (2012: R64) on the Company's 
asset register.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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Transfer of property, plant and equipment not only relates to investment property, but also includes transfers to other asset classes.

The revaluation reserve may not be distributed to shareholders.

A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection at the 
registered office of the Company.

5. Goodwill

2013 2012

Cost
Accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Goodwill 14,587 (3,230) 11,357 14,587 – 14,587

Reconciliation of goodwill 
Opening 
balance

Impairment 
loss Total

R'000 R'000 R'000

Group – 2013

Goodwill 14,587 (3,230) 11,357

Opening 
balance Total

R'000 R'000

Group – 2012

Goodwill 14,587 14,587

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, which represents the excess of the purchase price over the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities when the subsidiary was acquired.

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of the following subsidiaries:

A 55% shareholding in Gammatec NDT Supplies SOC Ltd was acquired on 01 October 2009 by NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd. The 
Gammatec Group of companies consists of six companies located in South Africa, Malaysia, the Middle East, Australia and New Zealand.

A 100% shareholding in Pharmatopes SOC Ltd was acquired on 01 January 2009 by AEC Amersham SOC Ltd.

Impairment of goodwill
The Group performed its required annual impairment test on Goodwill as at 31 March 2013.

In respect of NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd's share in Gammatec NDT Supplies SOC Ltd, the present value of future cash flows (i.e. the 
recoverable amount) exceeds the carrying value of NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd investment in Gammatec NDT Supplies SOC Ltd (and 
therefor the resultant goodwill) at 31 March 2013. The recoverable amount was determined based on a value in use calculation, using 
cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by Senior Management covering a five year period. The discount rate applied to 
cash flow projections (including terminal value cash flows) is 16.44%. The rate comprises an interest rate of 5.39% and cost of equity of 
20.48% – weighted 27% and 73% respectively. The cost of equity was determined from a risk-free rate of 7.1%, a market premium of 
8.25% and a beta co-efficient of 1.2. As a result of this analysis, Management has concluded that no impairment of goodwill is necessary.

In respect of AEC Amersham SOC Ltd's share in Pharmatopes SOC Ltd, goodwill of R3,230 is impaired in the current period, as no future 
economic benefit is expected from Pharmatopes SOC Ltd, which has ceased business activities. 
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6. Intangible Assets

2013 2012

Cost
Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group
Computer software 2,044 (535) 1,509 985 (363) 622
Intangible assets under development 8,121 – 8,121 – – –
Patents, trademarks and other rights – – – 1,244 – 1,244
Total 10,165 (535) 9,630 2,229 (363) 1,866

Reconciliation of intangible assets
Opening 
balance Additions

Internally 
generated Amortisation

Impairment 
loss Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group – 2013
Computer software 622 1,058 – (171) – 1,509
Intellectual property in development – – 8,121 – – 8,121
Patents, trademarks and other rights 1,244 – – – (1,244) –

1,866 1,058 8,121 (171) (1,244) 9,630

Opening 
balance Additions

Internally 
generated Amortisation Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group – 2012
Computer software – 599 47 (24) 622
Patents, trademarks and other rights 1,105 139 – – 1,244

1,105 738 47 (24) 1,866

Other information
There are no significant intangible assets controlled by the entity but not recognised as assets because they did not meet the recognition criteria 
in this Standard or because they were acquired or generated before the version of IAS 38 Intangible Assets issued in 1998 was effective.

Intangible assets comprise computer software and intellectual property generated internally by a subsidiary of the Company, which is 
used in the purification of fluorine. 

7. Investments in Subsidiaries

Held by
% holding 

2013
% holding 

2012

Carrying 
amount
2013

Carrying 
amount
2012

Name of company R'000 R'000

Pelchem SOC Ltd Necsa 100% 100% 88,753 98,818
NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd Necsa 100% 100% 220,700 220,700
Cyclofil SOC Ltd Necsa 100% 100% – –
ARECSA SOC Ltd Necsa 51% 51% 1 1

309,454 319,519

The carrying amounts of subsidiaries are shown net of impairment losses. 

The Directors' value of the investment in subsidiaries is equal to its carrying value.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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Impairment of investment
The Company assessed impairment indicators for its investment in subsidiaries during the current reporting period and the results 
indicated that an impairment test was necessary for Pelchem SOC Ltd. The recoverable amount for the investment in Pelchem SOC Ltd, 
was determined based on a value in use calculation, using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by Senior Management 
and the Pelchem Board of Directors, covering a 10 year period, present valued to 31 March 2013. The discount rate applied to the cash 
flow projections (including terminal value cash flows) was based on a range between 17.8% and 19.2%.

8. Investments in Associates

Held by:
% holding 

2013
% holding 

2012

Carrying 
amount
2013

Carrying 
amount
2012

Fair value
2013

Fair value
2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Business Ventures 
International No. 33 (Pty) Ltd Necsa 41.67% 41.67% 2 2 2 2
Gamwave Gauteng (formerly 
Cyclotope, a subsidiary) NTP 40.00% 100.00% – – – –
Oserix Gammatec NDT 25.00% 25.00% 688 258 688 258

Element 42 NTP 50.00% 50.00% – – – –
690 260 690 260

The carrying amounts of associates are shown net of impairment losses.

The Directors' value of the investment in associates is equal to its carrying value.

Summary of the Group's interest in associates
2013 2012

R'000 R'000

Total assets 10,366 24,300
Total liabilities 9,023 42,270
Revenue 15,485 36,592
Profit or loss 728 (1,907)

Associates with different reporting dates
The financial year end of BVI No. 33 (Pty) Ltd is 28 February. This date was the financial year end established when the Company was 
incorporated. The Company has no assets or liabilities at 31 March 2013 and did not trade during its reporting period, or during the 
reporting period of the Group. Therefore neither the different reporting dates nor the application of the equity method have impact on 
the Group financial statements.

9. Loans to/(from) Group Companies

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Subsidiaries
Pelchem SOC Ltd
R11,536 of this loan bears interest at prime less 2%, is unsecured and 
has no fixed repayment terms. The remaining amount of R1,020 bears no 
interest and is payable 30 days after the end of the reporting period.

– – 12,556 12,278

NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd
The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed terms of 
repayment.

– – 1,921 733

– – 14,477 13,011
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9. Loans to/(from) Group Companies (continued)

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Associates
Limited Electronics South Africa SOC Ltd
The loan is repayable in June 2013 and carries interest at prime less 2.25%.

– (2,728) – –

Business Venture International No. 33 (Pty) Ltd
The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed repayment term.

972 972 – –

Oserix SA
The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed repayment term.

1,318 1,026 – –

Gamwave Gauteng
The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed terms of 
repayment

1,392 – – –

3,682 (730) – –

Impairment of loans to associates (972) (972) – –

2,710 (1,702) – –

Non-current assets – 1,026 – –

Current assets 2,710 – 14,477 13,011

Non-current liabilities – (2,728) – –

2,710 (1,702) 14,477 13,011

Credit quality of loans to Group companies
The credit quality of loans to Group companies that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to historical information 
about counterparty default rates, as external credit ratings are not available. Loans to associates are considered medium-high quality as 
no defaults occurred in the past. The loan to NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd is considered high quality as no defaults occurred in the past, 
and NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd has a strong financial position. The credit quality of the loan to Pelchem SOC Ltd is considered medium 
to low due to the fact that Pelchem SOC Ltd has an accumulated loss at year end and predicts a loss for the ensuing financial year.

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Fair value of loans to and from Group companies
Loans to Group companies 2,710 1,026 14,477 13,011

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of loan mentioned above. The Group does not 
hold any collateral as security.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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10. Other Financial Assets

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

At fair value through profit or loss – designated
Foreign exchange contract asset 10,982 – 10,971 –
Available-for-sale
Listed shares 3,408 2,494 3,385 2,478
Unit trusts 127,625 102,798 127,625 102,798

131,033 105,292 131,010 105,276

Loans and receivables
Retention fees receivable 1,009 – 1,009 –
Total other financial assets 143,024 105,292 142,990 105,276

Non-current assets
At fair value through profit or loss – designated 10,982 – 10,971 –
Available-for-sale 131,033 105,292 131,010 105,276
Loans and receivables 1,009 – 1,009 –

143,024 105,292 142,990 105,276

Fair value information
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at fair value, which is therefore equal to their carrying amounts.

The following classes of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured to fair value using quoted market prices:

• Listed shares
• Unit trusts

Fair values are determined annually as at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy of available-for-sale financial assets
Fair value hierarchy reflecting the significance of the inputs used to make the fair value measurements: 

Level 1 represents those assets which are measured using unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets. 

Level 2 applies inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3 applies inputs which are not based on observable market data.

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Level 1
Sanlam – Ordinary shares 2,238 1,314 2,215 1,298
Old Mutual – Ordinary shares 1,170 637 1,170 637
Unit Trusts – Collective Investment Schemes 127,625 102,798 127,625 102,798

131,033 104,749 131,010 104,733
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11. Deferred Tax

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Deferred tax asset

Property, plant and equipment (12,332) (11,854) – –

Provisions, allowances and PRML (Post-retirement Medical Aid Liability) 16,681 16,194 – –

Fair value and IFRS adjustments 17 6 – –

Tax losses 308 – – –

Goodwill 13,739 13,739 – –

18,413 18,085 – –

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset

At beginning of the year 18,085 13,054 – –

Classification adjustment – (1,139) – –

Charged to the income statement (1,607) 4,686 – –

Increase/(decrease) in tax losses available for set off against future taxable income 604 (2,082) – –

Originating temporary difference on fixed assets 181 1,353 – –

Deemed interest 346 444 – –

Originating temporary difference on provisions and tax allowances (43) 75 – –

Originating (reversing) temporary difference on fair value and IFRS adjustments (173) 2 – –

Originating temporary difference on PRML 1,180 1,185 – –

Reduction due to rate change 9 – – –

Originating temporary difference on profit sharing provision (169) 507 – –

18,413 18,085 – –

Deferred tax liability

Property, plant and equipment (66) 32 – –

Provisions, allowances and PRML 41 – – –

Fair value and IFRS adjustments – (337) – –

Prepayment – 91 – –

(25) (214) – –

Reconciliation of deferred tax (liability)

At beginning of the year 5 (1,095) – –

Classification adjustment – 1,143 – –

Revaluation reserve – 153 – –

Charged to the income statement (30) (415) – –

(25) (214) – –

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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12. Finance Lease Receivables

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Gross investment in the lease due

- within one year 113 817 – –

- in second to fifth year inclusive – 6 – –

113 823 – –

less: Unearned finance income (15) (125) – –

98 698 –

Present value of minimum lease payments due

- within one year 98 693 – –

- in second to fifth year inclusive – 5 – –

98 698 – –

Non-current assets – 693 – –

Current assets 98 5 – –

98 698 – –

The Group entered into finance leasing arrangements for certain of its equipment.

Credit quality of finance lease receivables
The credit quality of finance lease receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to historical information 
about counterparty default rates, categorised in the following groups:

Group 1 – new customer (less 6 months)
Group 2 – existing customer (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past
Group 3 – existing customer (more than 6 months) with some defaults in the past. All defaults were fully recovered.

The credit quality of finance lease receivables is detailed below:

Counterparties with historical credit rating

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group 2

High quality 98 698 – –

Fair value of finance lease receivables

Local finance lease receivables 98 698 – –

Credit risk exposure
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. 

The Company does not hold any collateral as security over finance lease receivables.
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13. Inventories

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Raw materials 19,524 4,848 – –

Work in progress 13,123 38,809 7,219 18,759

Finished goods 18,978 18,108 4,027 4,451

Life science products and equipment 4,950 5,306 – –

Production supplies 24,080 22,869 – –

Goods in transit 21,482 109 – –

Consumables 177,182 131,323 15,753 14,210

279,319 221,372 26,999 37,420

Impairment of inventories (13,038) (5,837) (939) (1,037)

266,281 215,535 26,060 36,383

Carrying value of inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell 266,281 215,535 26,060 36,383

During the financial year end 31 March 2013 R171,228 (2012: R191,482) was 
recognised as an expense for the Company and R707,078 (2012: R647,517) 
for the Group.

Impaired categories of inventory

Raw materials 6,227 537 – –

Finished goods 3,962 2,692 939 1,037

Production supplies 2,763 2,444 – –

Consumables 86 164 – –

13,038 5,837 939 1,037

14. Trade and Other Receivables

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Trade receivables 250,285 222,278 96,296 70,788

Prepayments 53,761 54,544 15,320 9,864

Deposits 82 233 – –

VAT 20,465 12,266 – –

Other receivables 28,246 26,277 13,462 21,863

352,839 315,598 125,078 102,515

Trade and other receivables pledged as security
No trade and other receivables have been pledged as security.

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating to 
customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual 
credit limits are defined in accordance with this assessment. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored and any shipments 
to major customers are generally covered by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance. 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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At 31 March 2013, the Company had 213 customers (2012: 225 customers) that owed the Company R96,296 (2012: R70,788) and 
the Group had 941 customers (2012: 984 customers) that owed the Group R250,285 (2012: R222,278). There were 7 customers 
(2012: 10 customers) that owed the Company and 51 customers (2012: 52 customers) that owed the Group more than R1 million 
each. These customers comprise 89% (2012: 85%) of total trade receivables for the Company and 67.9% (2012: 67.4%) for the Group.

Fair value of trade and other receivables

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Trade and other receivables 352,839 315,598 125,078 102,515

Fair value of trade and other receivables has been determined using unobservable inputs (i.e. "IFRS 7 Level 3" inputs).

Debtors have been reviewed on an individual basis and where extended payment terms were granted the effect of the time value of 
money have been taken into account. This was done to determine the finance portion granted. The carrying value of trade and other 
receivables is reduced by an interest charge of R6,259 (2012: R98) to discount the carrying value to amortised cost for the Company 
and an interest charge of R3,436 (2012: R1,706) for the Group.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Trade and other receivables which are past due are assessed for impairment on an ongoing basis. At 31 March 2013, R14,817 
(2012: R29,343) were past due but not impaired for the Company and R106,175 (2012: R78,667) were past due but not impaired for 
the Group. The ageing of these amounts is less than 1 year outstanding. 

Trade and other receivables impaired
As of 31 March 2013, trade and other receivables of R5,263 (2012: R6,607) were past due and provided for possible impairment by 
the Company and R6,669 (2012: R7,598) were past due and provided for possible impairment by the Group. These amounts were fully 
provided for due to the uncertainty of its recoverability.

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade receivables

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Opening balance 7,598 7,648 6,607 4,741

Provision for impairment 6,669 6,759 5,263 6,607

Amounts written off as uncollectable – (239) – –

Unused amounts reversed (7,598) (6,570) (6,607) (4,741)

6,669 7,598 5,263 6,607

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in profit or loss.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of loan mentioned above. The Group does not 
hold any collateral as security.

The credit period on sales of goods is 30 days from date of statement. Interest on overdue accounts is charged based on management 
discretion. It is the policy of the Group to provide fully for receivables that are identified on an individual basis as unrecoverable. The 
other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.
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15. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Cash on hand 101 59 33 32

Bank balances 128,672 116,571 96,965 31,109

Short-term deposits 347,201 345,911 11 45,281

Bank overdraft (15,169) (12,170) – –

460,805 450,371 97,009 76,422

Current assets 475,974 462,541 97,009 76,422

Current liabilities (15,169) (12,170) – –

460,805 450,371 97,009 76,422

No restrictions apply to the realisability of cash and cash equivalents.

The government of South Africa is irrevocably bound as surety and co-principal debtor to Nedbank Limited (2012: Absa Bank Limited) 
with regard to the repayment of capital and payment of interest and any other charges in terms of the general short-term banking facility 
of Necsa to the amount of R20 million (incl. the bank overdraft facility of R14 million). The overdraft facility is reviewed annually by 
Nedbank, is charged at prime less 1.5% and no terms for repayment have been set. 

The R20 million undrawn facility is available for future operating activities and to settle capital commitments, with no restriction to this. 

Details of facilities

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

ACB Magtape credits 20,000 28,000 20,000 28,000

ACB Magtape debits – 100 – 100

Asset based financing 14,434 6,250 8,000 –

Bills of Exchange – 100 – –

CFC – 1,500 – –

Commitments regarding guarantees (foreign) 175 34 – –

Commitments regarding guarantees (local) 2,200 2,200 – –

Corporate Credit Card 300 300 – –

FECs 92,500 100,700 30,000 29,000

Fleet management service – 68 – –

Forex cancellation limit 750 – – –

Forex settlement limit 7,000 1,750 – –

General short-term banking facility 19,000 21,000 5,000 7,000

Guarantees by bank 11,300 11,475 – –

Letter of credit – 450 – –

Medium term loan – 1,708 – –

Overdraft 6,600 10,390 – –

Vehicle and asset finance – 4,434 – –
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16. Share Capital

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Authorised

500,000,000 Ordinary shares of R1 each 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

There were no changes in authorised share capital.

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:

Reported as at 01 April 2013 2,205,000 2,205,000 2,205,000 2,205,000

Issued

Ordinary 2,205 2,205 2,205 2,205

17. Other Financial Liabilities

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Held at amortised cost
Standard Bank – Australia Investment
The loan is unsecured, bears a fixed interest rate of 11.5% and is repayable 
in equal monthly instalments of R42. The amount is restricted to R2,500.

792 1,292 – –

First National Bank – Mortgage
The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond registered over land and 
buildings Portion 91 of Farm 601, Klipplaatdrif, Vereeniging (note 4). 
Interest is charged at prime rate minus 1%. The bond is repayable in equal 
monthly instalments of R146.

11,038 11,884 – –

Less: Short-term portion (1,422) (2,248) – –

10,408 10,928 – –

`

Non-current liabilities

At amortised cost 10,408 10,928 – –

Current liabilities

At amortised cost 1,422 2,248 – –

11,830 13,176 – –
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18. Finance Lease Obligation

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Minimum lease payments due

- within one year 4,113 4,689 2,971 3,996

- in second to fifth year inclusive 4,527 3,513 1,800 3,174

8,640 8,202 4,771 7,170

less: future finance charges (1,053) (984) (549) (906)

Present value of minimum lease payments 7,587 7,218 4,222 6,264

Present value of minimum lease payments due

- within one year 2,828 4,025 2,828 3,397

- in second to fifth year inclusive 4,759 3,193 1,394 2,867

7,587 7,218 4,222 6,264

Non-current liabilities 4,759 3,193 1,394 2,867

Current liabilities 2,828 4,025 2,828 3,397

7,587 7,218 4,222 6,264

The average lease term was 2 to 5 years (2012: 3 to 6 years) and the average effective borrowing rate was 13.3% (2012: 13%).

Interest rates are linked to prime at the contract date. All leases have fixed repayments and no arrangements have been entered into 
for contingent rent. 

The Group's obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor's charge over the leased assets (refer to Note 4).

19. Retirement Benefits

Provident fund benefits
The Company and its two major subsidiaries, NTP Radioisotopes and Pelchem, operate a provident fund scheme which is governed by the 
Pensions Fund Act, No. 24 of 1956. The scheme is generally funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered 
funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Company has defined contribution plans established in 1994. These contribution 
plans are compulsory for every permanent employee employed in accordance with the conditions of employment, primarily by means 
of monthly contributions to the Necsa Retirement Fund. A defined contribution plan is a provident fund under which the Company 
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee services in the current and prior periods. The 
contributions are recognised as an expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a 
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

The Necsa Retirement Fund is revalued by an independent Actuary on an annual basis. The last actuarial valuation was performed in 
April 2013 for the period ending 31 March 2013. The conclusion made in the latest actuarial valuation was that the Fund is currently in 
a good financial position and should remain so, based on the contribution rates payable in terms of the rules of the Fund, until the next 
actuarial valuation. The next actuarial valuation will be performed in April 2014 for the period ended 31 March 2014.

Post-retirement medical aid
The Company provides post-retirement health care benefits to employees who were employed on or before 30 September 2004. The 
entitlement to post retirement health care benefits is further based on the employee remaining in-service up to retirement age and 
completing a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using an 
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accounting methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans. Independent qualified actuaries carry out valuations of these 
obligations. All actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income. The actuarial valuation 
method used to value the obligations is the projected unit credit method. Future benefit values are projected using specific actuarial 
assumptions and the liability to in-service members is accrued over the expected working lifetime. These obligations are funded over a 
25 year period. The valuation is done every year. Management has embarked on a strategy to effectively manage its future commitments 
by initiating a plan that consists of settling the present value of the future commitments of a small targeted employee base and purchasing 
an inflation-linked annuity for the remainder.

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Carrying value

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 413,977 364,566 374,942 331,807

Fair value of plan assets (26,384) (17,021) (9,605) (2,303)

Past service cost not recognised 43,755 47,559 43,755 47,559

431,348 395,104 409,092 377,063

Non-current liabilities 410,333 395,104 388,587 377,063

Current liabilities 21,015 – 20,505 –

431,348 395,104 409,092 377,063

Reconciliation of net liability recognised in the statement of financial 
position

Opening balance 395,104 357,780 377,063 343,972

Current service cost 5,198 3,563 3,920 3,526

Expected return on plan assets (4,291) (2,170) (2,795) (2,755)

Interest cost 29,197 26,691 26,496 26,532

Benefits paid – (223) – –

Actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in profit and loss 38,477 37,753 36,212 35,092

Expected employer benefit payments (20,575) (18,416) (20,042) (19,190)

Expected benefit payments from plan assets 20,042 19,430 20,042 19,190

Past service cost recognised (3,804) (3,804) (3,804) (3,804)

Employer prefunding contributions (28,000) (25,500) (28,000) (25,500)

Total non-current portion of net liability recognised 431,348 395,104 409,092 377,063

Reconciliation of present value of obligations in excess of plan assets

Opening balance 347,545 306,417 329,504 292,609

Current service cost 5,198 3,563 3,920 3,526

Interest cost 29,197 26,691 26,496 26,532

Expected return on plan assets (4,291) (2,170) (2,795) (2,755)

Benefits paid – (223) – –

Actuarial (gains)/losses 38,477 37,753 36,212 35,092

Expected employer benefit payments 19,783 (18,416) 20,042 (19,190)

Expected benefit payments from plan assets (20,316) 19,430 (20,042) 19,190

Employer prefunding contributions (28,000) (25,500) (28,000) (25,500)

387,593 347,545 365,337 329,504
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19. Retirement Benefits (continued)

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

Current service cost 5,198 4,055 3,920 3,526

Interest cost 29,197 27,798 26,496 26,532

Benefits paid (259) (223) – –

Past service cost (3,804) (3,804) (3,804) (3,804)

Actuarial (gains)/losses 38,477 37,753 36,212 35,092

68,809 65,579 62,824 61,346

Reconciliation of plan assets

Opening balance 17,285 16,466 2,303 4,375

Return on plan assets 4,291 3,340 2,795 2,755

Employer benefit payments (19,768) (18,950) (20,042) (19,190)

Employer prefunding contributions 28,000 25,500 28,000 25,500

Experience adjustment (3,424) (9,071) (3,451) (11,137)

26,384 17,285 9,605 2,303

Key assumptions used
Assumptions used on the last valuation on 31 March 2013.

CPI inflation 6.30% 5.50% 6.30% 5.50%

Discount rates per annum 8.20% 8.25% 8.20% 8.25%

Expected retirement age 65 65 65 65

Expected return on plan assets 8.20% 7.25% 8.20% 7.25%

Membership discontinued at retirement or death in-service –% –% –% –%

Withdrawal assumption 0%–15% 
(Males) 

0%–16% 
(Males)

0%–15% 
(Males) 

0%–16% 
(Males)

0%–15% 
(Females)

0%–24% 
(Females)

0%–15% 
(Females)

0%–24% 
(Females)

Post-retirement assumption PA (90) 
ultimate 

rated down 
2 years

PA (90) 
ultimate 

rated down 
2 years

PA (90) 
ultimate 

rated down 
2 years

PA (90) 
ultimate 

rated down 
2 years
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Sensitivity results on actuarial valuation for 31 March 2013:

Assumptions Accrued liability

-1 unit
Central 

assumption +1 unit -1 unit % change
On central 
assumption +1 unit % change

R'000 R'000 R'000

Group
2013

Consumer price index 5.3% 6.3% 7.3% 366,120 (11.6)% 413,977 472,343 14.1%

Discount rate 7.2% 8.2% 9.2% 472,694 14.2% 413,977 366,588 (11.4)%

Expected retirement age 64 years 65 years 66 years 422,373 2.0% 413,977 405,329 (2.1)%

2012

Consumer price index 4.5% 5.5% 6.5% 324,557 (11.0)% 364,831 364,831 –

Discount rate 7.3% 8.3% 9.3% 413,477 13.3% 364,831 325,208 (10.9)%

Expected retirement age 64 years 65 years 66 years 373,658 2.4% 364,831 356,436 (2.3)%

Company
2013

Consumer price index 5.3% 6.3% 7.3% 333,951 (10.9)% 374,942 424,422 13.2%

Discount rate 7.2% 8.2% 9.2% 424,767 13.3% 374,942 334,317 (10.8)%

Expected retirement age 64 years 65 years 66 years 381,171 1.7% 374,942 368,309 (1.8)%

2012

Consumer price index 4.5% 5.5% 6.5% 296,945 (10.5)% 331,807 373,641 12.6%

Discount rate 7.3% 8.3% 9.3% 373,601 12.6% 331,807 297,481 (10.3)%

Expected retirement age 64 years 65 years 66 years 338,630 2.1% 331,807 325,215 (2.0)%

Assumptions Current service costs and interest cost

-1 unit
Central 

assumption +1 unit -1 unit % change
On central 
assumption +1 unit % change

R'000 R'000 R'000

Group
2013

Consumer price index 5.3% 6.3% 7.3% 33,501 (12.9)% 38,441 44,547 15.9%

2012

Consumer price index 4.5% 5.5% 6.5% 30,171 (12.3)% 34,395 39,567 15.0%

Company
2013

Consumer price index 5.3% 6.3% 7.3% 29,737 (12.1)% 33,816 38,796 14.7%

2012

Consumer price index 4.5% 5.5% 6.5% 26,880 (11.6)% 30,416 34,704 14.1%
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19. Retirement Benefits (continued)

31 March 
2009

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2011

31 March 
2012

31 March 
2013

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group
Present value of obligations 272,191 296,023 292,635 364,566 413,977

Fair value of plan assets – – 4,375 17,285 26,384

Experience adjustment – Plan assets – – – (9,071) (3,150)

Experience adjustment – Obligations (7,410) 13,060 3,677 3,298 (8,626)

Company
Present value of obligations 254,287 275,287 296,984 331,807 374,942

Fair value of plan assets – – 4,375 2,303 9,605

Experience adjustment – Plan assets – – – (11,137) (3,451)

Experience adjustment – Obligations (5,990) (4,339) – 3,973 (8,129)

The expected rate of return on plan assets of 8.2% (2012: 7.25%) per annum is based on the expected return on cash (discount rate 1%).

An estimated R22,000 (2012: R28,000) will be contributed to the retirement fund in the next financial year.

Any actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in profit and loss.

The plan assets consist of an annuity insurance policy with the following components:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Market value of growth account 13,612 12,226 926 774

Value of guaranteed account 12,745 5,040 8,660 1,519

Cash account 27 19 19 10

26,384 17,285 9,605 2,303

20. Deferred Income
Government grants for future capital expenditure:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Non-current liabilities 303,085 266,381 303,085 266,381

Current liabilities 54,811 27,739 54,811 27,728

357,896 294,120 357,896 294,109
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Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Reconciliation between opening and closing balance of government 
grants/deferred income:

At 01 April 2012 294,120 338,736 294,109 338,736

Received during the year 567,581 558,607 567,581 558,596

Released to the statement of comprehensive income (460,773) (505,138) (460,773) (505,138)

Other movements (43,032) (98,085) (43,021) (98,085)

At 31 March 2013 357,896 294,120 357,896 294,109

Government grants have been received for the construction of certain property, plant and equipment and to cover certain operating expenses.

21. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions

Opening 
balance Additions

Utilised 
during the 

year

Reversed 
during the 

year

Change in 
discount 

factor Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group – 2013

Restructuring 22,868 – – (22,868) – –

Decontamination and waste disposal 141,624 25,278 (11,830) (26,603) (2,466) 126,003

Employee benefit accruals 65,268 44,762 (43,733) – (602) 65,695

Provision for PRML buy-out 2,789 – (2,789) – – –

Provision for gratuities 669 – – – – 669

After reactor management cycle 14,409 881 – – – 15,290

247,627 70,921 (58,352) (49,471) (3,068) 207,657

Group – 2012

Restructuring – 22,868 – – – 22,868

Decontamination and waste disposal 119,711 25,250 – (1,226) (2,111) 141,624

Employee benefit accruals 68,792 42,121 (45,645) – – 65,268

Provision for PRML buy-out 5,039 – (2,250) – – 2,789

Provision for gratuities – 669 – – – 669

After reactor management cycle 13,389 1,020 – – – 14,409

206,931 91,928 (47,895) (1,226) (2,111) 247,627
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21. Provisions (continued)

Opening 
balance Additions

Utilised 
during the 

year

Reversed 
during the 

year Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Company – 2013

Restructuring 22,868 – – (22,868) –

Decontamination and waste disposal 96,277 39,957 – (5,643) 130,591

Employee benefit accruals 41,423 18,567 (24,485) – 35,505

Provision for PRML buy-out 2,789 – (2,789) – –

After-reactor management cycle 14,409 881 – – 15,290

177,766 59,405 (27,274) (28,511) 181,386

Opening 
balance Additions

Utilised 
during the 

year Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Company – 2012

Restructuring – 22,868 – 22,868

Decontamination and waste disposal 73,337 22,940 – 96,277

Employee benefit accruals 43,943 23,039 (25,559) 41,423

Provision for PRML buy-out 5,039 – (2,250) 2,789

After reactor management cycle 13,389 1,020 – 14,409

135,708 69,867 (27,809) 177,766

Non-current liabilities 141,962 159,491 145,881 113,475

Current liabilities 65,695 88,136 35,505 64,291

207,657 247,627 181,386 177,766

Provision for restructuring:
Necsa is pursuing a review and realignment of the current structure in or to fulfil its mandate within the budget as allocated by government. 
In this regard, various aspects of the business are under review to ensure cost reduction, rationalisation of the organisation and operational 
efficiency. As part of this, Necsa introduced the voluntary severance process which has been concluded. Provision is therefore made for 
the payment of voluntary severance packages in the 2013 financial year. This provision was utilised in the 2013 financial year.

Provision for decontamination and waste disposal:
Provision is made for the decontamination of commercial plants and disposal of the resulting waste. The annual transfer is based on 
the latest available cost information. The Company was awarded a license by the National Nuclear Regulator to transport the waste to 
Vaalputs on 15 March 2011. The assessment methodology provides an estimate of the total cost associated with the decommissioning 
of commercial plants currently existing at Necsa to the point where they can be reused or released from regulatory control, and the total 
cost to manage (treat, condition, store and/or dispose of) all the existing and future waste created by these activities. In order to estimate 
the cost and scheduling of the various decommissioning and waste management activities the following assumptions were made:

i) In view of the fact that the Necsa site will remain a licensed site for the foreseeable future, the decommissioning of facilities to the 
point of release from regulatory control is not necessarily regarded as the required endpoint, as that may depend on the potential 
future re-use of the nuclear facility.

ii) Only liabilities associated with existing facilities identified during the assessment cycle, and future facilities identified as essential 
for the discharge of these liabilities are included in the assessment.
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iii) The following costs are included in the assessment:

The cost to decommission all facilities to the point where they can be released from regulatory control (The cost excludes 
future demolishing cost of buildings). Rehabilitation of the site is not included in the assessment, except in cases where this is 
considered to be the most viable option to achieve release from regulatory control.

A potential benefit (cost decrease) may be achieved as a result of technological progress in the fields of decommissioning and 
waste management. There are, however, many uncertainties that may affect the accuracy of cost estimates for discharging 
nuclear liabilities, mainly due to the long time periods over which the cost estimates must be done. Some of these uncertainties 
are listed below:

• Non-technical aspects, such as socio-political factors and changes in laws or regulations in nuclear safety and waste 
management, are difficult to quantify in terms of impact on cost estimates.

• Decommissioning cost for many projects occur some years in the future. The life time of some processes may also be extended 
resulting in the postponement of decommissioning activities and cost.

• Future developments in the nuclear industry (up-scaling or down-scaling) may result in the re-use of contaminated or previously 
decommissioned facilities.

• Uncertainties in the future cost of waste management once the National Radioactive Waste Disposal Institute has been 
established. 

Accrual for employee benefits:
The cost of leave days due to employees as well as thirteenth cheques payable has been accrued for. The accrual will be realised during 
the following year.

Provision for after-reactor management cycle:
Provision is made over a thirty year period for the management of the Vaalputs disposal site after its final closure. The annual transfer 
is based on the latest available cost information. It is expected that the economic benefits will flow in ten years, at the end of the thirty 
year period.

It is envisaged that, based on the current information available, any additional liability in excess of the amounts provided will not have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position, liquidity or cash flow.

The effect of time value of money has been omitted when calculating provisions as it is immaterial.

22. Loans to/(from) Minority Shareholders

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Paul Rainier-Pope (464) (356) – –

Bruce Owen – (3) – –

Ralph Davies (599) (469) – –

M Gonzalez (43) (33) – –

(1,106) (861) – –

These loans are unsecured, have no fixed repayment terms.
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23. Trade and Other Payables

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Trade payables 61,125 96,661 22,748 49,610

Amounts received in advance 70,229 6,792 1,408 1,408

VAT 29,065 10,906 17,717 10,894

Deferred grants 44,936 58,976 55,307 54,794

Accrued expenses 93,563 61,242 – –

Accrued audit fees 832 346 – –

Other accrued expenses 499 960 – –

Deposits received 416 – – –

Other payables 51,318 69,697 46,447 40,563

351,983 305,580 143,627 157,269

Fair value of trade and other payables

Trade payables 351,983 305,580 143,627 157,269

Trade creditors have been reviewed on an individual basis and where extended payment terms were applicable the effect of the time 
value of money has been taken into account. This was done to determine the finance portion included. The carrying value of trade and 
other payables is increased by an interest income of R1,831 (2012: R0) to discount the carrying value to amortised cost for the Company 
and an interest charge of R5,436 (2012: R1,962) for the Group.

The average credit period on purchases is 30 days from date of statement. The Company and Group settle payments to creditors on average 
30 days from receipt of the statements. Interest is sometimes charged on trade payables based on the payment policy of the Group. The 
Company and Group have financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

24. Financial Assets by Category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Loans and 
receivables

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss – held 
for trading

Fair value 
through 
profit or 
loss – 

designated
Available-
for-sale Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group – 2013

Loans to Group companies 2,710 – – – 2,710

Other financial assets 1,009 – 10,982 131,033 143,024

Cash and cash equivalents – 475,974 – – 475,974

Trade and other receivables (excl. prepayments, deposits and 
VAT receivable) 278,531 – – – 278,531

282,250 475,974 10,982 131,033 900,239
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Loans and 
receivables

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss – held 
for trading

Available-
for-sale Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group – 2012

Loans to group companies 1,026 – – 1,026

Other financial assets – – 105,292 105,292

Cash and cash equivalents – 462,541 – 462,541

Trade and other receivables (excl. prepayments, deposits and VAT receivable) 248,555 – – 248,555

249,581 462,541 105,292 817,414

Loans and 
receivables

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss – held 
for trading

Fair value 
through 
profit or 
loss – 

designated

Held-to-
maturity 

investments
Available-
for-sale Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Company – 2013

Loans to group companies 14,477 – – – – 14,477

Other financial assets 1,009 – 10,971 – 131,010 142,990

Trade and other receivables (excl. prepayments, 
deposits and VAT receivable) 109,758 – – – – 109,758

Cash and cash equivalents – 97,009 – – – 97,009

Investments in subsidiaries – – – 309,454 – 309,454

Investments in associates – – – 2 – 2

125,244 97,009 10,971 309,456 131,010 673,690

Loans and 
receivables

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss – held 
for trading

Held-to-
maturity 

investments
Available-
for-sale Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Company – 2012

Loans to group companies 13,011 – – – 13,011

Other financial assets – – – 105,276 105,276

Trade and other receivables (excl. prepayments, deposits and 
VAT receivable) 92,651 – – – 92,651

Cash and cash equivalents – 76,422 – – 76,422

Investments in subsidiaries – – 319,519 – 319,519

Investments in associates – – 2 – 2

105,662 76,422 319,521 105,276 606,881
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25. Financial Liabilities by Category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

cost Total

R'000 R'000

Group – 2013

Loans from minority shareholders 1,106 1,106

Other financial liabilities 11,830 11,830

Trade and other payables (excl. amounts received in advance, deferred grants and VAT payable) 207,753 207,753

Bank overdraft 15,169 15,169

235,858 235,858

Group – 2012

Loans from group companies 2,728 2,728

Loans from minority shareholders 861 861

Other financial liabilities 13,176 13,176

Trade and other payables (excl. amounts received in advance, deferred grants and VAT payable) 166,359 166,359

Bank overdraft 12,170 12,170

195,294 195,294

Company – 2013

Trade and other payables (excl. amounts received in advance, deferred grants and VAT payable) 69,195 69,195

Company – 2012

Trade and other payables (excl. amounts received in advance, deferred grants and VAT payable) 90,172 90,172

26. Revaluation Reserve
The revaluation reserve consists of fair value adjustments to the land and buildings of the Company and Group.

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Fair value adjustment to land and buildings 313,114 321,271 283,799 292,348

27. Fair Value Adjustment Assets Available-for-Sale Reserve
The fair value adjustment assets available-for-sale reserve comprises all fair value adjustments on available-for-sale financial instruments. 
When an asset or liability is derecognised, the fair value adjustment relating to that asset or liability is transferred to profit or loss.

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Available-for-sale financial instruments 7,346 2,692 7,333 2,686

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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28. Revenue

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Sale of goods 1,184,969 1,113,118 314,716 344,782

Government grants 460,773 505,138 460,773 505,138

Other grants 35,520 25,114 17,568 4,833

1,681,262 1,643,370 793,057 854,753

The amount included in revenue arising from government grants is as 
follows:

Operating activities 393,192 436,144 393,192 436,144

Decommissioning of strategic plants 58,907 60,550 58,907 60,550

LEU Fuel and conversion 503 87 503 87

Security 8,171 8,357 8,171 8,357

460,773 505,138 460,773 505,138

Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

The government grant relating to operating activities is primarily utilised to fund research and development expenses, non-commercial 
overheads, supplementary activities as required by the Nuclear Energy Act, costs for discarding radioactive waste and for storage of 
irradiated nuclear fuel.

The South African Government has an obligation to discharge nuclear liabilities resulting from previous strategic nuclear programmes which 
includes decommissioning and decontamination of disused historic facilities. The Minister of the Department of Energy is charged with this 
responsibility on behalf of government. A Nuclear Liabilities Management Plan (NLMP) was approved by parliament in February 2007. 
Necsa, as a statutory body created in terms of the Nuclear Energy Act, No. 46 of 1999, has been delegated certain responsibilities in this 
regard. It annually receives funds to apply to the decommissioning and decontamination process in terms of the NLMP. Funds received 
by Necsa for this purpose and not utilised at year-end are accounted for as deferred grants.

29. Cost of Sales

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Sale of goods

Cost of services and goods sold 707,078 647,517 171,228 191,482

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 2013 159



30. Operating Profit/(Loss)
Operating Profit/(Loss) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Income from subsidiaries
Dividends – – 41,808 37,482

Interest – – 770 1,444

– – 42,578 38,926

Operating lease charges
Premises

- Contractual amounts 1,372 2,164 14 26

Equipment

- Contractual amounts 5,502 5,198 4,857 5,193

Lease rentals on operating lease

- Contractual amounts 569 515 – –

7,443 7,877 4,871 5,219

(Loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (254) 3,139 (53) (53)

Impairment of intangible assets 1,244 – – –

Impairment of subsidiary – – 10,065 –

Impairment of other financial assets – 349 – –

Impairment of trade and other receivables – (265) – –

(Loss)/profit on exchange differences (15,026) (8,727) (1,752) (3,466)

Amortisation of intangible assets 171 24 – –

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 96,808 79,533 48,795 49,498

Employee costs 605,406 646,207 502,905 562,091

Consulting and professional fees 15,784 20,397 14,293 19,863

31. Investment Revenue

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Dividend revenue
Subsidiaries – Local – – 41,808 37,482

Listed financial assets – Local 1 1 – –

Unit trusts – Local – 77 – –

1 78 41,808 37,482

Interest revenue
Associates 2 – – –

Bank 32,461 35,109 13,695 15,620

Fair value adjustments 14,264 9,246 3,059 (623)

Interest charged on trade and other receivables – 277 – –

Other financial asset – 75 – 75

Subsidiaries – – 770 1,444

46,727 44,707 17,524 16,516
46,728 44,785 59,332 53,998

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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32. Fair Value Adjustments

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Investment property 775 (3,464) (1,605) (5,976)

33. Finance Costs

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Amortisation on held-to-maturity liabilities 1,189 709 – –

Bank 1,832 1,504 – –

Fair value adjustments 7,109 8,820 1,733 (1,428)

Finance leases 815 1,192 630 986

Interest paid 8,961 – – –

Late payment of tax 2 – – –

Non-current borrowings – 56 – –

Shareholders 131 22 – –

Trade and other payables 1 25 1 24

20,040 12,328 2,364 (418)

34. Taxation

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Major components of the tax expense
Current
Local income tax – current period 58,183 57,548 – –

Local income tax – recognised in current tax for prior periods 78 – – –

STC – 3,748 – –

Deferred tax current (370) (6,169) – –

Originating from reversing temporary differences (97) – – –

57,794 55,127 – –
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Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense.

Accounting profit 234,884 127,941 56,353 (46,430)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2012: 28%) 65,768 35,823 15,779 (13,000)

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Permanent and temporary differences due to non-taxable income and 
non-deductible expenses 3,745 2,722 – –

Tax losses carried forward (611) (2,081) – –

Rate change (9) – – –

Permanent difference due to tax status (15,779) 13,000 (15,779) 13,000

Capital Gains Tax (CGT) (470) 303 – –

Secondary Tax on Companies (STC) – 3,748 – –

Prior year 5,150 1,612 – –

57,794 55,127 – –

The South African Revenue Services has approved an exemption in respect of the South African Nuclear Energy Corporation SOC Ltd 
under section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act subject to certain conditions. No provision is therefore made for tax for Necsa Company.

35. Auditors' Remuneration

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Fees 7,152 5,767 3,461 2,954

Adjustment for previous period – 378 – –

7,152 6,145 3,461 2,954

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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36. Other Comprehensive Income

Gross Tax Net

R'000 R'000 R'000

Components of other comprehensive income – Group – 2013
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 

Exchange differences arising during the year (1,761) – (1,761)

Available-for-sale financial asset adjustments 

Gains and losses arising during the year 4,654 – 4,654

Movements on revaluation 

Gains/(losses) on property revaluation 1,177 – 1,177

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans (41,596) – (41,596)

Total (37,526) – (37,526)

Components of other comprehensive income – Group – 2012
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 

Exchange differences arising during the year (1,201) – (1,201)

Available-for-sale financial asset adjustments 

Reclassification adjustments for available-for-sale financial assets 1,522 – 1,522

Movements on revaluation 

Gains/(losses) on property revaluation (1,629) – (1,629)

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans (32,840) – (32,840)

Total (34,148) – (34,148)

Components of other comprehensive income – Company – 2013
Available-for-sale financial asset adjustments 

Gains and losses arising during the year 4,647 – 4,647

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans (39,331) – (39,331)

Total (34,684) – (34,684)

Components of other comprehensive income – Company – 2012
Available-for-sale financial asset adjustments 

Gains and losses arising during the year 1,520 – 1,520

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans (30,179) – (30,179)

Total (28,659) – (28,659)
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37. Cash Generated from Operations

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Profit before taxation 234,884 127,941 56,353 (46,430)

Adjustments for:
Actuarial (gains)/losses – 30,207 – –

Amortisation 171 24 – –

Assets acquired through financing arrangement (1,467) – (1,476) –

Bad debts written off – 239 – –

Change in discount factor – (7,316) – –

Depreciation 96,808 79,533 48,795 49,496

Fair value adjustments to investment property (775) 2,580 1,605 5,976

Fair value adjustment to trade receivables 5,192 (9,246) 3,059 (94)

Fair value adjustment to trade payables (7,109) 8,820 (1,733) –

Finance costs 19,915 3,508 2,364 (418)

Impairment of subsidiary acquired and goodwill 6,241 – – –

Impairment of inventory – 203 – –

Impairment loss/(reversals) 1,244 (783) 10,065 –

Income from equity accounted investments (430) (258) – –

Investment revenue – dividends (1) – (41,808) (37,482)

Investment revenue – interest (46,727) (35,539) (17,524) (16,516)

Loss/(profit) on sale of assets 254 (3,139) 53 53

Movement in doubtful debt provision – (50) – –

Movements in provisions (39,970) 88,590 3,620 42,058

Movements in retirement benefit assets and liabilities (5,352) – (7,302) 2,912

Utilisation of component spares – 78 – –

Changes in working capital:
Inventories (50,746) (54,452) 10,323 9,681

Trade and other receivables (37,241) (42,750) (23,572) 21,130

Trade and other payables 46,402 126,356 (13,642) 62,310

Provision – (47,894) – –

Finance leases 1,346 (3,418) – –

Finance lease receivable 600 1,272 – –

223,239 264,506 29,180 92,676

38. Tax Paid

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Balance at beginning of the year 319 3,430 – –

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (54,434) (61,296) – –

Movement in deferred tax (3,464) – – –

Balance at end of the year (2,227) (310) – –

(59,806) (58,176) – –

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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39. Commitments
Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Authorised capital expenditure
- Property, plant and equipment 27,291 131,739 11,284 115,586

This committed expenditure relates to plant and equipment and will be 
financed through ordinary trading operations.

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due
- within one year 1,835 3,934 774 1,562

- in second to fifth year inclusive 495 4,897 465 1,240

2,330 8,831 1,239 2,802

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its motor vehicles and office equipment. Leases are 
negotiated for an average term of 3.4 years (2012: 3.5 years).

40. Contingencies
By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The assessment of such 
contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgement and estimates of the outcome of future events. 

Litigation and other judicial proceedings as a rule raise difficult and complex legal issues and are subject to uncertainties and complexities 
including, but not limited to, the facts and circumstances of each particular case, issues regarding the jurisdiction in which each suit is 
brought and differences in applicable law. Upon resolution of any pending legal matter, the Company may be forced to incur charges in 
excess of the presently established provisions and related insurance coverage. It is possible that the financial position, results of operations 
or cash flows of the Company could be materially affected by the unfavourable outcome of litigation.

Guarantees:
Guarantees of R537 (2012: R390) were issued to financial institutions as collateral security for housing loans granted by financial 
institutions to employees. Performance guarantees of R0 (2012: R2,210) were issued to Absa Bank for a customer.

Legal claims: 
Possible quantifiable legal obligations exists for the Group totalling approximately R16,774 (2012: R56) in connection with disputes with 
delivery of goods, arrear rentals receivable, unfair labour practice, CCMA disputes and services rendered. These cases are currently 
being investigated by the Necsa Legal division. 

Suretyship: 
A limited deed of suretyship for an amount of up to R20,000 (2012: R20,000) has been given to Pelchem SOC Ltd for an Absa facility. 
R14,000 (2012: R14,000) relates to an overnight facility and R6,000 (2012: R6,000) to an asset-based finance facility.

Nuclear and related liabilities: 
The nuclear and related liabilities arising from operational nuclear activities on the Necsa site at Pelindaba, and the management of all 
nuclear waste as well as waste generated during the decommissioning of the operating nuclear facilities, are currently being re-assessed 
and will be finalised in the 2013/14 financial year. Accountability will also be established. 

Letters of support
A material uncertainty exists whether a subsidiary, Pelchem SOC Ltd, would be able to meet its obligations as they fall due, as Pelchem's 
liabilities exceeded its fairly valued assets at the end of the reporting period. Necsa has, as the 100% shareholder of Pelchem SOC Ltd, 
agreed to support Pelchem SOC Ltd by providing funding and/or assisting Pelchem SOC Ltd. The agreed support will cease when 
Pelchem SOC Ltd is no longer a subsidiary of Necsa or when the fairly valued assets of Pelchem SOC Ltd exceed its liabilities (including 
contingent liabilities). 
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40. Contingencies (continued)
A material uncertainty exists whether a subsidiary, Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd, would be able to meet its obligations as they fall due, as 
this subsidiary's liabilities exceeded its fairly valued assets at the end of the reporting period. Gammatec NDT Supplies SOC Ltd, as the 
90% shareholder of Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd, has given a letter of support to the management and auditors of Lectromax Australia 
Pty Ltd that it will provide an appropriate level of financial support to ensure that Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd is in a position to meet its 
financial liabilities and obligations as and when they fall due for at least a period of 12 months from 17 July 2013. This includes not 
calling in any amounts due from Lectromax Australia Pty Ltd for a period of 12 months from 17 July 2013.

41. Related Parties

Relationships
Holding entity Department of Energy

Subsidiaries Refer to note 7

Associates Refer to note 8

National government All national government departments are regarded to be related 
parties in accordance with circular 4 of 2005: Guidance on the term 
"State controlled entities" in the context of IAS 24 – Related Parties, 
issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants. No 
transactions are implied simply by the nature of existence of the 
relationship between entities.

Directors and members of key management All Directors have given general declarations of interest in terms 
of the Companies Act.

Details of Directors and key management remuneration paid are 
disclosed in note 42.

The following is a summary of transactions with related parties during the year and balances due at year-end.

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Major public entities
Services rendered 22,903 59,849 22,903 24,817

Services received (59,729) (24,817) (59,729) (57,711)

Trade amount due (to)/from 1,040 425 1,040 321

National public entities
Services rendered 3,115 5,598 3,033 5,598

Services received (36,615) (26,094) (34,453) (26,094)

Trade amount due (to)/from (2,077) 919 (1,833) 351

National government business enterprises
Services rendered 17,650 6,967 5,033 435

Services received (10,899) (435) (7,987) (6,903)

Trade amount due (to)/from 5,813 (15) 78 (13)

National government departments
Services rendered 572,226 583,708 518,343 533,272

Services received (281,284) (233,882) (180,800) (188,056)

Trade amount due (to)/from 14,045 1,162 (6,060) 1,162

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Subsidiaries
Services rendered – – 332,739 339,097

Services received – – (14,642) (5,297)

Loans to/from subsidiaries – – 14,477 13,011

Trade amount due (to)/from – – 81,976 57,998

Associates
Services rendered 1,455 51,700 – –

Services received – (14,144) – –

Loans to/(from) associates 2,710 (1,633) – –

Trade amount due (to)/from 2 (134) – –

Minority shareholders
Loans to/(from) shareholders (1,106) (941) – –

Compensation to Directors and other key management
Short term employee benefits 30,516 25,835 – –

42. Directors' Emoluments
The following tables set out the Directors' emoluments and emoluments paid to general managers of Necsa Company. 

Directors' 
fees

R'000

Non-executive
2013
Benghu NM 90

Dipico M 40

Khoathane MMEG 57

Majozi T 81

Mokuena MM 33

Noxaka LN 82

Seekoe MJ 244

Shaik-Peremanov N 270

Tshelane GP 146

Zwane PZR 51

1,094

2012
Benghu NM 37

Dipico M 44

Greyvenstein G 8

Majozi T 51

Noxaka LN 85

Shaik-Peremanov N 83

Tshelane GP 62

370
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42. Directors' Emoluments (continued)

Taxable 
allowance

Retirement 
fund 

contribution

Other 
company 

contributions Salary Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Executive
2013
Tshelane GP 235 132 11 683 1,061

2012
Adam R 247 276 24 1,427 1,974

Taxable 
allowance

Retirement 
fund 

contributions

Other 
company 

contribution Salary
Acting 

allowance Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group Executives
2013
Dayaram N 279 239 19 1,233 – 1,770

De Villiers W van Z – 264 17 1,306 – 1,587

Janneker CC 380 214 19 1,102 – 1,715

Jarvis N – – – – 120 120

Vilakazi Z – – – 1,080 – 1,080

Masango R 380 214 19 1,102 – 1,715

Moagi DM 393 221 19 1,140 – 1,773

Robertson DG – – – – 196 196

Shayi LJ – 297 19 1,470 – 1,786

Van der Bijl AC 239 252 20 1,299 – 1,810

1,671 1,701 132 9,732 316 13,552

2012
Dayaram N 275 236 19 1,220 – 1,750

De Villiers W van Z – 260 17 1,292 – 1,569

Janneker CC 375 211 18 1,090 – 1,694

Jarvis N – – – – 120 120

Masango R 375 211 18 1,089 – 1,693

Moagi DM 387 218 19 1,128 – 1,752

Robertson DG – – – – 65 65

Shayi LJ 21 286 18 1,446 – 1,771

Van der Bijl AC 236 248 19 1,285 – 1,788

Vilakazi Z – – – 1,085 – 1,085

1,669 1,670 128 9,635 185 13,287

Details of service contracts
No Director has a notice period in excess of one year and no Director's contract makes provision for predetermined compensation on 
termination exceeding one year’s salary and benefits in kind. No Directors are proposed for election or re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting. All the Directors have a service contract.

GP Tshelane was a Non-executive Director until 31 August 2012, after which he became an Executive Director.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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43. Risk Management

Capital risk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital 
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital 
requirements from the previous year.

Financial risk management
The Group's principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. The main purpose of these 
financial liabilities is to finance the Group's operations. The Group has loan and other receivables, trade and other receivables, cash and 
short-term deposits that derive directly from its operations. The Group also holds available-for-sale investments.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 
Market prices comprise four types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk, commodity price risk and other price risk, such as equity price 
risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits, available-for-sale investments and derivative 
financial instruments.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by a central department under policies approved 
by the Board of Directors. This department identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. 
The Board of Directors provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such 
as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations when they fall due, or will have to 
do so at excessive cost. The risk can arise from mismatches in the timing of cash flows from revenue and capital and operational outflows.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities.

The Group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group manages liquidity risk through an 
ongoing review of future commitments and available credit facilities.

The objective of the Group's liquidity and funding management is to ensure that all foreseeable operational, capital expansion and 
loan commitment expenditure can be met under both normal and stressed conditions. The Group has adopted an overall statement of 
financial position approach, which consolidates all sources and uses of liquidity, while aiming to maintain a balance between liquidity, 
profitability and interest rate considerations.

The Group's liquidity and funding management process includes:
• Strict control on recovery from outstanding debtors;
• Monthly cash flow forecasts; and
• Investment of excess funds in low risk, available-on-request investments. 

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequately utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.
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43. Risk Management (continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities in terms of relevant maturity groupings, based on the remaining period from the 
end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

The outstanding balance has been allocated into different categories as per the prior year to provide more comprehensive information.

Less than 1 
month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 
3 months 
and 1 year

Between 1 
and 5 years

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group
At 31 March 2013
Borrowings 266 537 14,947 11,901

Minority shareholders' loans – – 1,106 –

Trade and other payables 170,928 165,928 99,723 17,181

At 31 March 2012
Borrowings 240 3,207 2,156 8,110

Minority shareholders' loans – – 857 –

Trade and other payables 94,560 138,092 43,977 23,977

Company
At 31 March 2013
Trade and other payables 67,773 12,564 46,109 17,181

At 31 March 2012
Trade and other payables 30,368 61,543 37,859 23,977

The table below analyses the Group’s derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross basis in terms of relevant maturity 
groupings, based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed 
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact 
of discounting is not significant.

Less than 1 
month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 

1 year
Between 1 
and 5 years

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group
At 31 March 2013
Forward foreign exchange contracts

- Outflow (71,233) (22,147) (60,210) (29,948)

- Inflow 73,467 41,069 – –

- Net 2,234 18,922 (60,210) (29,948)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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Less than 1 
month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 

1 year

R'000 R'000 R'000

Group
At 31 March 2012
Forward foreign exchange contracts 

- Outflow (12,263) (22,349) (36,592)

- Inflow 69,486 70,833 69,268

- Net 57,223 48,484 32,676

Less than 1 
month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 

1 year
Between 1 
and 5 years

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Company
At 31 March 2013
Forward foreign exchange contracts 

- Outflow (33,726) (15,845) (54,779) (29,948)

- Inflow 2,760 368 – –

- Net (30,966) (15,477) (54,779) (29,948)

Less than 1 
month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 

1 year

R'000 R'000 R'000

Company
At 31 March 2012
Forward foreign exchange contracts 

- Outflow – (20,332) (31,562)

- Inflow 4,463 20,554 64,537

- Net 4,463 222 32,975

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long term debt 
obligations with floating interest rates.

As the Group has no significant interest bearing assets, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of 
changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long term borrowings and commitments. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to 
fair value interest rate risk. During 2013 and 2012, the Group’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in Rand.

Interest rate sensitivity
At 31 March 2013, if interest rates on Rand denominated borrowings and commitments had been 1% higher/lower, with all other variables 
held constant, post tax profit for the year would have been R3,521 (2012: R3,357) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest 
expense on floating rate borrowings and commitments.

The sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant.
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43. Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or other counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations.

The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily for trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments.

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The Company only deposits cash with major banks with 
high quality credit standing and limits its exposure to any one counter party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. 
Risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. The 
utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

The requirement for an impairment is analysed at each reporting period on an individual basis. The calculation is based on actually 
incurred historical data. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial asset.

The Group does not hold collateral as security. The Group evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as 
its customers are located in several jurisdictions and industries and operate in largely independent markets. 

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Financial instrument

Absa A – 5,935 57,512 3,708 52,620

Allan Gray 64,320 1,297 64,320 1,297

Coronation Fund 129,197 22,753 31,000 22,753

FNB BBB 139 – – –

Investec BBB – 116,710 181,353 18,367 –

Momentum 98,262 – – –

Nedbank BBB 133,260 148,563 93,176 –

Old Mutual 15,108 14,970 15,108 14,970

Rand Merchant Bank BBB+ 23,629 26,216 – –

Sanlam AA – 2,238 13,091 2,215 13,091

Standard Bank BBB 15,057 – 92 –

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
the foreign exchange currency. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group's 
operating activities. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated 
in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect 
to the US dollar and the Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and 
net investments in foreign operations.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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Management has set up a policy to require Group companies to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional currency. 
The Group manages its foreign currency risk by entering into forward exchange contracts for foreign currency denominated transactions. 
To manage their foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities, entities in the 
Group use forward contracts, transacted with Group treasury. Although the forward exchange contracts have not been designated in a 
hedge relationship, they act as a commercial hedge and will offset the underlying transactions when they occur. 

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. Currency 
exposure arising from the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through borrowings denominated in the 
relevant foreign currencies.

Foreign currency sensitivity
The following paragraphs demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonable change in the foreign currency rate, with all other variables held 
constant. 

Trade receivables and payables
At 31 March 2013, if the currency had weakened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, post tax profit 
for the year would have been R43,131 (2012: R39,526) higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains on translation of US dollar 
denominated trade receivables.

At 31 March 2013, if the currency had weakened by 10% against the Euro with all other variables held constant, post tax profit for the 
year would have been R12,640 (2012: R12,844) higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains on translation of Euro denominated 
trade receivables and loans receivable.

The Group's exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material. 

Foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Current assets

US dollar 148,339 146,056 8,521 9,191

Euro 52,780 45,615 276 198

GBP 1,602 1,651 107 124

Other 898 2,381 35 –

Liabilities

US dollar 67,114 75,417 7 1

Euro 11,369 14,327 68 4,571

GBP 2,106 3,090 26 3

Other 440 253 – –

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

US dollar 9.23 7.70 9.23 7.70

Euro 11.87 10.28 11.87 10.28

GBP 13.99 12.32 13.99 12.32

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments, on an ongoing basis. Although the foreign exchange contracts have 
not been designated in a hedge relationship, they act as a commercial hedge and will offset the underlying transactions when they occur.
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43. Risk Management (continued)

Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Group and classified on the consolidated statement 
of financial position as available-for-sale. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its 
portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases in unit prices on the Group's equity. The analysis is based on the 
assumption that the equity price has increased/decreased by 5% with all other variables held constant.

Impact on post-tax 
profit in 
Rand

Impact on other 
components of equity in 

Rand

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group
Financial instrument
Coronation Unit Trusts – – 443 1,089

44. Going Concern
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent 
obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The ability of the Company and the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of factors. The most significant of these 
is that the shareholder, the Department of Energy and Directors, continue to procure funding for the ongoing operations for the Company.

45. Public Finance Management Act

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Opening balance 1,493 152 1,493 17

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure for the year

Unrecoverable payments – 1,000 – 1,000

Overpayments not recoverable1 84 328 84 328

Tax penalties 5 100 – 100

Internal losses2 25 – 25 –

Speeding fines and other traffic violations3 3 65 – 65

Written off to the statement of comprehensive income (1,493) (152) (1,493) (17)

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure unresolved 117 1,493 109 1,493

Comments (including actions taken with regard to matters)
1 Disciplinary steps have been taken against staff to address the shortcoming.
2 This matter is under investigation in order to identify the root cause and persons involved.
3 All fines are recovered from responsible employees where possible.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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Criminal or disciplinary steps
There were no material losses through criminal conduct, unauthorised expenditure or irregular expenditure. Therefore criminal or 
disciplinary steps are not applicable.

Gifts, donations or sponsorships received
Employees are allowed to receive gifts and courtesies. Gifts and courtesies valued above R300 are recorded in a register and approved by 
the relevant manager. Gifts and courtesies valued above R3,000 require written permission from the Group Executive or CEO as appropriate.

Remissions or payments made as an act of grace
There were no remissions or payments made as an act of grace.

Irregular expenditure
The PPPFA was contravened as a Tax Clearance Certificate was not obtained for a specific supplier procured after 7 December 2012. 
The amount involved was R65 for the Group and the Company.

46. Business Combinations

Limited Electronics South Africa SOC Ltd (LESA)
On 01 April 2012 the Group acquired 50.1% of the voting equity interest of Limited Electronics South Africa SOC Ltd (LESA) which resulted 
in the Group obtaining control over LESA. This was in addition to an existing interest of 49.9% which was obtained on 01 June 2007. 
LESA is principally involved in the chemical industry. Its main purpose is the manufacture and distribution of nitrogen tri-fluoride (NF3). 
As a result of the acquisition, the Company is expecting to be the leading provider of NF3 products and services in those markets. It is 
also expecting to reduce costs through economies of scale.

The impairment loss on the acquisition of the subsidiary of R15,989 is a result of acquiring a business with a substantial accumulated 
loss. The consideration paid to acquire the additional 50.1% was R1, which was settled in cash.

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Deferred tax 413 – – –

Inventories 1,189 – – –

Trade and other receivables 13,975 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 201 – – –

Trade and other payables (31,741) – – –

Total identifiable net liabilities (15,963) – – –

Fair value of equity interest held before the business combination (26) – – –

Impairment recognised at acquisition date on purchase of subsidiary with 
accumulated loss 15,989 – – –

Revenue and profit or loss
Revenue of R44,493 and profit of R2,021 from LESA have been included in the Group's results since the date of acquisition.
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NTP Radioisotopes Europe SA
In June 2012 NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd bid on some of the assets of a Belgium company Best Medical Belgium SA which was in the 
process of liquidation. On 19 June 2012 the curator accepted NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd's bid. NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd and the 
curator then concluded a sales agreement on 27 June 2012 and formally took possession of the assets and inventories on 29 June 2012. 
NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd paid R14,137 for the assets and the inventories. The Company also negotiated a continuity agreement with 
the curator, under which the curator continued to administer the affairs of the business on behalf of NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd until the 
end of January 2013. Final Ministerial approvals for the establishment of an appropriate legal structure in Belgium were also obtained. 
On 09 January 2013 the new subsidiary was formed by investing 99.9% of the voting equity interest of NTP Radioisotopes Europe SA. 
The assets and inventory originally purchased from the curator were transferred to NTP Radioisotopes Europe SA against a loan account 
value of R12,929 which was the fair value of the assets at 31 January 2013. The new subsidiary started trading from 01 February 2013. 
NTP Radioisotopes Europe SA is principally involved in the industrial isotopes industry. The company is based in Belgium. No assets 
or liabilities were assumed with this investment. The acquisition date fair value of the consideration paid: Cash amounting to R704.

Acquisition-related costs amounted to R10,389. These costs have been expensed in the year of acquisition and are included in operating 
expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Revenue and profit or loss
Revenue of R11,499 and loss of R874 of NTP Radioisotopes Europe SA have been included in the Group's results since the date of 
acquisition.
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131I Iodine-131
137Cs Cesium-137
177Lu Lutetium-177 
18F-FDG Fluorine-18 Labelled Fluorodeoxyglucose
192Ir Iridium-192
60Co Cobalt-60
99Mo Molybdenum-99 

ABET Adult Basic Education and Training 

AFRA African Regional Co-operative Agreement 

AHF Anhydrous Hydrofluoric Acid 

AIDCS Automotive Industry Development Centre

AIDS Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome 

AMI Advanced Metals Initiative

ANSTO Australian Nuclear Science and Technology 
Organisation 

ARV Anti-Retroviral

AWCC Active Well Coincidence Counter

BAPP Behavioural Accident Prevention Process

BBBEE Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment

BBI Behaviour-based Initiatives

BBS Behaviour-based Safety

BMB Best Medical Belgium

BRICS Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa 

BST Behavioural Science Technologies

BSTEP Black Science, Technology and Engineering 
Professionals

CANSA Cancer Association of South Africa 

CEA Commissariat a l’Energie Atomique et aux 
Energies Alternatives 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CGT Capital Gains Tax

CHIETA Chemical Industries Education and Training 
Authority

CMMS Computerised Maintenance Management 
System

COMENA Committee of Nuclear Energy

COSO Committee of Sponsoring Organisations

CSI Corporate Social Investment

CTBTO Preparatory Commission for the 
Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty 
Organization

DBT Design Basis Threat

DI Disabling Injury 

DIIR Disabling Injury Incident Rate

DIRCO Department of International Relations and 
Cooperation

DoE Department of Energy 

DST Department of Science and Technology 

DTTC Decentralised Trade Test Centre

EU Enriched Uranium

EWSETA Energy and Water Sector Education and 
Training Authority 

FEI Fluorochemical Expansion Initiative

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

GIF Gen IV

GiTS Graduate-in-Training Scheme

GMP Good Manufacturing Practice

GWh Gigawatt Hour 

H2SO4
Sulphuric Acid 

HAZOP Hazard and Operability

HF Hydrogen Fluoride 

HIRAs Hazard Identification And Risk Assessments

HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus 

IAEA International Atomic Energy Agency

IAS International Accounting Standards

ICTMS-1 First International Conference in Tomography 
of Materials and Structures

IFRIC IFRS Interpretations Committee

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

INIR Integrated Nuclear Infrastructure Review

INIS International Nuclear Information System

INMM Institute for Nuclear Materials Management 

IOD Injuries on Duty

IP Intellectual Property 

IRP2010 Integrated Resource Plan 2010–2030 

ISO International Standards Organisation 

IT Information Technology

JPC Joint Planning Committee

Kaeri Korean Atomic Energy Research Institute

King III King Report on Corporate Governance for 
South Africa 2009

KPA Key Performance Area 

KPI Key Performance Indicator 

LCDs Liquid Crystal Displays

LEMS Liquid Effluent Management Services

LESA Limited Electronics South Africa

LEU Low Enriched Uranium 

Li-battery Lithium Battery

M2M Machine-to-Machine

MA Medium Active 

MARST MSc Degree in Applied Radiation Science 
and Technology

MEMS Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems

MeV Megaelectron-Volts 

MFPP Multipurpose Fluorination Pilot Plant

Acronyms and Abbreviations

Necsa INTeGRaTeD aNNual RepoRT 2013 177



MSA Monitoring South Africa

MSONE Masters in the Science and Organisation of 
Nuclear Energy

MSSP Member State Support Programme

mSv Millisievert 

MTEF Medium-term Expenditure Framework

MW Megawatt 

MWe Megawatt Electric

Nb Niobium 

NdF3
Neodymium Trifluoride 

NDT Non-destructive Testing

Necsa South African Nuclear Energy Corporation

NEHAWU National Education, Health and Allied 
Workers Union

NEP Nuclear Energy Policy

NETC Nuclear Energy Technical Committee

NF3
Nitrogen Trifluoride 

NILs Nuclear Installation Licences

NIP National Industrial Participation

NIPMO National Intellectual Property Management 
Organisation

NKP National Key Point

NLMP Nuclear Liabilities Management Plan

NMC Nuclear Manufacturing Centre

NMDN New Metals Development Network

NNEECC National Nuclear Executive Co-ordinating 
Committee

NNR National Nuclear Regulator 

NPPs Nuclear Power Plants

NPT Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty

NQF National Qualifications Framework 

NRAD Neutron Radiography

NRF National Research Foundation 

NRWDI National Radioactive Waste Disposal Institute

NSD Nuclear Skills Development

NSI National System of Innovation

NTeMBI Nuclear Technologies in Medicine and the 
Biosciences Initiative

NTIP National Tooling Initiative Programme

NTP NTP Radioisotopes SOC Ltd

NWU North West University

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development

OHSAS Occupational Health and Safety Advisory 
Services 

OTT Office of Technology Transfer

PBS Post-graduate Bursary Scheme

PEARL Pelchem Eliminating Accidents and Risks of 
Life

Pelchem Pelchem SOC Ltd

PET Positron Emission Tomography

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

PIV Physical Inventory Verification

PLC Programmable Logic Controller

PRML Post-retirement Medical Aid Liability

PSA Prostate-specific Antigen

PSIF Public Safety Information Forum

PV Photovoltaic

R&D Research and Development

RPOs Radiation Protection Officers

S&P Strategy and Performance

SAASTA South African Agency for Science and 
Technology Advancement

SABS South African Bureau of Standards

SA GAAP South African Statements of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice

SAGSI Standing Advisory Group for Safeguards 
Implementation

SANAS South African National Accreditation System

SASSETA Safety and Security Sector Education and 
Training Authority 

SAYNPS South African Young Nuclear Professional 
Society

SCADA Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition

SETA Sector Education and Training Authority 

SHARS Spent High Activity Radioactive Sources 

SHE Safety, Health and Environment

SHEQ Safety, Health, Environment and Quality 

SIRs Safeguards Implementation Reports

SOC State-owned Company

STC Secondary Tax on Companies

SSAC State System of Accounting and Control

Ta Tantalum 

the dti Department of Trade and Industry 

TIA Technology Innovation Agency

TIR Total Injury Rate

UBS Undergraduates Bursary Scheme

UJ University of Johannesburg

Umalusi Council for Quality Assurance in General and 
Further Education and Training

USA United States of America 

WIN Women in Nuclear

XeF2
Xenon Difluoride 

Zr Zirconium 

Acronyms and Abbreviations (continued)
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